
           

JOINT MEETING
ADDISON CITY COUNCIL AND PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION

THURSDAY, FEBRUARY 29, 2024

ADDISON CONFERENCE CENTER
15650 ADDISON ROAD, ADDISON, TX 75001

6:00 P.M. MEETING

The Joint Meeting of the City Council and Planning and Zoning Commission
will be held at the Addison Conference Center, 15650 Addison Road,

Addison, Texas 75001 on Thursday, February 29, 2024 at 6:00 PM. For more
information on the meeting location and ways to view the meeting, please

contact Jade Broadnax prior to 3:00 PM on the day of the meeting at
972-450-2820 or by emailing jbroadnax@addisontx.gov. The meeting will be

live streamed on Addison's website at www.addisontexas.net.

 

           
Call Meeting to Order
 

Pledge of Allegiance
 

REGULAR MEETING
 

Regular Agenda:
 

1. Present and discuss the Sign and Wireless Communication Facility
(WCF) and Administrative Procedures sections of the Unified
Development Code (UDC).

 

 
Page 1 

 

mailto:jbroadnax@addisontx.gov?subject=Joint%20Meeting%20of%20City%20Council%20and%20P%26Z%20-%202%2F29%2F24
http://www.addisontexas.net


Citizen Comments:  At this time citizens will be allowed to speak on any
matter other than personnel matters under litigation, for a length of time
not to exceed three minutes. No action or discussion may take place on
any matter until such matter has been placed on an agenda and posted
in accordance with law.

  

 

Adjourn Meeting
 

NOTE: The City Council and Planning & Zoning Commission reserves the right
to meet in Executive Session closed to the public at any time in the course of
this meeting to discuss matters listed on the agenda, as authorized by the
Texas Open Meetings Act, Texas Government Code, Chapter 551, including
§551.071 (private consultation with the attorney for the City). Any decision held
on such matters will be taken or conducted in Open Session following the
conclusion of the Executive Session.
 

THE TOWN OF ADDISON IS ACCESSIBLE TO PERSONS WITH
DISABILITIES.  PLEASE CALL (972) 450-7017 AT LEAST 48 HOURS IN

ADVANCE IF YOU NEED ASSISTANCE.

POSTED BY:     ________________________________
                           Valencia Garcia, Interim City Secretary
DATE POSTED: ________________________________
TIME POSTED:  ________________________________
DATE REMOVED FROM BULLETIN BOARD:  ______________________
REMOVED BY:  ________________________________

 
Page 2 

 



   

Joint Meeting - Addison City Council
and P&Z 1.        

Meeting Date: 02/29/2024  

Agenda Caption:
Present and discuss the Sign and Wireless Communication Facility (WCF) and
Administrative Procedures sections of the Unified Development Code (UDC).

Staff Report:
The Town has engaged Clarion Associates to review Addison’s current
development regulations and to create a new Unified Development Code (UDC)
shaped by a robust public review process. The UDC drafting and review process
is comprised of four code drafting phases, a testing phase, and public review and
adoption of the consolidated UDC document. The four code drafting phases are: 
  

Zoning Districts and Uses
Development and Design Standards
Signs and Wireless Communication Facilities 
Administration and Procedures  

During the April 2024 joint meeting of the City Council and Planning and Zoning
Commission, a second review of the Zoning Districts and Land Use module will
be coupled with a more complete discussion on the final draft review
module, Administration and Procedures. The Zoning Districts and Land Use
module is being revisited due to evolving conditions in the Town and major staff
changes since the first review in September 2019. Following the April meeting,
the project team will analyze feedback received throughout the drafting process
to prepare the consolidated draft UDC. With the presentation of that draft, the
project team will consolidate and present the feedback shared via the Konveio
commenting platform. 

Recommendation:
Staff requests feedback from the Council and Commission.

Attachments
Presentation - Addison UDC_Joint Meeting_Signs_WCF_Administration and
Procedures 
Addison UDC - Signs & Wireless Communication Facilities - Public Review 
Addison UDC - Administrative Procedures - Public Review 



Addison UDC - Administrative Procedures - Public Review 



ADDISON, TEXAS
UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE

Part 3 & 4:

WCF, Signs, 
Administration & 
Procedures
February 2024



Addison, TX    I  Unified Development Code Update 2

TEAM MEMBERS

Matt Goebel, AICP
Clarion - Project Manager
Code Drafting

Gabby Hart, AICP
Clarion - Project Associate
Code Drafting

Jim Dougherty, Esq.
Texas Land-use Law Expert

ADDISON, TX   I  UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 2



Addison, TX    I  Unified Development Code Update 3

PROJECT SCOPE & TIMELINE

ADDISON, TX   I  UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 3

We are here

Mar 2019 – July 2024 July 2024 – Dec 2024



Addison, TX    I  Unified Development Code Update 4

MEETING AGENDA

• Review and discuss final installments:

• Wireless Communication Facilities (WCF)

• Signs

• General provisions

• Summary table of review procedures

• Common review procedures

• Specific procedures (part 1)

• Next steps

ADDISON, TX   I  UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 4



Addison, TX    I  Unified Development Code Update 5

NEW UDC ORGANIZATION

• Article 1: General Provisions

• Article 2: Administrations and Procedures 
(Part 1)

• Article 3: Zoning Districts

• Article 4: Use Regulations (WCF)

• Article 5: Development Standards (Signs)

• Article 6: Subdivision Standards

• Article 7: Definitions

ADDISON, TX   I  UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 5

“Development regulations should 
clearly describe the procedures by 
which new development applications 
are accepted, considered, and acted 
upon by local officials. A well-written 

code makes it easy for staff, the 
development community, and local 

officials to know exactly what is 
required for project approval and helps 

ensure consistent administration 
over time.”

-Development Regulations Assessment 



WIRELESS COMMUNICATION 
FACILITIES (WCF)



Roof-Mounted Facilities



Wall-Mounted Facilities



Ground-Mounted Facilities



Small Cell Facilities in the Public Right-of-Way



Addison, TX    I  Unified Development Code Update 11

ORGANIZATION

• Purpose

• Applicability

• General Provisions

• Eligible Facilities Request

• Standards for Specific Facility Types

ADDISON, TX   I  UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 11



Addison, TX    I  Unified Development Code Update 12

WCF | KEY FEATURES

• Mostly new section for WCF on private property 

• Generally few/no standards in current ordinances (applications evaluated during building 
permit process)

• Current small-cell facility regulations in public ROW carried forward

• Clarifies review process and standards for different types of facilities

• Ensures compliance with federal and state law

ADDISON, TX   I  UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 12



Addison, TX    I  Unified Development Code Update 13

WCF | KEY FEATURES

• Eligible facilities request

• Required administrative review within minimum time period per federal law

• Defined: “Any request for modification of an existing Wireless Community Facility (WCF) that 
involves the collocation of new transmission equipment, removal of transmission equipment, 
or replacement of transmission equipment.”

• 60-day review period starts at application filing

• Requests shall be approved if meet review criteria

• Eligible support structure

• Complies with originally approved design elements and conditions of approval

• No “substantial change” (e.g., increase in height, addition of new equipment cabinets, additional excavation, loss of 
camouflage)

ADDISON, TX   I  UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 13



Addison, TX    I  Unified Development Code Update 14

WCF | KEY FEATURES

• Review Required

ADDISON, TX   I  UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 14



Addison, TX    I  Unified Development Code Update 15

WCF | KEY FEATURES

• Maximum Height

ADDISON, TX   I  UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 15



Addison, TX    I  Unified Development Code Update 16

WCF | KEY FEATURES

• General standards for all facility 
types

• Camouflage and screening

• Transmission and accessory equipment

• Lighting

• Noise

• Additional standards for specific 
facility types

• For example, ground-mounted WCFs are 
subject to minimum setback and separation 
requirements

ADDISON, TX   I  UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 16



Addison, TX    I  Unified Development Code Update 17

DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

ADDISON, TX   I  UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 17

• Questions on particular sections?

• Any areas where a graphic would be helpful?

• Do you agree with the proposed new regulations?



4.10 SIGNS



Wall signs



Monument signs



Monument signs



Airport signage 
(landside and airside)



Alcohol-related signs



Feather signs Mannequin signs



Addison, TX    I  Unified Development Code Update 25

ORGANIZATION

• Purpose & Authority

• General Procedures

• Removal of Certain Signs

• Signs Allowed without Sign Permit

• Alternative Sign Designs

• Prohibited Signs

• Temporary Signs

• General Sign Regulations

• Permanent On-Site Signs

• Master Sign Plan

• Nonconforming Signs

ADDISON, TX   I  UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 25



Addison, TX    I  Unified Development Code Update 26

SIGNS | KEY CHANGES

Carries forward current Addison regulations with revisions to address:

• Consistency, clarity, user-friendliness

• Content-neutrality

• Targeted revisions focusing on: 

• More flexibility, especially in more intense zoning districts

• Aligning content with current Town practices and interpretations

• Introducing a Master Sign Plan process

• Standardizing methods of measurement

ADDISON, TX   I  UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 26



Addison, TX    I  Unified Development Code Update 27

SIGNS | KEY CHANGES

• Signs Allowed Without Sign Permit

ADDISON, TX   I  UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 27

Air side signs in 
Airport Overlay

Construction 
banners

Flags Government signs



Addison, TX    I  Unified Development Code Update 28

SIGNS | KEY CHANGES

• Signs Allowed Without Sign Permit

ADDISON, TX   I  UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 28

Menu 
boards/Drive-

through

Residential 
property

Not readable 
from ROW

Vehicular 
signs

Window 
signs



Addison, TX    I  Unified Development Code Update 29

SIGNS | KEY CHANGES

• Replaced meritorious exceptions with alternative sign design process 
(sign variance)

• Changed authority from City Council to Planning and Zoning Commission

• Approval criteria:

• Necessary due to unique features of a site including dimensions, landscaping, or topography

• No substantial adverse effect on neighboring properties 

• No conflict with the purpose/intent of sign regulations

ADDISON, TX   I  UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 29



Addison, TX    I  Unified Development Code Update 30

SIGNS | KEY CHANGES

• Prohibited Signs

• Clarified that noncommercial components of electronic (digital) signs are exempt 
from the general prohibition on digital signs

• Added mobile billboards and wind-driven signs

ADDISON, TX   I  UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 30



Addison, TX    I  Unified Development Code Update 31

SIGNS | KEY CHANGES

• Temporary Signs

• Updated and introduced standards for:

ADDISON, TX   I  UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 31

Election event 
signs

Public/private 
special event

Sidewalk 
signs

Banner signs Undeveloped 
real estate site 

signs



Addison, TX    I  Unified Development Code Update 32

SIGNS | KEY CHANGES

• Permanent On-Site 
Signs

• Eliminated current 
maximum letter and 
logo height limitations

• Consolidated 
standards into one 
table for attached and 
detached signs

ADDISON, TX   I  UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 32



Addison, TX    I  Unified Development Code Update 33

SIGNS | KEY CHANGES

• Permanent On-Site Signs

• Site directional signs allowed to exceed 
quantity limitations

• Murals require sign permit, but only area of 
mural that advertises the business counts 
toward sign area

• Additional allowances that allow larger 
buildings in more intense zoning districts to 
have larger attached signs and additional 
projecting/under canopy signs

• Additional standards for pole-mounted 
banners

ADDISON, TX   I  UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 33



Addison, TX    I  Unified Development Code Update 34

SIGNS | KEY CHANGES

• Master Sign Plan

• New procedure for large campus- or center-style developments that allows 
deviations from the standards of the base sign regulations

• Intended to replace current special sign districts (now in Appendix)

• Available for: multi-tenant buildings, commercial, and mixed-use developments 
containing more than one building in the Mixed-Use, Commercial, or Planned 
Development districts

• Must include an architectural theme (coordinated design features, materials and 
colors)

• Approved by Planning and Zoning Commission

• Minor amendments by Director allowed

ADDISON, TX   I  UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 34



Addison, TX    I  Unified Development Code Update 35

SIGNS | KEY CHANGES

• Alcohol-related signs

• Reed v. Gilbert restricted content-based regulations 

• Current practice to add condition to Special Use Permits:

“The establishment shall not use the term " bar", " tavern", or any other terms or graphic 
depictions that relate to the sale of alcoholic beverages on any signs visible from the exterior of 
the premises”

ADDISON, TX   I  UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 35



Addison, TX    I  Unified Development Code Update 36

DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

ADDISON, TX   I  UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 36

• Questions on particular sections?

• Any areas where a graphic would be helpful?

• Do you agree with the proposed updates?



GENERAL PROVISIONS



Addison, TX    I  Unified Development Code Update 38

ORGANIZATION

ADDISON, TX   I  UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 38

1. Title

2. Effective Date

3. Purpose

4. Authority, Applicability, and 
Jurisdiction

5. Transition from Prior Regulations

1. How will the Ordinance be referred 
to?

2. When do the regulations go into 
effect?

3. How will the UDC support Town 
policies and priorities?

4. When does the UDC apply and how 
does it relate to other plans and 
regulations?

5. How are prior approvals, violations, 
and pending applications processed 
by the new UDC?



Addison, TX    I  Unified Development Code Update 39

ORGANIZATION

ADDISON, TX   I  UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 39

6. Nonconformities

7. Enforcement

8. Severability

9. Review and Decision-Making Bodies

6. How are legal nonconformities 
administered and enforced?

7. How will the Town enforce the 
provisions of the UDC?

8. How do court decisions affect the 
UDC and applications?

9. What are the powers, duties, and 
meeting procedures for Town 
decision-making authorities?



Nonconformities



Addison, TX    I  Unified Development Code Update 41

KEY FEATURES

• Specifies different types of nonconformities and specific regulations for 
each

• Uses

• Structures

• Lots

• Site Features (e.g., off-street parking or loading area, buffer, landscaping, screening, or 
exterior lighting)

• Clarifies when a nonconformity loses its status and the extent of 
changes that can be made to a nonconformity (e.g., maintenance and 
repair and changes of ownership)

• Requires certain development proposals to bring nonconforming site 
features into compliance with the UDC

ADDISON, TX   I  UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 41



Addison, TX    I  Unified Development Code Update 42

REVIEW & DECISION-MAKING BODIES

• Describes the organization, powers, 
and duties of:

• City Council (Municipal Charter)

• Planning and Zoning Commission

• Board of Zoning Adjustment

• Director of Development Services

• Floodplain Administrator

• Includes procedural details for 
meetings and requires compliance with 
Texas Open Meetings Act

ADDISON, TX   I  UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 42



ADMINISTRATION & PROCEDURES



Addison, TX    I  Unified Development Code Update 44

ORGANIZATION

ADDISON, TX   I  UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 44

1. Purpose

2. Organization

3. Summary Table of Review Procedures

4. Common Review Procedures

5. Rezoning, Zoning Text, and Plan Amendments

6. Site Planning and Miscellaneous Permits

7. Engineering Plans, Studies, and Site Development 
Permits

8. Agreements

9. Platting of Land

10. Flexibility and Relief

Foundational elements

Procedures that build on 
the foundation



Addison, TX    I  Unified Development Code Update 45

KEY GOALS 

• Delegate more decision-making power to 
staff

• Establish common review procedures

• Codify and update the site plan review 
procedures

• Establish process to allow minor 
modifications

ADDISON, TX   I  UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 45



Addison, TX    I  Unified Development Code Update 46

SUMMARY TABLE OF REVIEW 
PROCEDURES

• Summarizes basic requirements for review and approval of 
development applications including:

• Application Type

• UDC Reference (hyperlinked)

• Pre-Application Activities – Preapplication Conference & Neighborhood Meeting

• Review and Decision-Making Bodies

• Who reviews and/or makes a recommendation?

• Who decides?

• To which body can the decision be appealed?

• Is a public hearing required?

ADDISON, TX   I  UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 46



Addison, TX    I  Unified Development Code Update 47ADDISON, TX   I  UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 47



Addison, TX    I  Unified Development Code Update 48ADDISON, TX   I  UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 48



Addison, TX    I  Unified Development Code Update 49ADDISON, TX   I  UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 49



Addison, TX    I  Unified Development Code Update 50

COMMON PROCEDURES

• Elements that are common to most development application reviews

• Consolidated to avoid repetition

• Substantially rewritten for clarity and to reflect current practice

ADDISON, TX   I  UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 50



Addison, TX    I  Unified Development Code Update 51

COMMON PROCEDURES

ADDISON, TX   I  UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 51

• Pre-application conference

• Neighborhood Meeting

• Application Submittal & Processing

• Staff Review

• Public Hearing Scheduling & Notice

• Review and Decision

• Post-Decision Actions & Limitations



Addison, TX    I  Unified Development Code Update 52

COMMON PROCEDURES |KEY CHANGES

• New neighborhood meeting process to allow 
public involvement earlier in the review process 
for major projects 

• Recommended for any application subject to 
discretionary review by the Planning and Zoning 
Commission

• Applicant responsible for scheduling, noticing, 
and facilitating the meeting – attendance by 
Town staff not required

• Summary of meeting required to be provided in 
application materials and staff report

ADDISON, TX   I  UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 52



Addison, TX    I  Unified Development Code Update 53

COMMON PROCEDURES |KEY CHANGES

• Scheduling and notice of public 
hearing section added to provide 
more direction and clarity 
regarding Town procedures

• Includes minimum time frames for 
mailed, published (newspaper or 
online), and posted (signs on 
property) notice

• New summary table of public 
notice requirements

ADDISON, TX   I  UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 53



Addison, TX    I  Unified Development Code Update 54

COMMON PROCEDURES |KEY CHANGES

• New Post-Decisions Actions and Limitations section establishes:

• Notice of decision on an application to be provided within 10 days after decision

• When development approvals expire, if they can be extended, and the ability for 
approvals to be revoked

• Ability for the Director to approve minor changes to approved plans including:

• Changes necessary in light of technical or engineering considerations first discovered 
during preparation of final engineering and building plans

• Minor deviations in building footprint

• Relocation of infrastructure (roads and water or sewage lines)

• NOT reductions to amount of open space, buffering, or increase in building floor area

ADDISON, TX   I  UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 54



Addison, TX    I  Unified Development Code Update 55

REZONING

ADDISON, TX   I  UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 55

• Neighborhood meeting recommended

• Includes procedure for written protest and overrule of rezoning decisions



Addison, TX    I  Unified Development Code Update 56

REZONING

• Rezoning review criteria:

• Is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and the purposes of this UDC; 

• Is consistent with the purpose statement of the proposed zoning district;

• There have been significant changes in the area to warrant a zoning change; 

• The intensity of development in the new zoning district is not expected to create 
significantly adverse impacts to surrounding properties or the neighborhood; and 

• Public facilities and services are available to adequately serve the subject property while 
maintaining adequate level of service to existing development; and/or:

• There was an error in establishing the current zoning.

ADDISON, TX   I  UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 56



Addison, TX    I  Unified Development Code Update 57

REZONING

• Rezoning to Planned Development (PD) follows same overall process for 
two different steps:

• Preliminary PD Concept Plan: evaluate and discuss basic concepts of the proposed PD and 
whether it will result in a significant improvement over its development within a base zoning 
district

• Final PD Site Plan: prepare detailed engineering and site plans that respond to any issues 
raised during the review of the Preliminary PD Concept Plan

• Goal to move away from site-specific PD applications and use the Major 
Site Plan process, reserving PDs for larger, more complex and unique 
development projects

ADDISON, TX   I  UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 57



Addison, TX    I  Unified Development Code Update 58

SITE PLAN REVIEW

• Establishes a specific procedure to reflect current 
Town practices

• Proposed Major and Minor Site Plan processes

• Minor Site Plan Thresholds

• Single use in an existing structure less than 10,000 square feet 
gross floor area

• Combination of uses in an existing structure less than 20,000 
square feet gross floor area

• New nonresidential structure less than 5,000 square feet 
gross floor area

• Single-family attached development of 40 or fewer dwelling 
units

• Minor redevelopment

ADDISON, TX   I  UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 58



Addison, TX    I  Unified Development Code Update 59

SITE PLAN REVIEW

• Minor redevelopment (as initially proposed in Development Standards 
installment)

• Expansions, alterations, or modifications that increase the gross floor area of an existing structure 
by the greater of 10,000 square feet or between 10 and 50 percent;

• Expansions, alterations, or modifications that increase the total number of existing dwelling units on 
a lot by the lesser of 10 dwelling units or between 10 and 25 percent;

• The alteration or expansion of any vehicular parking area by the greater of six spaces or 50 percent, 
excluding resurfacing or restriping;

• Any expansion or enlargement of a structure or land use that requires a Special Use Permit; or

• Applications for building permits or for certificates of occupancy for buildings previously 
unoccupied for a period of six consecutive months.

ADDISON, TX   I  UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 59



Addison, TX    I  Unified Development Code Update 60

SITE PLAN REVIEW

ADDISON, TX   I  UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 60

• Major Site Plan

• Neighborhood Meeting recommended

• Public meeting, not hearing, required



Addison, TX    I  Unified Development Code Update 61

SITE PLAN REVIEW

ADDISON, TX   I  UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 61

• Minor Site Plan Procedure



Addison, TX    I  Unified Development Code Update 62

SITE PLAN REVIEW

ADDISON, TX   I  UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 62

• Approval Criteria for both Minor and Major Site Plans

• Compliance with UDC and other applicable plan regulations 
(Comprehensive Plan)

• Compliance with prior approvals

• Compliance with phasing plans

• Major and Minor Site Plan decisions can be appealed to the Board of 
Zoning Adjustment



Addison, TX    I  Unified Development Code Update 63

SUBDIVISION | MINOR PLAT

• Procedure applies to plats that:

• Involve four or fewer lots

• Front onto an existing street

• Do not require dedication of public right-
of-way or other public improvements; and 

• Do not require the creation of any new 
street or the extension of municipal 
facilities. 

ADDISON, TX   I  UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 63



Addison, TX    I  Unified Development Code Update 64

SUBDIVISION | FINAL PLAT

• Follows Preliminary Plat or Preliminary Replat

• Must be submitted within 2 years of Preliminary Plat or Replat approval

• Final plats do not require public hearing (consent agenda item)

ADDISON, TX   I  UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 64



Addison, TX    I  Unified Development Code Update 65

FLEXIBILITY & RELIEF PROCEDURES

• Variance: allows for variance 
from development standards if 
hardship demonstrated

• Subdivision Variance: allows 
for variance from subdivision 
standards to address 
unforeseen circumstances 
(required to go to P&Z)

• Minor Modification: allows 
modifications from the 
dimensional or numerical 
standards of the UDC (see 
right)

ADDISON, TX   I  UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 65



Addison, TX    I  Unified Development Code Update 66

FLEXIBILITY & RELIEF PROCEDURES

• Alternative Equivalent Compliance: allows the Director to approve a site-
specific plan that is equal to or better than the strict application of the 
standard (more qualitative than quantitative)

• Appeal of Administrative Decision: procedure to appeal decision made by 
the Director or other administrative official (not P&Z/CC)

• Interpretations: mechanism for rendering formal written interpretations of 
the UDC

ADDISON, TX   I  UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 66



QUESTIONS & DISCUSSION



Addison, TX    I  Unified Development Code Update 68

NEXT STEPS

ADDISON, TX   I  UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 68

Revisit

Finish 
Content

Mar 2019 – July 2024 July 2024 – Dec 2024



Addison, TX    I  Unified Development Code Update 69

COMMENTS?

• Remember to use Konveio 
to record your comments 
and questions!

• You also may submit 
comments to: 
udc@addisontx.gov

• www.AddisonUDC.org

ADDISON, TX   I  UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 69



ADDISON, TEXAS
UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE

Part 3: 
Administration & 
Procedures
February 2024



UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE
PART 4: WIRELESS COMMUNICATION FACILITIES 

& SIGN REGULATIONS

NOVEMBER 2023 
PUBLIC DRAFT

ADDISON, TEXAS



Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Signs & WCF – October 2023 PUBLIC DRAFT i 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Article 1: General Provisions .................................................................. 2 

Article 2: Zoning Districts ....................................................................... 2 

Article 3: Use Regulations ....................................................................... 3 

3.3 Use -Specific Standards ............................................................................................... 3 
 Utilities and Communication ................................................................................................................ 3 

Article 4: Development Standards ...................................................... 10 

4.10 Signs ............................................................................................................................. 10 
 Purpose ................................................................................................................................................. 10 
 Authority and Jurisdiction ................................................................................................................... 11 
 General Procedures ............................................................................................................................. 11 
 Removal of Certain Signs .................................................................................................................... 13 
 Signs Allowed Without Sign Permit .................................................................................................... 13 
 Alternative Sign Designs ...................................................................................................................... 15 
 Prohibited Signs ................................................................................................................................... 16 
 Temporary Signs .................................................................................................................................. 17 
 General Sign Regulations .................................................................................................................... 20 

 Permanent On-Site Signs .................................................................................................................... 22 
 Master Sign Plan .................................................................................................................................. 26 
 Nonconforming Signs .......................................................................................................................... 28 

Article 5: Subdivision Standards .......................................................... 29 

Article 6: Administration and Procedures .......................................... 30 

Article 7: Definitions ............................................................................. 30 

7.1 Rules of Construction ................................................................................................ 30 

7.2 Use-Related Definitions ............................................................................................ 30 

7.3 Other Defined Terms ................................................................................................. 30 
 

  



Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Signs & WCF – October 2023  PUBLIC DRAFT  2 

Article 1: General Provisions 
[Submitted with Part 3] 

 

Article 2: Zoning Districts 
[Submitted with Part 1] 

 



Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Signs & WCF – October 2023  PUBLIC DRAFT  3 

Article 3: Use Regulations 
[Submitted with Part 1] 

3.3 Use -Specific Standards 

 Utilities and Communication 

Commentary 

This is a new subsection to establish and formalize the requirements for wireless communication facilities on private 

property. The standards are intended to clarify the review process and design standards for different types of wireless 

communication facilities (e.g., towers versus roof-mounted antennas) and to ensure compliance with all state and 

federal regulations including but not limited to the Telecommunications Act of 1996, the Spectrum Act (Section 6409 

of the Middle Class Tax Relief and Job Creation Action of 2012), the FCC 2014 Infrastructure Order, and other FCC 

Declaratory Rulings issued between 2018 and 2021.  

There generally are no focused standards addressing these facilities in the Addison Code of Ordinances. Currently, 

requests for such facilities are evaluated through the building permit process, and aesthetic issues are looked at in 

light of existing general standards related to screening of mechanical equipment.  

However, the Town does have regulations related to the deployment of network nodes (as defined in TLGC Chapter 

284 and also known as “small cell facilities”) in the public right-of-way in Article III of chapter 70 of the Code of 

Ordinances of the Town of Addison and in the Wireless Services Design Manual. These regulations are proposed to be 

carried forward with no major substantive changes.  

A range of Texas ordinances were consulted as background for this draft, including the El Paso ordinance, which 

appears to be one of the newest comprehensive ordinances of this type in the state. 

 Wireless Communication Facilities (WCF) 

1. Purpose 

The purpose of this section is to establish development standards that comply with the requirements 

of state and federal law for public and private telecommunication service and to: 

a. Protect the public safety and welfare, safeguard community land values, and promote orderly 

planning and development; 

b. Provide for the managed development, installation, maintenance, modification, and removal of 

wireless communications infrastructure in the town with the fewest number of WCFs to complete 

a network without unreasonably discriminating against wireless communications providers of 

functionally equivalent service; 

c. Encourage the joint use and location of new and existing WCFs; and 

d. Mitigate any adverse, undesirable visual impacts on the community. 

2. Applicability 

a. This section shall apply to all WCF applications as indicated in Section <3.2.8, Table of Allowed 

Uses>1 and shall not preempt underlying zoning regulations unless explicitly stated in this 

subsection or as explicitly state in federal and/or state law. 

b. The requirements set forth in this subsection shall not apply to: 

i. Network nodes and network support poles as regulated by Chapter 70, Article III, Division 6 of 

the Code of Ordinances. 

 
1 The Table of Allowed Uses shall be updated to replace the current "Communication facility" use and include all WCF types as 

described in this section.  

https://library.municode.com/tx/addison/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIICOOR_CH70STSIOTPUPL_ARTIIIRI-WMA_DIV6NEPR


 Article 3: Use Regulations 
  3.3 Use -Specific Standards  

 3.3.6 Utilities and Communication 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Signs & WCF – October 2023  PUBLIC DRAFT  4 

ii. Amateur radio antennas that are owned and operated by a federally licensed amateur radio 

station operator or are used exclusively for receive-only antennas, provided that the height be 

no more than the distance from the base of the antenna to the property line is met. 

iii. Any WCF for which a permit has been properly issued prior to [Effective Date] shall not be 

required to meet the requirements of this subsection, other than the operational standards 

set forth in this subsection. Changes and additions to pre-existing WCFs shall meet applicable 

operational standards set forth in this subsection.  

iv. Antennas used for reception of television, multi-channel video programming and radio such 

as over the air reception devices ("OTARD") antennas, television broadcast band antennas, 

and broadcast radio antennas, provided that any requirements related to special uses of this 

UDC and the requirement that the height be no more than the distance from the base to the 

property line are met. The Director has the authority to approve modifications to the height 

restriction related to OTARD antennas and OTARD antenna structures, if in the Director's 

reasonable discretion, modifications are necessary to comply with federal law. 

v. A WCF installed upon the declaration of a state of emergency by the federal, state, or local 

government, or a written determination of public necessity by the Director.  

vi. A temporary WCF installed for providing coverage of a special event such as a news coverage 

or sporting event. 

3. General Provisions 

a. Federal Requirements 

All WCFs shall meet the current standards and regulations of the Federal Aviation Administration 

(FAA), the Federal Communications Commission (FCC), and any other agency of the federal 

government with the authority to regulate WCFs. If such standards and regulations are changed, 

then the owners of the WCF shall bring such facility into compliance with such revised standards 

and regulations within the time period mandated by the controlling federal agency. 

b. Radio Frequency Standards 

All WCFs shall comply with federal standards for radio frequency emissions. If concerns regarding 

compliance with radio frequency emissions standards for a WCF have been made to the Town, the 

Town may request that the owner or operator of the WCF provide information demonstrating 

compliance. If such information suggests, in the reasonable discretion of the Town, that the WCF 

may not be in compliance, the Town may request and the owner or operator of the WCF shall then 

submit a project implementation report which provides cumulative field measurements of radio 

frequency emissions of all antennas installed at the subject site, and which compares the results 

with established federal standards. If, upon review, the Town finds that the facility does not meet 

federal standards, the Town may require corrective action within a reasonable period of time, and 

if not corrected, may require removal of the WCF pursuant to this section. Any reasonable costs 

incurred by the Town, including reasonable consulting costs to verify compliance with these 

requirements, shall be paid by the owner or operator. 

c. Signal Interference 

All WCFs shall be designed and sited, consistent with applicable federal regulations, so as not to 

cause interference with the normal operation of radio, television, telephone, and other 

communication services utilized by adjacent residential and non-residential properties; nor shall 

any such facilities interfere with any public safety communications.  

d. Operation and Maintenance 

To ensure the structural integrity of WCFs, the owner of a WCF shall ensure that it is maintained in 

compliance with standards contained in applicable local building and safety codes. If upon 

inspection, the Town concludes that a WCF fails to comply with such codes and constitutes a 

danger to persons or property, then, upon written notice being provided to the owner of the WCF, 

the owner shall have 30 days from the date of notice to bring such WCF into compliance. Upon 



 Article 3: Use Regulations 
  3.3 Use -Specific Standards  

 3.3.6 Utilities and Communication 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Signs & WCF – October 2023  PUBLIC DRAFT  5 

good cause shown by the owner, the Building Official may extend such compliance period not to 

exceed 90 days from the date of said notice. If the owner fails to bring such WCF into compliance 

within said time period, the Town may remove such WCF at the owner's expense. 

e. Abandonment and Removal 

i. For any WCF constructed after [Effective Date], if the WCF is not used to transmit, receive, or 

relay voice and data signals to or from wireless communication devices for a period of six 

months, the WCF shall be considered abandoned and the owner of record shall notify the 

Building Official and apply for a permit to remove the structure. All WCFs shall be restored to 

service or removed by the person who constructed the facility, by the person who operated 

the facility, or by the property owner within 18 months from the time the WCF ceased being 

used to transmit, receive or relay voice and data signals to or from wireless communication 

devices. 

ii. If the use of the WCF has not been restored within an 18-month period from the time the WCF 

have ceased being used to transmit, receive or relay voice and data signals to or from wireless 

communication devices, the WCF shall be removed and the WCF site restored to its original or 

better condition, at the property owner's expense. 

4. Eligible Facilities Request 

a. Timing 

i. Within 60 days of the date on which an applicant submits an application seeking approval of 

an eligible facilities request, the Director shall approve an application unless the Director 

determines that the application is not an eligible facilities request. 

ii. The 60 -day review period begins to run when the application is filed. The Director and the 

applicant may agree to toll the review period. The 60-day review period shall also be tolled 

where the Director determines that the application is incomplete. The review period is tolled 

for incompleteness pursuant to the following standards: 

a. Within 30 days of receipt of the application, the Director shall notify the applicant in 

writing, clearly and specifically delineating all missing documents or information required 

for determination of an eligible facilities request 

b. The written incompleteness notice tolls the timeframe for review; 

c. The timeframe for review begins running again when the applicant makes a supplemental 

submission in response to the Director’s notice of incompleteness 

d. Within 10 days of the supplemental submission, the Director shall notify the applicant in 

writing that the supplemental submission did not provide the information identified in the 

original incompleteness notice; and 

e. The timeframe is tolled in the case of a second or subsequent incompleteness notice 

pursuant to the procedures for the first incompleteness notice. Second or subsequent 

incompleteness notices may not specify missing documents or information that were not 

delineated in the original incompleteness notice. 

iii. Failure to Act 

a. In the event that the Director fails to act on a request seeking approval for an eligible 

facilities request within the timeframe for review, accounting for any tolling, the request 

shall be deemed granted.  

b. The effective date of a deemed-granted approval shall be the day the Town receives 

written notice from the applicant, after the review period, accounting for any tolling, has 

expired, that the application has been deemed granted. 

iv. Review Criteria 

The Director shall approve an eligible facilities request if the request: 



 Article 3: Use Regulations 
  3.3 Use -Specific Standards  

 3.3.6 Utilities and Communication 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Signs & WCF – October 2023  PUBLIC DRAFT  6 

a. Is an eligible facilities request for an eligible support structure; 

b. Complies with the originally approved design elements and other conditions of approval, 

including but not limited to colors, textures, surfaces, scale, character, mounting, 

projection and siting, or any approved amendments thereto, except where 

noncompliance with those elements or conditions is solely limited to the thresholds of 

increase in height, increase in width, addition of cabinets or new excavation or 

deployment area identified in the definition of substantial change; 

c. Does not defeat the concealment elements of the eligible support structure. Any design 

element that places the wireless communications facility out of view, hides it from being 

noticed, blends it with its surroundings or otherwise minimizes the visual or aesthetic 

impact of the facility is a concealment element of the eligible support structure; and 

d. Does not result in a substantial change. A substantial change is a modification that 

substantially changes the physical dimensions of an eligible support structure that meets 

any of the following criteria: 3 

i. For ground-mounted WCFs, an increase in the height of the facility by more than 10 

percent or by the height of one additional antenna array with separation from the 

nearest existing antenna not to exceed 20 feet, whichever is greater; for roof- and 

building-mounted WCFs, it increases the height of the structure by more than 10 

percent or more than 10 feet, whichever is greater. Changes in height should be 

measured from the original support structure in cases where deployments are or 

will be separated horizontally, such as on buildings' rooftops; in other 

circumstances, changes in height should be measured from the dimensions of the 

WCF, inclusive of originally approved appurtenances and any modifications that 

were approved prior to the passage of the Spectrum Act. 

ii. For ground-mounted WCFs, it involves adding an appurtenance to the body of the 

facility that would protrude from the edge of the facility more than 20 feet, or more 

than the width of the facility at the level of the appurtenance, whichever is greater 

for eligible support structures, it involves adding an appurtenance to the body of 

the structure that would protrude from the edge of the structure by more than six 

feet; 

iii. For any eligible support structure, it involves installation of more than the standard 

number of new equipment cabinets for the technology involved, but not to exceed 

four cabinets; or roof- and building-mounted WCFs, it involves installation of any 

new equipment cabinets on the ground if there are no pre-existing ground cabinets 

associated with the structure, or else involves installation of ground cabinets that 

are more than 10 percent larger in height or overall volume than any other ground 

cabinets associated with the structure;4.For any eligible support structure, it entails 

any excavation or deployment outside the current site; or would impair the 

concealment elements of the eligible support structure; 

iv. It entails any excavation or deployment outside of the current site, except that, for 

ground-mounted WCFs, it entails any excavation or deployment of transmission 

equipment outside of the current site by more than 30 feet in any direction. The 

site boundary from which the 30 feet is measured excludes any access or utility 

easements currently related to the site; 

v. It would defeat the camouflaging elements of the eligible support structure; 4 

vi. For any eligible support structure, it does not comply with conditions associated 

with the siting approval of the construction or modification of the eligible support 

 
3 Definition from 47 CFR §1.6100. 
4 Reference in 47 CFR §1.6100 to “concealment elements” updated to “camouflaging elements” to align with proposed 

standards.  



 Article 3: Use Regulations 
  3.3 Use -Specific Standards  

 3.3.6 Utilities and Communication 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Signs & WCF – October 2023  PUBLIC DRAFT  7 

structure or WCF equipment, unless the non-compliance is due to an increase in 

height, increase in width, addition of cabinets, or new excavation that would not 

exceed the thresholds identified in Paragraphs 1), 2), and 3) of this definition. 

v. Decision 

If the Director finds the review criteria are met, the Director shall approve the eligible facilities 

request. If the Director finds that the applicant's request does not meet the criteria, the 

Director may approve with conditions or deny the eligible facilities request and provide a 

written disposition with the reasons for conditional approval or denial to the applicant. The 

Director's decision shall be supported by substantial evidence in the written record. 

vi. Compliance with Other Laws 

All work done in association with the approved eligible facility request application shall be 

completed in accordance with all generally applicable laws, regulations or other rules 

reasonably related to public health and safety, including but not limited to, building and safety 

codes. 

vii. Remedies 

The applicant and the Town may bring a claim related to §6409 of the Spectrum Act (codified 

at 47 U.S.C. 1455) to any court of competent jurisdiction. 

5. Standards for Specific Facility Types 

All new WCFs or collocations that do not meet the definition of an eligible facilities request shall be 

subject to the standards below. 

a. All WCF Types 

i. Review Required 

 

 
Residential 

Zoning District 

Mixed-Use 

Zoning District 

Nonresidential 

Zoning District 

WCF Type    

Building-Mounted Facilities 
Special Use Permit Building Permit 

Roof-Mounted Facilities 

Ground-Mounted Facilities Special Use Permit Building Permit 

 

  



 Article 3: Use Regulations 
  3.3 Use -Specific Standards  

 3.3.6 Utilities and Communication 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Signs & WCF – October 2023  PUBLIC DRAFT  8 

ii. Maximum Height 

 

 
Residential 

Zoning District 

Mixed-Use Zoning 

District 

Nonresidential 

Zoning District 

WCF Type    

Building-Mounted Facilities [1] Maximum height permitted in the underlying zoning district 

Roof-Mounted Facilities 10 feet above the existing roofline [1] [2] 

Ground-Mounted Facilities [3] 

Maximum height 

permitted in the 

underlying zoning 

district 

45 feet5 60 feet6 

Notes: 
[1] Height measured to top of steel or antenna, whichever is greater. 

[2] In the Mixed-Use and Nonresidential zoning districts, an additional five feet (up to 15 feet) above the 

existing roofline is allowed by Special Use Permit. 

[2] Height measured from base of facility to top of steel. 

 

iii. Camouflage and Screening Techniques 

a. WCFs shall be camouflaged by minimizing the visibility of antennae and transmission 

equipment and be screened from view by materials that are consistent and compatible 

with the building design, color and materials. Camouflaging includes locating facilities in 

bell steeples or clock towers, or on similar alternative design mounting structures. 

b. Metallic surfaces shall be painted to reduce glare and reflections. No exterior paint colors 

shall be used which have a light reflecting value (LRV) greater than forty percent. The LRV 

of a paint is available from paint manufacturers and it measures the amount of light 

reflected by a certain color. 

c. Landscaped screening shall use native or adapted plant materials to the maximum extent 

practicable and shall be consistent with surrounding landscaping, trees, and foliage. 

iv. Transmission and Accessory Equipment 

Transmission and accessory equipment, including equipment enclosures, shall be visually 

similar to the architectural style of the surrounding building environment with consideration 

given to exterior materials, roof form, scale, mass, color, texture and character or screened 

using natural or manmade features that are consistent with surrounding landscaping, trees, 

and foliage. 

v. Lighting 

WCFs shall not be lighted, unless required by the FAA or other applicable governmental 

authority, or the WCF is mounted on a light pole or other similar structure primarily used for 

lighting purposes. If lighting is required, the Town may review the available lighting 

alternatives and approve the design that would cause the least disturbance to the surrounding 

views. Lighting shall be shielded or directed to the greatest extent possible so as to minimize 

the amount of glare and light falling onto nearby properties, particularly residences. 

 
5 Maximum height allowances in the Mixed-Use districts range from 40 feet to 200 feet. 
6 Maximum height allowances in the Nonresidential districts range from 29-69 and include several that do not maintain 

maximum height limitations. 



 Article 3: Use Regulations 
  3.3 Use -Specific Standards  

 3.3.6 Utilities and Communication 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Signs & WCF – October 2023  PUBLIC DRAFT  9 

vi. Noise 

Noise generated on the site shall not exceed the standards permitted in the Code of 

Ordinances, except that a WCF owner or operator shall be permitted to exceed Code noise 

standards for a reasonable period of time during repairs, not to exceed two hours without 

prior authorization from the Town. 

b. Additional Standards for Building-Mounted WCFs 

A building-mounted facility shall be mounted on a wall of an existing building in a configuration as 

flush to the wall as technically possible. The antenna and any associated screening or transmission 

equipment shall not project above the wall on which is mounted, excluding any conduit that may 

extend over and behind the roofline or parapet wall. 

c. Additional Standards for Roof-Mounted WCFs 

Screening of roof-mounted WCFs includes the use of existing parapets, walls, or similar 

architectural elements provided that it is painted and texturized to integrate with the architecture 

of the surrounding structure. Screening may be waived by the Director on buildings where the 

height of the roofline is thirty-five feet or less based on evidence provided by the applicant that the 

roof cannot structurally support the screen. 

d. Additional Standards for Ground-Mounted WCFs 

i. Ground-mounted WCFS shall be subject to the minimum setback and separation 

requirements set forth below. 

 
Residential 

Zoning District 

Mixed-Use  

Zoning District 

Nonresidential 

Zoning District 

Minimum Setback 

3 feet from any 

abutting property line 

for every 1 foot of 

tower height or the 

minimum setback 

required in the 

underlying zoning 

district, whichever is 

greater 

2 feet from any 

abutting property line 

for every 1 foot of 

tower height or the 

minimum setback 

required in the 

underlying zoning 

district, whichever is 

greater 

1 foot from any 

abutting property line 

for every 1 foot of 

tower height or the 

minimum setback 

required in the 

underlying zoning 

district, whichever is 

greater 

Minimum Separation [1] One-half mile 2,000’  1,760’  

Notes: 
[1] Separation measured from the outermost portion of the base of existing facility to the outermost 

portion of the base of proposed facility. 

 

ii. Ground-mounted WCFs shall be enclosed by security fencing or wall and shall also be 

equipped with an appropriate anti-climbing device. 

iii. Ground-mounted WCFs shall be compatible with the surrounding tree coverage and foliage. 



Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Signs & WCF – October 2023  PUBLIC DRAFT  10 

 

Article 4: Development Standards 
[Sections 4.1-4.9 submitted with Part 2] 

4.10 Signs 
Commentary 

This section carries forward the current Chapter 62: Signs, but includes updates for consistency, user-friendliness, and 

to maintain content-neutrality, while maintaining the current substance in terms of size, location, and design. This 

section has also been reorganized for a more logical flow. There are multiple instances where current graphics or 

placeholder text is included; once the proposed standards are in more final form, all graphics will be updated to be in 

a consistent style or new graphics will be created. 

In 2015, the U.S. Supreme Court (in Reed v. Gilbert) restricted the ability of local governments to apply content-based 

regulations to signage in order to protect free speech. Based on that decision, cities have been comprehensively 

updating their sign regulations to remove content-based standards (i.e., regulations that can only be understood and 

enforced by reading the sign). This draft includes significant revision to bring current regulations into compliance with 

the Reed v. Gilbert decision.  

This draft also includes targeted revisions that focus on: 

• Increasing flexibility, especially for properties in more intense zoning districts; 

• Aligning content with current Town practices and interpretations; 

• Introducing a Master Sign Plan process; and 

• Standardizing methods of measurement. 

 Purpose 

The regulation of the location, size, and placement of signs is necessary to enable the public to locate goods, 

services, and facilities located within the corporate limits of the Town, to encourage the general attractiveness 

of the community, and to protect property values. The general objectives of these standards are to promote 

public health, safety, and welfare, and specifically to achieve the following:  

 Safety 

To promote the safety of persons and property by providing that signs do not:  

1. Create a hazard due to collapse, fire, decay or abandonment;  

2. Obstruct public safety response;7 and/or 

3. Create traffic hazards by confusing or distracting pedestrians.  

 Communications Efficiency 

To promote the efficient transfer of information in sign messages providing that:  

1. Signs that provide messages and information most needed and sought by the public are given priority;  

2. Businesses and services may identify themselves;  

3. Customers and other persons may locate a business or service;  

4. No person or group is arbitrarily denied the use of the sight lines from the public right-of-way for 

communication purposes; and  

 
7 Replaced “firefighting or police surveillance.” 



 Article 4: Development Standards 
  4.10 Signs  

 4.10.2 Authority and Jurisdiction 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Signs & WCF – October 2023  PUBLIC DRAFT  11 

5. Persons exposed to signs are not overwhelmed by the number of messages presented and are able to 

exercise freedom of choice to observe or ignore such messages, according to the observer's purpose.  

 Landscape and Built Environment Quality and Preservation8 

To protect the public welfare and to enhance the appearance and economic value of the landscape and 

built environment, by providing signs that:  

1. Do not interfere with scenic views;  

2. Do not create a nuisance to persons using the public rights-of-way;  

3. Do not create a nuisance to occupants of adjacent and contiguous property by their brightness, size, 

height or movement;  

4. Are not detrimental to land or property values;  

5. Do not contribute to visual blight or clutter; and  

6. Are architecturally compatible and harmonious with the structure to which they pertain and to 

neighboring structures. 

 Authority and Jurisdiction9 

The terms and conditions of this section 4.10 shall apply to all signs located within the Town of Addison, 

pursuant to Chapter 216 of the Texas Local Government Code as amended. The provisions of this section shall 

be administered and enforced by the Director. Allegations of errors in orders, decisions, and/or determinations 

by the Director shall be handled in accordance with Section <6.7.4, Appeal of Administrative Decision>.10 

 General Procedures 

 Permit Required11 

1. Sign Permit 

a. Except as provided in Section 4.10.5, no person shall erect, construct, enlarge, alter, repair, display, 

maintain, or use a sign, whether temporary or permanent, until a permit for the same has been 

issued by the Director in accordance with Section <6.4.5., Sign Permit>.  

b. Each sign shall require a separate sign permit. 

2. Electrical Permit 

Each sign requiring the installation of an electric power source shall require a separate electrical permit 

and inspection as required in the Town’s Electrical Code. 

3. Building Permit 

When determined by the director that the proposed sign, pole, or structure requires the design of a 

licensed structural engineer a separate building permit and inspection shall be required as required in 

the Town’s Building Code. 

4. Permit Fees 

Sign, electrical, and building permit fees shall be as designated in Chapter 2, Article IX, Fees, of the 

Town’s Code of Ordinances. 

 
8 Added “and Built Environment” to heading. 
9 Consolidated Sec. 62-3 and Sec. 62-31 and revised appeal provisions. 
10 Replaced references to Code Enforcement Administrator with Director. 
11 Replaces Sec. 62-51(a). Other permit requirements and information added. 

https://library.municode.com/tx/addison/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIICOOR_CH2AD_ARTIXFE


 Article 4: Development Standards 
  4.10 Signs  

 4.10.3 General Procedures 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Signs & WCF – October 2023  PUBLIC DRAFT  12 

 Contractor Registration Required12 

1. General 

a. No person shall install or erect, relocate, or maintain any sign, or contract for such service, until 

such person has applied through the Development Services department for a Contractor 

Registration to install, erect, relocate, and maintain such sign, and such registration has been 

approved and issued, except as otherwise provided in this section. 

b. All sign contractors shall comply with the licensing requirements of TLGC §§ 1305.160, 13.05.166, 

and 13.05.167.13 

2. Application14 

An application for a registration under this division shall be made upon forms provided by the 

Development Services department, and shall contain or have attached thereto the following 

information:  

a. Name, address, telephone number, and e-mail address of applicant.  

b. Name, address, telephone number, and e-mail address of applicant's company.  

c. Names of all persons who are authorized to apply for sign permits under applicant's registration. 

3. Fee15 

The fee for registrations issued pursuant to this section shall be as required in Chapter 2, Article IX , 

Fees, of the Town’s Code of Ordinances and each registration must be renewed on an annual basis.  

4. Insurance or Bond Required16 

No registration for the installation, erection, relocation, and maintenance of signs shall be issued to 

any person until such person has provided proof of general liability insurance covering the work to be 

performed pursuant to the registration in the amount of at least $100,000.00 or filed with the Director. 

5. Cancellation 

The registration of any sign contractor may be canceled by the Director, when such contractor 

persistently violates the requirements of this section. Conviction in municipal court, whether appealed 

or not, on two violations over a period of two calendar years shall constitute evidence of persistent 

violation. Any registration thus canceled shall not be renewed until such violations have been 

corrected. Upon correction of the violations, the contractor's registration shall be renewed upon the 

Town's discretion, provided the contractor furnished a bond in the amount of $5,000.00 guaranteeing 

compliance, and that this compliance bond is renewed for two years following the renewal of the 

registration.  

6. Required Prior to Issuance of Permit 

No permits for the erection, construction, relocation, alteration, repair, or maintenance of any sign 

shall be issued until a registration has been approved and issued by the Director and the fee paid, 

except as otherwise provided in this section. 

 
12 Sec. 62-96-101. Replaced references to “contractor license” with “contractor registration” where applicable.  
13 New. 
14 Added references to e-mail addresses. 
15 Removed specific fee information and references Master Fee Ordinance. 
16 Removed requirement to provide a surety bond for damages to signs. 

https://library.municode.com/tx/addison/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIICOOR_CH2AD_ARTIXFE
https://library.municode.com/tx/addison/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIICOOR_CH2AD_ARTIXFE


 Article 4: Development Standards 
  4.10 Signs  

 4.10.4 Removal of Certain Signs 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Signs & WCF – October 2023  PUBLIC DRAFT  13 

 Removal of Certain Signs 

 Removal of Public Nuisance or Hazardous Signs17 

All of the following signs shall be considered a public nuisance, and the Town may, without notice, remove 

and impound any of the following signs:  

1. Any sign erected or existing that constitutes a traffic hazard;  

2. Any sign erected without a permit, either prior to or after the adoption of this section, if a permit was 

required;  

3. Any sign erected in violation of the provisions of this section; and  

4. Any sign erected in or over a public right-of-way, either prior to or after adoption of this section. 

 Recovery and Disposal of Impounded Signs18 

1. Impounded signs may be recovered by the owner within 15 days of the date of impoundment by 

paying the fee required in Chapter 2, Article IX , Fees, of the Town’s Code of Ordinances. 

2. Signs not recovered within 15 days of impoundment may be disposed of by the Town in any manner it 

shall elect. 

 Signs Allowed Without Sign Permit19 

All signs listed in this section 4.10.5 may be erected and maintained under the conditions listed and shall not 

require a sign permit, provided all other provisions of this section 4.10 are met.  

 Signs in Airport Overlay District20 

1. Landside Signs 

All primary, secondary, and tertiary signs as defined in the Airport Master Plan that are visible from the 

primary public areas of the airport including the public right-of-way, access roads, pedestrian areas, 

and parking areas, shall require a sign permit. 

2. Air Side Signs 

All other signs that are located outside the view of primary public areas and/or on the rear or side of 

buildings shall not require a sign permit. 

 Construction Banner Signs21 

1. Construction banner signs shall be allowed without a sign permit subject to the following: 

a. Such signs shall not be erected prior to the issuance of a building or site development permit for 

the project to which the sign pertains and shall be removed prior to the issuance of a certificate of 

occupancy.  

b. Each property shall be limited to one construction banner per street frontage. 

c. Such signs shall be affixed to construction fences and firmly attached on all four corners. 

 
17 Sec. 62-5. “or Hazardous” is new.  
18 Sec. 62-34. Replaced specific impounded sign fees with a reference to the Master Fee Ordinance. 
19 Based on Sec. 62-136-148. Deleted specific requirements related to fuel pump and pricing signage as these standards are 

challenging to enforce and major signage at fuel stations is addressed through standard permanent sign regulations. 

Deleted requirements for words on machinery or equipment, protective signs, and no trespassing/no dumping/no parking 

as exempt signage – reference new exemption for signs not readable from the public right-of-way. Removed current Sec 62-

138 – to be relocated to the exterior lighting standards. 
20 Proposed to replace the current narrower exemption for “Air Traffic Signs.” These regulations are based on the signage 

hierarchy and design standards in the Airport Master Plan. 
21 Replaces Sec. 62-210 to exempt signs on construction fences. See new definition of construction banner sign. 

https://library.municode.com/tx/addison/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIICOOR_CH2AD_ARTIXFE


 Article 4: Development Standards 
  4.10 Signs  

 4.10.5 Signs Allowed Without Sign Permit 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Signs & WCF – October 2023  PUBLIC DRAFT  14 

d. No sign shall contain more than 36 square feet in sign area.  

2. All other construction signs, not including signs required for safe site circulation, shall require a sign 

permit. 

 Flags 

Flags shall be allowed without a sign permit subject to the following: 

1. Flags are limited to three per property22.  

2. Each flag shall not exceed 40 square feet in size. 

3. Flagpoles shall not exceed 30 feet in height.  

4. Flags smaller than six square feet are exempt from the limitations of paragraphs 1. and 2. above.  

5. Approval of an alternative sign design as set forth in Section 4.10.6 is required for flags or flagpoles 

that exceed the above size and height limitations.  

 Government Signs23 

Signs required to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of the Town and other regulatory purposes, 

including traffic signs, emergency and warning signs, information signs erected by the Town or other 

government agency, signs required to be displayed by law and signs of public service companies indicating 

danger and/or aids to service or safety shall be allowed without a sign permit.  

 Menu Boards and Drive-Through Signs24 

Menu boards placed for the purpose of listing food or beverages available for sale and signs adjacent to, 

within, or above drive-through or drive-in lanes directing vehicles shall be allowed without a sign permit. 

 Residential Property25 

Residential property signs shall be allowed without a sign permit subject to the following: 

1. A residential property may display up to three detached, non-illuminated signs. Each sign shall not 

exceed six square feet.26  

2. Temporary signs during an election are not subject to the three-sign limit set forth in subsection a. 

above and shall comply with Section 4.10.8B, Election Event Signs and V.T.C.A. Election Code § 259.003, 

as amended.  

 Signs not Readable from the Public Right-of-Way27 

Signs shall be considered not readable from the public right-of-way and therefore allowed without a sign 

permit subject to the following: 

1. The sign or display is located entirely inside of a building and not visible from the building’s exterior; or 

2. Any letters, figures, or symbols are less than two inches in height and project no more than one inch 

from the surface on which the sign is mounted. 

 Vehicular Signs28 

Vehicular signs shall be allowed without a sign permit and may be attached to vehicles subject to the 

following:  

 
22 Replaced “premises” with “property” for clarity. 
23 Sec. 62-137. Content revised to make content neutral. “Signs required to be displayed by law” added to address a range of 

additional signage including public notice signs required by a state or federal entity for air permits. 
24 New to reflect current practice. 
25 Broadened from “Single-family or duplex residential property.”  
26 Updated for content-neutrality (removed reference to leasing and garage sale signs) and applied the more permissive sign 

area allowance to all signs.  
27 New.  
28 Updated for content neutrality (removed reference to static displays advertising a product or service). 



 Article 4: Development Standards 
  4.10 Signs  

 1.1.1  

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Signs & WCF – October 2023  PUBLIC DRAFT  15 

1. The vehicle is owned and operated by the Town or another governmental entity; or 

2. The primary purpose of the vehicle is not for display of the sign; and 

3. The signs are painted upon or applied directly to an integral part of the vehicle;  

4. The vehicle is in operating condition, currently registered and licensed to operate on public streets, and 

actively used in the daily function of the business to which such sign relates; and  

5. The vehicle, when on the premises of the business to which such sign relates, shall be parked in a 

location that does not unreasonably impact standard operating businesses.29  

 Window Signs 

Window signs shall be allowed without a sign permit subject to the following: 

1. Each sign shall be no more than four square feet in area.30 

2. Signs in windows visible from public rights-of-way are limited to 20 percent31 of the total area of each 

architecturally distinct ground floor window area.32 

3. The outlining of a window on two or more of any sides with lighting, gaseous tubing, or similar means 

shall constitute 100 percent of the total window area as a sign.  

4. In buildings with multiple tenants, these provisions shall be applied to each individual tenant based on 

the size of the windows located within that portion of the facade adjacent to the tenant’s leased 

premises.  

 Alternative Sign Designs34 

It is not the intention of these regulations to discourage innovation. Applications for alternative sign designs 

may be submitted that, while clearly not conforming to this section and thus not allowable under these criteria, 

have obvious merit in not only being appropriate to the particular site or location, but also in making a positive 

contribution to the visual environment.  

 Approval Criteria 

The Planning and Zoning Commission may approve an alternative sign design if it: 

1. Is necessary because enforcement of the requirement prevents any reasonable opportunity to provide 

adequate signs on the site, considering the unique features of a site including its dimensions, 

landscaping, or topography;  

2. Will not have a substantially adverse effect on neighboring properties; and 

3. Will not substantially conflict with the purpose and standards of this article. 

 Signs Erected Without Alternative Sign Design Approval 

If a sign is erected, placed, or maintained in violation of this section prior to any authority, permission, or 

approval of the Town to do so, and an application for an alternative sign design is then submitted for such 

sign, there shall be paid by the applicant for such alternative sign design a late fee equal to twice the 

 
29 Removed specific requirement for vehicle to be parked out of view of public right of way. 
30 New. 
31 Increased from 10 percent. The intent is to keep the signs themselves small. If there is one very large window, you don't 

want that 20% taken up by one large sign. 
32 Replaced broad reference to façade with architecturally distinct window area to ensure an even distribution of window 

signs across a building’s window space. 
34 Replaces the vague “meritorious exceptions” language in current Sec. 62-33. We have rewritten the section to mirror 

“alternative equivalent compliance” requests that are often used for development standards. Authority to review and 

approve sign variances adjusted to be Planning and Zoning Commission instead of Council as noted in the Assessment’s 

Detailed Review of Current Development Ordinances. Application fees and submittal requirements not carried forward; 

should be located in a separate administrative manual. An alternative sign design procedure will be added to the 

Administration and Procedures section in a future draft. 



 Article 4: Development Standards 
  4.10 Signs  

 4.10.7 Prohibited Signs 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Signs & WCF – October 2023  PUBLIC DRAFT  16 

amount of the alternative sign design fee. Payment of the late fee does not excuse full compliance with the 

provisions of this section.  

 Prohibited Signs35 

The following signs are specifically prohibited, except as otherwise prescribed within this section: 

 Animated or Moving Sign 

Any sign that includes animation, parts which move, or flashing or blinking lights that may be distracting to 

motorists. This includes feather signs and a person holding or carrying wind devices, flags, balloons, or 

other sign structures.36 This prohibition does not include time and temperature signs. Signs that have copy 

that changes, moves, flashes, or blinks in no less than 8-minute intervals37 shall not be considered as 

animated.  

 Building Code 

Any sign in violation of the building code of the town.  

 Hazardous or Nuisance Signs 

Any sign illuminated to an intensity to cause glare or brightness to a degree that could constitute a hazard 

or nuisance. Moving, flashing, intermittently lighted, changing color, beacons, revolving or similarly 

constructed signs shall not be allowed.  

 Electronic Sign 

Any sign or portion thereof that displays electronic, static images, static graphics, or static pictures, with or 

without text information, defined by a small number of matrix elements using light emitting diodes (LEDs), 

fiber optics, light bulbs, other illumination devices, or a combination thereof, within the display area where 

the message change sequence is accomplished immediately or by means of fade, repixelization, or dissolve 

modes. Noncommercial components of electronic signs are exempt from this prohibition. 

 Fence Sign38 

Any sign painted or attached to the outside of a fence, railing or a wall that is not a structural part of a 

building, whether or not such fence, railing or wall is on the property line, except as otherwise allowed in 

this section.  

 Imitation of Emergency Signs and Signals39 

Any sign using any combination of forms, colors, or lights which imitate emergency signs or signals.  

 Inflatable Sign 

Any inflatable sign, including balloons, anchored to the ground, a building or other structure.40  

 Interchangeable Copy 

Any sign that allows for manual interchangeable copy.  

 
35 Sec. 62-270-288. Removed prohibitions on “temporary real estate directional signs” and “obscene, indecent, or immoral 

matter,” both of which are content-based.  
36 New sentence to address “sign spinners.” 
37 Decrease from 20-minute as recommended in the Development Regulations Assessment.  
38 Updated to remove content-based regulation.  
39 Removed “words” for content-neutrality reasons. 
40 Removed reference to and content regarding flags as the standards related to flag exemptions are addressed in 4.10.5 

above. 



 Article 4: Development Standards 
  4.10 Signs  

 4.10.8 Temporary Signs 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Signs & WCF – October 2023  PUBLIC DRAFT  17 

 Luminescent Gaseous Tubing 

Any sign that uses exposed tubes that contain luminescent inert gases, including, but not limited to, neon, 

argon and krypton, and that are visible from the exterior of structures, except as an attached sign which 

shall conform to Section 4.10.10, Permanent On-Site Signs.  

 Mobile Billboards41 

Any wheeled vehicle used primarily for the display of general advertising, by means of traversing upon any 

public street or parking on any public street in a manner that the advertising image(s) on the vehicle are 

visible from any portion of the public right-of-way. 

 Portable Signs 

Portable signs are specifically prohibited.  

 Roof Signs  

Any sign on the roof or project over the roofline of a building. This does not apply to signs located above 

structural elements of the building, but remain below the roof of the facade on which the sign is located.  

 Searchlights 

Searchlights are specifically prohibited.  

 Signs in Rights-of-Way42 

Any sign that is erected or affixed within or projected over any public right-of-way or extended across a 

railroad right-of-way. This includes signs attached to or painted on any sidewalk, curb, gutter, street, tree, 

or public or private utility pole or structure. No sign shall be erected closer than 10 feet from the existing 

public right-of-way except as otherwise authorized by this section.  

 Wind-Driven Signs43 

Any sign consisting of one or a series of two or more banners, flags, pennants, ribbons, spinners, 

streamers, captive balloons or other objects or material fastened in such a manner as to move, upon being 

subjected to pressure by wind or breeze. 

 Vision Clearance 

Any sign that does not comply with the vision clearance standards in Section 4.5.6, Vision Clearance.44 

 Temporary Signs 

 Standards Applicable to All Temporary Signs45 

1. Sign Location 

a. Signs shall be located so as not to create a hazard for pedestrian or vehicular traffic and comply 

with minimum setback and vision clearance requirements. 

b. Unless otherwise specified in this section, temporary signs approved per this section may be 

located off-premises with the permission of the property owner, and may be allowed on a parcel in 

addition to the maximum amount of temporary and permanent signage permitted on that parcel. 

2. Sign Illumination 

Illumination of temporary signs is prohibited. 

 
41 New.  
42 Consolidated Signs in Rights-of-Way, sign on sidewalk, street, etc. and signs on trees, poles, etc. 
43  
44 Replaces “Observe 35-foot visibility triangle.”  
45 New. 



 Article 4: Development Standards 
  4.10 Signs  

 4.10.8 Temporary Signs 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Signs & WCF – October 2023  PUBLIC DRAFT  18 

 Election Event Signs46 

Election event signage shall be allowed without a sign permit subject to the following: 

1. Duration 

For a period of 60 days prior to a state, local, or national election, the total number of temporary signs 

permitted per property may be increased over the maximum amount of temporary signage permitted 

by this section. The number of increased signs shall be calculated by the number of federal, state, and 

local issues and elected positions on the ballot within the voting district where the property is located. 

The content of this additional signage is not subject to regulation by the Town, but the number shall 

not exceed the number of ballot issues and offices on the ballot. The signage shall be removed no 

more than two days following the election.  

2. Size and Features 

No election event sign shall: 

a. Have a sign area greater than 36 square feet; 

b. Exceed eight feet in height; 

c. Be illuminated; or 

d. Have any moving elements.  

3. Location 

a. Election event signage shall be located on private real property with the consent of the property 

owner. For purposes of this requirement, "private real property" does not include real property 

subject to an easement or other encumbrance that allows a municipality, including the Town, to 

use the property for a public purpose.  

b. Election event signs are not permitted within the public right-of-way or on any real property owned 

by the Town of Addison, with the following exceptions:  

i. On properties with single-family attached or detached dwellings,47 election event signs may be 

placed in any portion of the front or side yard that may include the public right-of-way, if the 

sign is placed at least three feet away from the edge of the street. In locations with sidewalks, 

signs must be located behind the sidewalk so as to not obstruct the sidewalk.  

ii. On any Town-owned property that has been designated as an election polling place, two 

election event signs per candidate, proposition, or measure may be placed in an area 

designated by Town staff while the property is serving as an active polling place. Such signs 

shall not:  

a. Have an effective area greater than three square feet.  

b. Exceed 18 inches tall and 24 inches wide.  

c. Be illuminated.  

d. Have any moving elements. 

 Public or Private Special Event Signs48 

Unless sponsored by the Town and open to the public, special event signs shall comply with the following: 

1. A maximum of one banner sign per vendor internal to the premises and up to a total of 10 banners on 

the perimeter oriented outwards may be issued in conjunction with a special event permit or 

temporary use permit. The Director may determine that a special event should be further limited or 

 
46 Proposed replacement for current “political signs” section in Sec. 62-247, which is content-based.  
47 Proposed replacement for “single-family neighborhood.”  
48 Replaces the current “special event banner” provisions, which are content-based.  



 Article 4: Development Standards 
  4.10 Signs  

 4.10.8 Temporary Signs 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Signs & WCF – October 2023  PUBLIC DRAFT  19 

allowed additional signage based on the total area of the event, number of vendors, and potential 

adverse impact to neighboring properties. 

2. The permit shall specify the location and removal dates of the temporary signs allowed in conjunction 

with the permit. If dates are not specified in the permit, such signs may be displayed no more than 14 

days prior to the special event and must be removed within two days after the conclusion of the 

special event.  

3. Banner signs shall not exceed 50 square feet of sign area, per side. Yard signs shall not exceed six 

square feet in sign area, per side. 

4. Signs shall not be located in the public right-of-way and shall be firmly affixed to a stabilized structure 

such as tent or table on all four corners.49 

 Temporary Sidewalk Signs50 

1. Temporary sidewalk signs are only permitted in the M-4 zoning district for businesses that have an 

entrance immediately adjacent to a public sidewalk. 

2. Each tenant shall be allowed one sidewalk sign. 

3. A minimum of four feet of clear sidewalk shall be maintained at all times.  

4. Such signs shall be displayed during operating business hours only.  

 Temporary Banner Signs51 

1. Temporary banner signs are prohibited in all zoning districts in the Town except for the following:  

a. Any nonresidential establishment may display one banner sign for a maximum of 60 consecutive 

days at the same location, one time during the first three months after the issuance of a certificate 

of occupancy or change in ownership; or 

b. The Director may allow additional temporary banner signs displaying noncommercial message for 

a maximum of 30 day.52 

2. Temporary banners allowed by paragraphs a. and b. above shall: 

a. Require a sign permit; and 

b. Not exceed 50 square feet in sign area. 

c. Be firmly affixed to the building façade on all four corners. 

3. Contractor registration is not required for the installation of a temporary banner sign when approved 

and installed by the business operator.53 

 Undeveloped Real Estate Site Signs54 

1. On undeveloped real estate sites, one non-illuminated sign per lot, except for lots with frontage along 

more than one public right-of-way, shall be allowed. Any lot with frontage along more than one public 

right-of-way may have one sign along each public right-of-way provided that each frontage is at least 

300 feet in length and the signs are spaced at least 50 feet apart. Such signs shall not be placed on 

public or private utility or light poles and shall not be located within roadway median strips.55 

2. The sign shall not exceed 36 square feet in sign area per sign face.  

3. The sign shall be a maximum height of 16 feet.  

 
49 New.  
50 New. Based on current allowances for Addison Circle and Vitruvian Special Districts. Reference new definition for sidewalk 

sign. 
51 Sec. 62-246. Updated to remove content-based regulations. 
52 New.  
53 New. 
54 Replaces general reference to “Real estate/leasing signs.” Sec 62-208(2) and Sec 62-207.  
55 New clarification that real estate signs cannot be located in roadway medians.  



 Article 4: Development Standards 
  4.10 Signs  

 4.10.9 General Sign Regulations 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Signs & WCF – October 2023  PUBLIC DRAFT  20 

4. Signs up to 20 square feet in sign area per face shall be setback a minimum of 10 feet and signs up to 

36 square feet in sign are per face shall be setback a minimum of 15 feet.56  

5. The sign shall comply with the vision clearance standards in Section <4.5.6, Vision Clearance>.57 

6. A sign permit is required for each sign. The permit shall be renewed every 12 months. Prior to the 

issuance of the permit and any renewal thereof the sign shall be subject to inspection and approval to 

ensure compliance with all ordinances of the Town of Addison. 

 General Sign Regulations58 

 Sign Measurement and Calculations59 

1. Sign Area60 

Sign area is calculated as the area enclosed by drawing a rectangle of horizontal and vertical lines that 

fully contain all extremities of the sign, including architectural design elements such as decorative 

bordering, but exclusive of the sign supports.  

 

2. Sign Height61 

Sign height is measured as the vertical distance between ground elevation and the top of the sign, 

including all backgrounds and support structures, exclusive of any filling, berming, mounding, or 

landscaping, solely done for the purpose of locating the sign. 

 
56 Replaces current 62-184. 
57 Replaces “Observe 35-foot visibility triangle.”  
58 New section for standards that are applicable to all signs.  
59 New section to standardize methods of measurement for consistency across all sign permits.  
60 Carries forward current definition of “effective area. Exemplary graphic to be updated in the Consolidated Draft. 
61 Based on current measurement for detached signs. Exemplary graphic to be updated in the Consolidated Draft. 



 Article 4: Development Standards 
  4.10 Signs  

 4.10.9 General Sign Regulations 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Signs & WCF – October 2023  PUBLIC DRAFT  21 

 

3. Sign Setback62 

The setback of a sign is measured from the property line to the outermost perimeter of the sign, 

including support structures unless an alternative measurement is designated in this section or 

approved by the Director.  

 

 Signs Displaying Noncommercial Messages63 

Notwithstanding any other provision of this chapter, any sign that may display a commercial message may 

also display a noncommercial message, either in place of or in addition to the commercial messages, so 

long as the sign complies with other requirements of this chapter or other ordinances that do not pertain 

to the content of the message displayed.  

 Maintenance64 

Every sign in the town, regardless of whether any permit is required for such sign, shall be maintained in a 

safe, presentable and sound structural and operational condition at all times, including the replacement of 

 
62 Replaces current setback measurement taken from the back of the curb of a public street in Sec. 62-184 as recommended 

in the Assessment, to increase accuracy. Exemplary graphic to be updated in the Consolidated Draft. 
63 Sec. 62-248.  
64 Sec 62-4. 



 Article 4: Development Standards 
  4.10 Signs  

 4.10.10 Permanent On-Site Signs 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Signs & WCF – October 2023  PUBLIC DRAFT  22 

nonfunctioning, broken, defective, or missing parts including lighting elements65, painting, repainting, 

cleaning and any other acts required for the maintenance of such sign. All signs and sign supports, brackets 

and frames shall be kept painted or otherwise treated to prevent rust, rot or deterioration. Signs not 

meeting the standards imposed by this section shall be subject to removal or repair as set forth in Section 

4.10.4. 

 Permanent On-Site Signs66 

 Applicability 

This section shall apply to all attached and detached signs in the Mixed-Use and Nonresidential zoning 

districts.67 

 Requirements by Sign Type68 

Unless otherwise exempted from subsection (C), below, all signs shall comply with the following standards: 

 Attached Signs Detached Pole Signs Detached Monument Signs 

Number 

1 attached sign per tenant per 

façade [1] 

(See Subsections 4.10.10C and 

4.10.10D  for additional 

allowances) 

1 detached sign per street frontage [2]69 

(See Subsection 4.10.10C for additional allowances) 

Area 

1.5 square feet of sign area for 

each linear foot of building 

frontage70 [3] [4] 

Single-tenant: 

42 square feet (maximum)71 

Multi-tenant: 

84 square feet (maximum)72 

Single-tenant: 

48 square feet in sign area per 

side (maximum) 

Multi-tenant: 

72 square feet in sign area per 

side [5] 

Dimensions 

In the Mixed-Use zoning districts, 

no wall sign shall have a length that 

exceed 75 percent of tenant 

frontage.73 

Single-tenant: 

7 feet wide × 6 feet high × 1 

foot deep (maximum)74 

Multi-tenant: 

7 feet wide x 6 feet high x 1 

foot deep (maximum)75 [5] 

2 feet high (minimum)76 

Not applicable 

Height Not applicable 20 feet (exact) 

Single-tenant: 

6 feet (maximum) 

Multi-tenant: 

8 feet (maximum) 

Setback Not applicable 

10 feet77 (minimum) from the property line given that the sign 

does not impede pedestrian and vehicular access or visibility and 

is not situated between the sidewalk and curb 

 
65 Added reference to lighting elements. 
66 Sec. 62-161-163. Eliminated maximum letter/logo height standards to be consistent with the Reed v. Gilbert decision. 
67 Updated reference to “business zoning districts” to reflect proposed changes from Part 1: Zoning Districts & Uses. 
68 New simplified summary table. 
69 Replaced “1 per site.” 
70 New, more flexible and increased allowance. 
71 Increased from 40 square feet and clarified it as a maximum. 
72 Increased from 78.5 and clarified it as a maximum. 
73 New standard from Addison Town Center and Village on the Parkway Special Districts applied broadly. 
74 Increased from 6'10" wide × 5'10" high × 12" deep and clarified it as a maximum. 
75 Increased from 6’10” wide × 11’6” high × 12” deep and clarified it as a maximum. 
76 New. 
77 Decreased from 20 feet. 



 Article 4: Development Standards 
  4.10 Signs  

 4.10.10 Permanent On-Site Signs 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Signs & WCF – October 2023  PUBLIC DRAFT  23 

 Attached Signs Detached Pole Signs Detached Monument Signs 

Notes: 
[1] With the exception of live-work units, attached signs are not permitted on single-family residential buildings within 

mixed-use districts.  

[2] If a property has more than one street frontage, the freestanding sign permitted for each frontage must be located 

adjacent to that frontage, and the minimum permissible horizontal distance between freestanding signs on the same 

property is 50 feet. 

[3] Allowances for individual occupancies within a multi-tenant building shall be calculated on leased or occupied length of 

frontage. If the lot on which the building is located has frontage on more than one right-of-way, each street frontage 

shall be counted for purposes of determining attached sign allowance. 

[4] For back-lit awnings, the area of the sign shall be based on the area of the awning that is back-lit or illuminated. 

[5] No single tenant shall occupy more than 36 square feet of sign area per side on a multi-tenant sign. 

 Additional Allowances for Specific Sign Types 

1. Site Directional Signs 

Site directional signs may be erected at any occupancy or upon any site, other than a single-family 

detached or duplex dwelling without limit as to quantity provided that such signs shall comply with the 

following: 78  

a. Each sign shall not exceed two square feet in sign area.  

b. Each sign shall be set back at least 10 feet from the back of curb provided it complies with vision 

clearance standards and does not impede pedestrian or vehicular movement or visibility, or is 

situated between the curb and sidewalk.79  

2. Works of Art80 

Works of art, including murals, shall comply with the dimensional standards for wall signs in the 

applicable district. The sign area of a mural shall be calculated as that area of the mural used to 

identify the owner or sponsor of the mural or the building on which it is displayed. 

 Additional Allowances for Specific Zoning Districts81 

1. M-2, M-3, M-4, M-5, C-L, C-G, and L-I82 

Each tenant shall be allowed one additional projecting or under-canopy sign. The sign: 

a. Shall not extend more than 36 inches from the building façade. 

b. Shall not exceed 24 inches in height. 

c. Shall be located a minimum of eight feet above grade. 

 
78 Renamed from “Movement Control Signs.” Sec. 62-226. Did not carry forward several current provisions that are content-

based. Also did not carry forward the lettering height requirements to be consistent with later edits in the attached sign 

section. 
79 Decreased 50 feet to 10 feet and added reference to vision clearance requirements. 
80 New. 
81 New standards that allow larger buildings in more intense zoning districts to qualify for a larger sign and additional 

projecting and under tenant signs as recommended in the Development Regulations Assessment.  
82 Based on current allowances for the Village on the Parkway Special District. Graphic to be updated to match document 

styles in Consolidated Draft. 



 Article 4: Development Standards 
  4.10 Signs  

 4.10.10 Permanent On-Site Signs 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Signs & WCF – October 2023  PUBLIC DRAFT  24 

 

2. C-L, C-G and L-I 

Attached signs located at a height of up to 36 feet are limited to one and one-half square feet of sign 

area for each linear foot of building frontage not to exceed 200 feet. All other provisions of Section 

4.10.10B, Requirements by Sign Type shall apply.  

 Additional Standards for Pole-Mounted Banners83 

All pole-mounted banner signs shall: 

1. Only be of a seasonal and promotional type; 

2. Not contain any advertising or promotional messages for individual tenants; 

3. Maintain a minimum eight-foot clearance from grade level to the bottom of the banner; 

4. Not exceed two feet in width and six feet in length. 

 

 Sign Materials 

1. Wall Signs 

Metal backing is required for all attached wall signs. Wood backing is prohibited. 

 
83 New – based on standards for Village on the Parkway and Vitruvian Park. Graphic is exemplary and will be updated in the 

Consolidated Draft. Provisions 1 and 2 may be content-based; further discussion necessary. They are from the current 

Villate on the Parkway/Vitruvian standards.  



 Article 4: Development Standards 
  4.10 Signs  

 4.10.10 Permanent On-Site Signs 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Signs & WCF – October 2023  PUBLIC DRAFT  25 

2. Pole Signs 

a. Sign supports shall consist of round or steel structural steel tubing or masonry-wrapped steel 

supports up to 50 square inches in area.84 Structural support tubing shall be limited to single- or 

double- support structures and installed in accordance with Figure <>85, below. 

  

b. Sign cabinets shall be painted grip sheet metal on angle iron frame with angle retaining rim to 

secure sign face.  

c. The sign face shall be a plastic or metal sheet. Unused panels shall be solid neutral colors.86  

d. The sign supports and cabinet color shall be compatible with currently installed pole signs to the 

maximum extent practicable. 

3. Monument Signs 

Plastic faces may be used on monument signs provided only the letters, numbers or logo elements 

emit light. 

 Location 

1. Attached Signs 

a. All signs shall be mounted parallel to the building surface to which they are attached, unless 

otherwise allowed in this section.  

b. No sign shall project more than 18 inches from the surface to which they are attached.  

c. No sign shall be located on the roof or project over the roofline of a building. This does not apply 

to signs located on structural elements that project above the roofline of the building, but that 

remain below the uppermost point of the facade on which the sign is located.87 

 
84 Revised from 8-inch diameter to allow for square support poles. (The area of a circle with an 8-inch diameter is about 50 

square inches.) Added option to provide masonry-wrapped steel supports. 
85 Graphics to be updated for the Public Draft of Part 4.  
86 Added “metal” to account for older pole signs that should not be considered nonconforming signs. Second sentence is new. 
87Clarified that there are certain building forms where a structural element (e.g., fence or screening) may project above the 

roofline, but still support signage. Based on current allowance for Addison Circle.  



 Article 4: Development Standards 
  4.10 Signs  

 4.10.11 Master Sign Plan 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Signs & WCF – October 2023  PUBLIC DRAFT  26 

2. Detached Signs 

a. Detached signs shall comply with the vision clearance standards as set forth in Section <4.5.6, 

Vision Clearance>.88 

b. Detached signs shall be no closer than 150 feet apart, with no two detached signs of any type 

being closer than 50 feet apart.  

 Master Sign Plan89 

 Purpose  

For some developments, alternative standards and flexibility in the established standards may enhance the 

aesthetic qualities of the development and the community. Approval of a Master Sign Plan allows for 

unified presentation of signage throughout a development site, flexibility to provide for unique 

environments, and pre-approval of designs and design elements to make sign review more efficient. 

 Applicability 

A Master Sign Plan shall be available for multi-tenant buildings, commercial, and mixed-use developments 

containing more than one building in a Mixed Use, Commercial, or Planned Development zoning district.  

 Master Sign Plan Requirements 

An application for a Master Sign Plan shall identify all proposed signage for an entire parcel or 

development site and shall include the following information: 

1. Sign dimensions and approximate locations; 

2. Materials and colors; 

3. Proposed illumination, including illumination levels; 

4. Maximum numbers of tenant signs per sign face; 

5. A design theme with illustrative examples of each sign type and the proposed general locations of each 

sign type; 

6. A demonstration that the Master Sign Plan will improve the aesthetics of the development and will not 

have an adverse impact on the use, enjoyment, or value of adjacent properties; and 

7. Any other maps, drawings or materials as required by the Director (including a colored rendering of 

the sign(s) to adequately describe the sign proposal. The application and any exhibits shall become the 

property of the Town. 

 Standards 

1. Prohibited Signs and Sign Elements 

Prohibited signs and sign elements are not eligible for inclusion in a Master Sign Plan unless specifically 

indicated in this section. 

2. Architectural Theme 

All signs shall be architecturally integrated into or complimentary to the design of the building(s) and 

character of the site, and shall use similar and coordinated design features, materials, and colors. The 

Master Sign Plan shall establish an integrated architectural vocabulary and cohesive theme for the 

development site. 

 
88 Additional detail describing the vision clearance triangle deleted and replaced with cross reference to the Vision Clearance 

standards as drafted in Part 2: Development Standards.  
89 New section establishing a procedure for large campus- or center-style developments that allows deviations from the 

standards of the base sign regulations.  



 Article 4: Development Standards 
  4.10 Signs  

 4.10.11 Master Sign Plan 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Signs & WCF – October 2023  PUBLIC DRAFT  27 

3. Review Criteria 

The height, area, number, and location of signs permitted through the Master Sign Plan may deviate 

from the standards of this section and shall be determined based on the following criteria: 

a. Compliance with paragraphs 1. and 2. above; 

b. The overall size of the development site and the scale of the use or uses located or anticipated to 

be located there (larger land areas and scales of use tend to favor larger signs and/or more signs); 

c. Relationship between the building setback and sign location (additional signage may be 

appropriate for buildings with less visibility, particularly where buffering is providing an aesthetic 

and/or environmental benefit to the Town); 

d. Length of frontage on a public right-of way (larger frontages may justify more or larger signs, 

particularly if the size of the frontage tends to prevent sign clutter from multiple adjacent parcels); 

e. Access and visibility to the site; 

f. Intended traffic circulation pattern and the need for wayfinding; 

g. Hierarchy of signage; 

h. Relationship between the site and adjacent uses; or 

i. The desired function of the site. 

4. Nonconforming Signs 

If there are existing signs on-site, they shall be treated in accordance with Section 4.10.12, 

Nonconforming Signs upon adoption of the Master Sign Plan. 

 Master Sign Plan Review 

1. Generally 

An application for a Master Sign Plan shall be reviewed as part of the Site Plan process in Section 

<6.4.1, Site Plan Review>. 

2. Planning and Zoning Commission Approval 

Master Sign Plans require approval by the Planning and Zoning Commission. 

 Individual Sign Permits 

Individual sign permits are required for signs installed in compliance with an approved Master Sign Plan 

that conforms with the provisions of this section. 

 Amendments 

1. A Master Sign Plan may be amended by the Director if the proposed amendments do not: 

a. Deviate from the original approval of number of signs and size of signs by more than 10 percent; 

b. Include changes to the locations of signs; and 

c. Result in a significant change to the architectural theme. 

2. If the proposed amendments exceed the standards in subsection 1. above, a full Master Sign Plan 

review is required. 

 Sign Districts90 

Those areas previously established as sign districts shall comply with the standards in Appendix A. 

 
90 New. All sign district content has been relocated to an Appendix. Staff is considering transitioning these districts to Master 

Sign Plans and maintaining their associated standards outside of the UDC. 



 Article 4: Development Standards 
  4.10 Signs  

 4.10.12 Nonconforming Signs 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Signs & WCF – October 2023  PUBLIC DRAFT  28 

 Nonconforming Signs91 

 Purpose 

The purpose of this subsection is to ensure that in time all privately owned signs shall either conform to the 

provisions of this section or be removed.  

 Generally 

1. No presently illegal sign shall be deemed to have been legalized unless such sign complies with all 

current standards under the terms of this section and all other ordinances of the Town.  

2. Any sign that does not conform to all provisions of this chapter shall be either: 

a. A nonconforming sign if it legally existed as a conforming or nonconforming sign under the terms 

of this section under prior ordinances; or  

b. An illegal sign if it did not exist as a conforming or nonconforming sign under prior ordinances.92  

 Repair and Removal 

1. Except for nonconforming signs created by action of the Town or other government agency, no 

nonconforming sign shall be repaired or renovated, except to reface a sign without structurally altering 

the shape and size of the sign.93 Otherwise, a nonconforming sign shall be brought into compliance 

with the provisions of Section 4.10, Signs. 

2. Any nonconforming sign that is damaged in excess of 50 percent of its current value shall be 

demolished and not repaired unless such proposed repairs would bring the sign into compliance with 

the provisions of Section 4.10, Signs. 

3. Upon voluntary demolition of a primary structure, a nonconforming sign that identified the primary 

structure shall be removed or modified to comply with Section 4.10, Signs.94 

4. The Town will follow all applicable state regulations in the removal of nonconforming signs. Upon 

requirement of removal, the Town will institute any necessary procedures before any legal boards 

required by state legislation.

 
91 Sec. 62-32. 
92 Deleted repetitive language and clarified what constitutes a nonconforming sign. 
93 Clarified current Town practice of allowing nonconforming signs to be refaced only. 
94 New. 



Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Signs & WCF – October 2023  PUBLIC DRAFT  29 

Article 5: Subdivision Standards 
[Submitted with Part 2]  



Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Signs & WCF – October 2023  PUBLIC DRAFT  30 

Article 6: Administration and 

Procedures 
[Submitted with Part 3] 

Article 7: Definitions95 
Commentary: 

This section includes general rules of construction and defined terms. Many of the rules of construction are new. This 

definitions article will continue to grow as future material is developed. Many of the terms were carried forward from 

the current Code of Ordinances and revised as noted. New terms are also noted and are based on our work in other 

jurisdictions and tailored for Addison. There are several placeholders where we will prepare graphics to supplement 

the text definitions, both by updating existing graphics and creating new graphics. 

7.1 Rules of Construction 
[Included in Part 3] 

7.2 Use-Related Definitions 
[Included in Part 1] 

7.3 Other Defined Terms 
Commentary 

New terms added are highlighted yellow.  

The following words, terms and phrases when used in this UDC, shall have the meanings ascribed to them in 

this article, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning: 

Animation 

Copy or other images that flash or move or otherwise change.  

Building96  

A structure which has a roof supported by columns, walls or air for the shelter, support or enclosure of 

persons, animals or property. 

Commercial Message 

A message placed or caused to be placed before the public by a person or business enterprise directly involved 

in the manufacture or sale of the products, property, accommodations services, attractions, or activities or 

possible substitutes for those things which are the subject of the message and that:  

1) Refers to the offer for sale or existence for sale of products, property, accommodations, services, 

attractions, or activities; or  

 
95 Several definitions in current Chapter 18, Article 8, Sec. 18-451; and Chapter 34, Article 34, will be reconciled with definitions 

found in this UDC (e.g., dwelling unit, owner, structure, etc.) to establish a uniform set of definitions be used in the UDC and 

the Code of Ordinances in future drafts. 
96 Need to reconcile this definition (from sign ordinance) with the draft definition of “building” included in Module 2.  



 Article 7: Definitions 
  7.3 Other Defined Terms  

 4.10.12 Nonconforming Signs 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Signs & WCF – October 2023  PUBLIC DRAFT  31 

2) Attracts attention to a business or to products, property, accommodations, services, attractions, or 

activities that are offered or exist or sale or for hire.  

Collocation97 

The mounting or installation of transmission equipment on an eligible support structure for the purpose of 

transmitting and/or receiving radio frequency signals for communications purposes. 

Copy 

Letters, characters, illustrations, logos, graphics, symbols, writing or combination thereof, designed to 

communicate information of any kind, or to advertise, announce the purpose of, or identify the purpose of a 

person or entity, or to identify or advertise a business or business product, or to advertise the sale or lease of a 

premises.  

Eligible Facilities Request98 

Any request for modification of an existing Wireless Community Facility (WCF) that involves the collocation of 

new transmission equipment, removal of transmission equipment, or replacement of transmission equipment. 

Eligible Support Structure99 

Any Wireless Community Facility (WCF) as defined in this Unified Development Code (UDC) that is existing at the 

time an application is filed. 

Existing100 

For the purpose of Section 3.3.6A, Wireless Communication Facilities (WCF), a constructed WCF that was reviewed 

and approved in accordance with all requirements of applicable law as of the time of an eligible facilities 

request. 

Facade  

Any separate face of a building, including parapet walls and omitted wall lines. Any part of a building oriented in 

the same direction, or in directions within 45 degrees of one another are considered a part of a single facade.  

Festoon Lighting (String Lighting) 

A string of white outdoor lights suspended between two points as more fully defined in the National Electrical 

Code (NEC).  

Flag  

Any fabric or bunting containing distinctive colors, patterns, symbols or graphic depictions or text. 

Landside Side101 

In the Airport Overlay District, signs that serve the passenger and cargo terminals and the access system, that 

includes parking, roads, public transport facilities, and loading and unloading areas. 

Luminescent Gaseous Tubing  

Exposed tubes used in or as signs and which contain luminescent inert gases including, but not limited to, neon, 

argon and krypton.  

 
97 Definition from 47 CFR §1.6100. 
98 Definition from 47 CFR §1.6100. 
99 Definition from 47 CFR §1.6100. 
100 Definition from 47 CFR §1.6100. 
101 New. 



 Article 7: Definitions 
  7.3 Other Defined Terms  

 4.10.12 Nonconforming Signs 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Signs & WCF – October 2023  PUBLIC DRAFT  32 

Noncommercial Message  

Any message that is not a commercial message.  

Mural 

A painting or picture applied to and made part of a wall which may be pictorial or abstract and is 

characteristically visually set off or separated from the background color or architectural environment. 

Premises 

A lot or tract, or a combination of contiguous lots or tracts if the lot or tract, or combination, is under single 

ownership and is reflected as a single premises in the plat records of the town.  

Roofline102 

For the purpose of Section 4.10, Signs, the uppermost line or point of the facade or parapet of a flat roof 

structure, or the lower edge of an eve, gable or rake of the uppermost sloped roof structure. 

Searchlight103 

An apparatus containing a light and reflector on a swivel, for projecting a strong, far-reaching beam in any 

direction. 

Sign  

Any device, flag, light, figure, picture, letter, word, message, symbol, plaque or poster visible from outside the 

premises on which it is located and designed to inform or attract attention.  

Sign, Air Side104 

A sign located in the area of an airport that is enclosed by a security barrier, to which aircraft have access, and to 

which the general public does not have access, including runways, taxiways, aprons, and ramps. 

Sign, Animated or Moving 

Any sign that includes animation, parts which move, or flashing or blinking lights that may be distracting to 

motorists. This includes feather signs and a person holding or carrying wind devices, flags, balloons, or other 

sign structures. 

Sign, Attached  

Any sign attached to, applied on or supported by any part of a building (such as a wall, roof, window, under-

canopy, awning, arcade, projecting or marquee) that encloses or covers usable space.  

Sign, Banner 

A temporary sign composed of lightweight material secured or mounted so as to allow movement caused by 

wind.105  

Sign, Building Code 

Any sign in violation of the building code of the Town. 

 
102 New definition based on staff’s interpretation and administration of standards. This will be reconciled with the definition of 

other relevant definitions (e.g., “building height”) in the consolidated code as appropriate.  
103 New definition for existing term. 
104 New. 
105 Revised to remove content-based language.  



 Article 7: Definitions 
  7.3 Other Defined Terms  

 4.10.12 Nonconforming Signs 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Signs & WCF – October 2023  PUBLIC DRAFT  33 

Sign, Construction Banner106 

A temporary banner erected and maintained on a site during the period of construction. 

Sign, Detached  

Any sign connected to the ground that is not an attached sign, but excluding signs on vehicles that are moving 

or are parked only temporarily, incidental to their principal use for transportation. 

Sign, Electronic 

Any sign or portion thereof that displays electronic, static images, static graphics, or static pictures, with or 

without text information, defined by a small number of matrix elements using light emitting diodes (LEDs), fiber 

optics, light bulbs, other illumination devices, or a combination thereof, within the display area where the 

message change sequence is accomplished immediately or by means of fade, repixelization, or dissolve modes. 

Sign, Feather107 

A flexible or rigid pole to which one side of a flexible fabric, generally in the shape of a feather or similar shape, 

is attached, and which is used for the primary purpose of advertising or attention-getting by the public display 

of visually communicative images. 

Sign, Fence 

Any sign painted or attached to the outside of a fence, railing or a wall that is not a structural part of a building, 

whether or not such fence, railing or wall is on the property line. 

Sign, Government 

Signs required to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of the Town and other regulatory purposes, 

including traffic signs, emergency and warning signs, signs required to be displayed by law and signs of public 

service companies indicating danger and/or aids to service or safety shall be allowed without a sign permit. 

Sign, Hazardous or Nuisance 

Any sign illuminated to an intensity to cause glare or brightness to a degree that could constitute a hazard or 

nuisance including moving, flashing, intermittently lighted, changing color, beacons, revolving or similarly 

constructed signs. 

Sign, Imitation of Emergency Signs and Signals 

Any sign using any combination of forms, colors, or lights which imitate emergency signs or signals. 

Sign, Inflatable 

Any inflatable sign, including balloons, anchored to the ground, a building or other structure.   

Sign, Interchangeable Copy 

Any sign that allows for manual interchangeable copy.    

Sign, Luminescent Gaseous Tubing 

Any sign that uses exposed tubes that contain luminescent inert gases, including, but not limited to, neon, 

argon and krypton, and that are visible from the exterior of structures. 

 
106 New. 
107 New definition for an existing term currently included in the definition of “flag.” 



 Article 7: Definitions 
  7.3 Other Defined Terms  

 4.10.12 Nonconforming Signs 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Signs & WCF – October 2023  PUBLIC DRAFT  34 

Sign, Mobile Billboards 

Any wheeled vehicle used primarily for the display of general advertising, by means of traversing upon any 

public street or parking on any public street in a manner that the advertising image(s) on the vehicle are visible 

from any portion of the public right-of-way. 

Sign, Monument108  

A freestanding sign having a low profile and made of stone, concrete, metal, brick or similar materials, including 

individual lettering, which repeat or harmonize with the architecture of the establishment it serves.  

Sign, Menu Board and Drive Through 

Menu boards placed for the purpose of listing food or beverages available for sale and signs adjacent to, within, 

or above drive-through or drive-in lanes directing vehicles. 

Sign, Not Readable from the Public-Right-of-Way 

A sign located entirely inside of a building and not visible from the building’s exterior or a sign that displays 

letters, figures, or symbols less than two inches in height and project no more than one inch from the surface 

on which the sign is mounted. 

Sign, Off-Premise109  

Any sign which is not located on the premise of the advertised business.  

Sign, On-Site110 

Any sign that identifies or advertises the location, products, persons, accommodations, services or activities of 

or on the premises where the sign is located, or the sale, lease or construction of those premises.  

Sign, Portable 

Any sign that is moveable and not permanently attached to the ground or to a structure or another sign 

permanently attached to the ground, excluding sidewalk signs. 

Sign, Residential Property111 

A sign located on a residential lot, excluding multifamily dwellings and assisted living and continuing care 

retirement facilities. 

Sign, Right-of-way 

Any sign that is erected or affixed within or projected over any public right-of-way or extended across a railroad 

right-of-way. 

Sign, Roof 

Any sign on the roof or project over the roofline of a building. This does not apply to signs located above 

structural elements of the building, but remain below the roof of the facade on which the sign is located. 

Sign, Pole112 

A free-standing sign, usually double-faced, mounted on a round pole, square tube, or other fabricated element 

without any type of secondary support. 

 
108 Deleted “routed wood planks or beams.” 
109 Replaces Nonpremises Sign.  
110 Replaces Premises Sign.  
111 Broadened from “Single-family or duplex residential property.” 
112 New definition for an existing term not currently specifically defined.  



 Article 7: Definitions 
  7.3 Other Defined Terms  

 4.10.12 Nonconforming Signs 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Signs & WCF – October 2023  PUBLIC DRAFT  35 

Sign, Projecting 

A sign attached to and projecting out from a building face or wall, generally at right angles to the building. 

Sign, Portable  

A sign which is easily moved from one location to another, including signs which are mounted on skids, trailers, 

wheels, legs or stakes, and which is not fixed permanently to the ground, and which is not an attached sign, 

political sign, or a sign which refers solely to the sale or lease of the premises.  

Sign, Sidewalk 

A sign composed of a sign panel and spring-mounted supporting structure intended to be located on or near a 

sidewalk with the ability to be readily moved, and that is not affixed to a building, vehicle, or the ground. A-

frame signs are not considered sidewalk signs. 

Sign, Site Directional113 

A sign located at a vehicular access point or that directs vehicular or pedestrian movement within the premises 

on which the site directional sign is located. 

Sign, Under-Canopy 

A sign suspended beneath a canopy, ceiling, roof, marquee, or similar structure. 

Sign, Vehicular  

Any sign on a vehicle.  

Sign, Wind-Driven 

Any sign consisting of one or a series of two or more banners, flags, pennants, ribbons, spinners, streamers, 

captive balloons or other objects or material fastened in such a manner as to move, upon being subjected to 

pressure by wind or breeze. 

Sign, Window 

Any sign located on or within eight feet of an exterior window.  

Sign Support 

Any pole, post, strut, cable or other structural fixture or framework necessary to hold and secure a sign, 

providing that such fixture or framework is not imprinted with any picture, symbol or word using characters in 

excess of one inch in height, or is internally or decoratively illuminated.  

Site 

For the purpose of Section 3.3.6A, Wireless Communication Facilities (WCF), the current boundaries of the leased 

or owned property surrounding the tower and any access or utility easements currently related to the site, and, 

for other eligible support structures, further restricted to that area in proximity to the structure and to other 

transmission equipment already deployed on the ground. The current boundaries of a site are the boundaries 

that existed as of the date that the original support structure or a modification to that structure was last 

reviewed and approved by the Town, if the approval of the modification occurred prior to the Spectrum Act or 

otherwise outside of the section 6409(a) process. 

 
113 Combined current definitions of access point and movement control sign. 



 Article 7: Definitions 
  7.3 Other Defined Terms  

 4.10.12 Nonconforming Signs 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Signs & WCF – October 2023  PUBLIC DRAFT  36 

Special Event114 

A temporary event on public or private property sponsored by a non-profit or private organization including 

fundraising activities, educational, historic, religious, and patriotic displays or exhibits, outdoor concerts, 

festivals, outdoor arts and crafts fairs, and other organized community events. 

Transmission Equipment115 

Equipment that facilitates transmission for any Federal Communications Commission-licensed or authorized 

wireless communication service, including, but not limited to, radio transceivers, antennas, coaxial or fiber-optic 

cable, and regular and backup power supply. The term includes equipment associated with wireless 

communications services including, but not limited to, private, broadcast, and public safety services, as well as 

unlicensed wireless services and fixed wireless services such as microwave backhaul. 

Wireless Communication Facility (WCF) 

A facility used to provide personal wireless services as defined at 47 U.S.C. Section 332(c)(7)(C); or wireless 

information services provided to the public or to such classes of users as to be effectively available directly to 

the public via licensed or unlicensed frequencies; or wireless utility monitoring and control services. A wireless 

communications facility includes an antenna or antennas, including without limitation, directional, omni-

directional and parabolic antennas, support equipment and their permitted supporting structure, but does not 

include the support structure to which the wireless communications facility or its components are attached if 

the use of such structure for the wireless communications facility is not the primary use. The term does not 

include mobile transmitting devices used by wireless service subscribers, such as vehicle or hand held 

radios/telephones and their associated transmitting antennas. 

Building-Mounted 

A WCF that is mounted on a building with a primary purpose to be a use other than as an antenna support 

structure.  

Roof-Mounted 

A WCF that is mounted on a structure that is located on the roof of a building 

Ground-Mounted 

A WCF that is mounted on a freestanding support structure, such as a monopole or tower. 

 

 
114 Replaces current definition that limits special events to those sponsored by the Town. 
115 Definition from 47 CFR §1.6100. 

https://library.municode.com/co/boulder/codes/municipal_code?nodeId=THCHBOCO_ARTIVDILE_THRE_S47REEL


Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Signs & WCF – October 2023 PUBLIC DRAFT i 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Appendix A: Sign Districts and Master Sign Plans ............................... 2 

Sign District Regulations......................................................................................................... 2 

Village on the Parkway ........................................................................................................... 6 

Addison Circle ........................................................................................................................ 18 

Addison Walk Shopping Center............................................................................................ 24 

Inwood Quorum Village ........................................................................................................ 28 

Vitruvian Park ........................................................................................................................ 29 

 

  



Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Signs & WCF – October 2023  PUBLIC DRAFT  2 

Appendix A: Sign Districts and Master 

Sign Plans 

Sign District Regulations 

 Purpose 

The purpose of this section is to identify certain areas, or districts, within the Town with unique 

characteristics based on physical location, building design, pedestrian and vehicle circulation, and land uses 

and ensure the appropriate number and design of signs that are compatible with the characteristics of 

each district.  

 Sign Districts Established 

The following sign districts are established for the purpose of this section Error! Reference source not 

found.. 

1. Addison Town Center (being that area to which Ordinance No. 094-069, adopted October 11, 1994, 

applies) 

2. Village on the Parkway (being that area shown in Fig. 62-289.A) 

3. Addison Circle (being that area to which Ordinance No. 097-010, adopted March 25, 1997, applies) 

4. Addison Walk Shopping Center  (being that area to which Ordinance No. 004-002, adopted January 13, 

2004, applies) 

5. Inwood Quorum Village(being that area to which Ordinance No. 006-037, adopted August 22, 2006, 

applies) 

6. Dallas Parkway 

7. Vitruvian Park(being that area shown in Figure 62-289.6) 

 Addison Town Center 

1. This section includes the regulations for the Addison Town Sign District sign district as established by 

Ordinance No. 018-24-A, adopted August 14, 2018. 

2. One sign per facade not to exceed 100 square feet, maximum square footage shall be one and one-

half times the length of facade, maximum letter height to be 24 inches for all letters, maximum width 

of sign to be 75 percent of width of facade; or  

3. One sign allowed per 20 feet of linear frontage, maximum square footage of sign to be three and one-

half percent of square footage of facade, maximum letter height to be six feet for all letters.  

 Village on the Parkway   

1. Pylon Signs/Multitenant Wall Signs 

a. A multitenant pylon sign and a multitenant wall sign shall be allowed containing sign panels for 

multiple tenants.  

b. Shall be constructed as shown in Figure 62-289.B.  

c. Shall be placed as shown in Figure 62-289.A.  

2. Multi-tenant Monument Signs 

a. Three multi-tenant monument shall be allowed containing sign panels for multiple tenants.  

b. Shall be constructed as shown in Figure 62-289.C.  

c. Shall be placed as shown in Figure 62-289.A.  



 Appendix A: Sign Districts and Master Sign Plans 
  Sign District Regulations  

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Appendix A: Master Sign Plan Figures  3 

3. Single-tenant Monument Sign 

a. One single-tenant monument sign shall be allowed.  

b. Shall be constructed as shown in Figure 62-289.D.  

c. Shall be placed as shown in Figure 62-289.A.  

4. Grocery Tenant Signs 

a. Grocery Tenant, is defined as tenant located in Block 1000 of Figure 62.289.A.  

b. Shall be allowed attached signs constructed as shown in Figure 62.289.E.  

5. Health Club Tenant Signs 

a. Health Club tenant is defined as tenant located in Block 600 of Figure 62.289.A.  

b. Shall be allowed attached signs constructed as shown in Figure 62.289.F.  

6. Theatre Tenant Signs 

a. Theatre Tenant is defined as tenant located in Block 200 of Figure 62.289.A.  

b. Shall be allowed attached signs constructed and placed as shown in Figure 62.289.G.  

7. Attached Commercial Tenant Identification Signs 

a. Attached Commercial Tenant Identification Signs shall include: Wall Signs and Flag Signs.  

b. The maximum sign area per facade for all Attached Commercial Tenant Identification Signs is two 

square feet of attached sign area per linear foot of façade.  

8. Wall Sign 

a. Each commercial tenant may have one wall sign per façade.  

b. Maximum Area of a wall sign on each façade shall not exceed the maximum sign area per façade 

as defined in Section 62-289(b)7(b).  

c. No wall sign shall have a length which exceeds 75 percent of tenant frontage.  

d. Individual letters and logos for wall signs shall not exceed 36 inches in height.  

9. Flag Sign 

a. Each commercial tenant may have one Flag Sign per façade in addition to one Wall Sign.  

b. The combined area for a Wall Sign and a Flag Sign shall not exceed the Maximum Area per façade 

for all Attached Commercial Tenant Identification Signs, as defined in Section 62-289(b)7(b).  

c. Flag Signs mounted at the corner of a building shall count 50 percent of the sign area square 

footage toward the total square footage for each façade.  

d. Shall be constructed as shown in Figure 62.289.H.  

e. Shall not be constructed of cloth or other synthetic fabric material.  

10. Signs on Awning 

a. Signs on the sloped surface of awnings are considered Wall Signs and shall be governed by the 

standards set forth for in Section 62-289(b)7. (Example of an awning sign shown in Figure 62.289.I.)  

b. Signs on the valance of an awning (valance is defined as a vertical surface at the lower edge of an 

awning, not exceeding six inches in height) are exempt from regulation. (Example shown in Figure 

62.289.I.)  

11. Secondary Business Identification Sign 

a. Each Commercial tenant may have a maximum of two additional secondary business identification 

signs selected from the following list:  

i. Secondary Blade sign: constructed and placed in accordance with Figure 62.289.J.  

ii. Secondary Wall Plaque sign: constructed and placed in accordance with Figure 62.289.K.  



 Appendix A: Sign Districts and Master Sign Plans 
  Sign District Regulations  

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Appendix A: Master Sign Plan Figures  4 

b. The area of the Secondary Business Identification Signs shall not be included in the maximum 

allowable square footage per façade as defined in Section 62-289(b)7.b.  

12. Window Sign: 

Signs in windows exempt from permitting requirements, and are not included in the maximum 

allowable square footage per façade, as defined in Section 62-289(b)7.b., but are limited to not more 

than ten percent of the window area per façade.  

13. Pole-Mounted Banners 

a. Shall only be of a Seasonal and Promotional type.  

b. Shall not contain any advertising or promotional messages for individual tenants.  

c. Shall be constructed as shown in Figure 62-289.L.  

14. Kiosks Sign 

a. Kiosk signs with way-finding and non-premises signage are exempt from permit.  

b. Shall be constructed as shown in Figure 62-289.M.  

c. Shall be placed as shown in Figure 62-289.A.  

 Addison Circle  

1. Signs may project above the roof line, be placed perpendicular to the building, be placed on poles and 

in the city right of way in accordance with Figures 62-289.3.A.1, 62-289.3.A.2, 62-289.3.A.3, 62-289.3.A.4, 

and 62-289.3.A.5.  

2. Portable signs do not need a permit but shall comply with the following:  

a. Each commercial occupancy shall be allowed not more than one portable sign, which shall be 

located within the public sidewalk adjacent to the occupancy.  

b. A minimum of four feet of clear sidewalk shall be maintained at all times.  

c. Signs shall be constructed as shown in Figure 62-289.3.B.  

 Addison Walk Shopping Center 

Blade signs, premises signs on building facades and two multitenant pole signs may be constructed in 

accordance with Figures 62-289.4.1, 62-289.4.2, 62-489.4.3, and 62-289.4.4.  

 Inwood Quorum Village  

Attached signs with letter heights of 24 inches and 30 inches may be constructed in accordance with Figure 

62-289.5.  

 Dallas Parkway 

1. Monument signs for real property abutting Dallas Parkway may be constructed as follows: The sign 

with base shall not exceed eight feet in overall height above the natural grade, the actual sign face shall 

not exceed 72 square feet in area per side, and the sign shall be located within 50 feet of Dallas 

Parkway.  

2. Real estate/leasing signs may be constructed as follows:  

a. Maximum 108 square feet in area.  

b. Maximum total square footage of the four allowed signs 144 square feet.  

c. Minimum setbacks from street curb as set forth in section 62-184 of the Code of Ordinances of the 

town. Signs exceeding 36 square feet shall be located within 50 feet of Dallas Parkway.  

d. Observe 35-foot visibility triangle.  

e. The permit shall be renewed every 12 months. Prior to the issuance of the permit and any renewal 

thereof the sign shall be subject to inspection and approval to insure compliance with all 

ordinances of the Town of Addison.  



 Appendix A: Sign Districts and Master Sign Plans 
  Sign District Regulations  

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Appendix A: Master Sign Plan Figures  5 

3. Section 62-270 prohibiting luminaries of any type that outline the elements of a building facade, shall 

not apply to buildings that are six or more stories in height.  

 Vitruvian Park   

1. Reference Ordinance 

This section includes the regulations for the Vitruvian Park sign district as established by Ordinance No. 

018-24-A, adopted August 14, 2018. 

2. Attached Commercial Tenant Identification Sign 

a. Each commercial tenant may have one sign per 50 lineal feet of building frontage, with a 

maximum of two signs spaced a minimum of 25 feet apart.  

b. The sign area is limited to one square foot of sign per lineal foot of building frontage up to a 

maximum of 200 square feet of total sign area with no individual sign exceeding 100 square feet in 

area.  

c. The sign may project more than 18 inches from the building facade.  

d. Signs projecting more than 18 inches from the building facade shall be located a minimum of eight 

feet above grade.  

e. Signs shall be placed on exterior facades common with the tenant space.  

f. Letters and logos below 36 feet above grade may have a maximum height of 26 inches.  

3. Attached Commercial Blade Signs 

a. Each commercial tenant may have a blade signs in addition to a tenant identification sign.  

b. Each commercial tenant may have one sign per 50 lineal feet of building frontage, with a 

maximum of two signs spaced a minimum of 25 feet apart.  

c. The maximum projection from the building facade shall not exceed four feet.  

d. The minimum height above the sidewalk shall not be less than eight feet.  

e. The maximum height above the sidewalk shall not exceed ten feet.  

f. The sign shall not exceed nine square feet in area.  

g. The signs shall be placed on exterior facades common with the tenant space.  

h. Letters and logos may have a maximum height of 26 inches.  

4. Portable Signs 

Portable signs do not need a permit but shall comply with the following:  

a. Each commercial tenant shall be allowed not more than one portable sign, which shall be located 

within the public sidewalk adjacent to the occupancy.  

b. A minimum of four feet of clear sidewalk shall be maintained at all times.  

c. Signs shall be constructed as shown in Figure 62-289.3B.  

5. Monument Signs 

a. Shall be constructed as shown in Figure 62-289.7, and Figure 62-289.7.B.  

b. Shall be placed as shown in Figure 62-289.8, and Figure 62-289.8.B.  

6. Pole Signs 

a. Shall be constructed as shown in Figure 62-289.9.  

b. Shall only be of a seasonal or decorative type.  

 



 Appendix A: Sign Districts and Master Sign Plans 
  Village on the Parkway  

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Appendix A: Master Sign Plan Figures  6 

Village on the Parkway 

 



 Appendix A: Sign Districts and Master Sign Plans 
  Village on the Parkway  

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Appendix A: Master Sign Plan Figures  7 

 



 Appendix A: Sign Districts and Master Sign Plans 
  Village on the Parkway  

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Appendix A: Master Sign Plan Figures  8 

 

 



 Appendix A: Sign Districts and Master Sign Plans 
  Village on the Parkway  

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Appendix A: Master Sign Plan Figures  9 

 



 Appendix A: Sign Districts and Master Sign Plans 
  Village on the Parkway  

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Appendix A: Master Sign Plan Figures  10 

 



 Appendix A: Sign Districts and Master Sign Plans 
  Village on the Parkway  

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Appendix A: Master Sign Plan Figures  11 

 



 Appendix A: Sign Districts and Master Sign Plans 
  Village on the Parkway  

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Appendix A: Master Sign Plan Figures  12 

 



 Appendix A: Sign Districts and Master Sign Plans 
  Village on the Parkway  

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Appendix A: Master Sign Plan Figures  13 

 



 Appendix A: Sign Districts and Master Sign Plans 
  Village on the Parkway  

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Appendix A: Master Sign Plan Figures  14 

 



 Appendix A: Sign Districts and Master Sign Plans 
  Village on the Parkway  

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Appendix A: Master Sign Plan Figures  15 

 



 Appendix A: Sign Districts and Master Sign Plans 
  Village on the Parkway  

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Appendix A: Master Sign Plan Figures  16 

 



 Appendix A: Sign Districts and Master Sign Plans 
  Village on the Parkway  

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Appendix A: Master Sign Plan Figures  17 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 Appendix A: Sign Districts and Master Sign Plans 
  Addison Circle  

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Appendix A: Master Sign Plan Figures  18 

Addison Circle 

 



 Appendix A: Sign Districts and Master Sign Plans 
  Addison Circle  

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Appendix A: Master Sign Plan Figures  19 

 



 Appendix A: Sign Districts and Master Sign Plans 
  Addison Circle  

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Appendix A: Master Sign Plan Figures  20 

 



 Appendix A: Sign Districts and Master Sign Plans 
  Addison Circle  

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Appendix A: Master Sign Plan Figures  21 

 



 Appendix A: Sign Districts and Master Sign Plans 
  Addison Circle  

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Appendix A: Master Sign Plan Figures  22 

 



 Appendix A: Sign Districts and Master Sign Plans 
  Addison Circle  

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Appendix A: Master Sign Plan Figures  23 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 Appendix A: Sign Districts and Master Sign Plans 
  Addison Walk Shopping Center  

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Appendix A: Master Sign Plan Figures  24 

Addison Walk Shopping Center 

 

FIGURE 62.289.4.1  

 



 Appendix A: Sign Districts and Master Sign Plans 
  Addison Walk Shopping Center  

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Appendix A: Master Sign Plan Figures  25 

 



 Appendix A: Sign Districts and Master Sign Plans 
  Addison Walk Shopping Center  

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Appendix A: Master Sign Plan Figures  26 

 



 Appendix A: Sign Districts and Master Sign Plans 
  Addison Walk Shopping Center  

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Appendix A: Master Sign Plan Figures  27 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 Appendix A: Sign Districts and Master Sign Plans 
  Inwood Quorum Village  

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Appendix A: Master Sign Plan Figures  28 

Inwood Quorum Village 

 

FIGURE 62-289.5  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 Appendix A: Sign Districts and Master Sign Plans 
  Vitruvian Park  

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Appendix A: Master Sign Plan Figures  29 

Vitruvian Park 

 



 Appendix A: Sign Districts and Master Sign Plans 
  Vitruvian Park  

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Appendix A: Master Sign Plan Figures  30 

 



 Appendix A: Sign Districts and Master Sign Plans 
  Vitruvian Park  

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Appendix A: Master Sign Plan Figures  31 

 



 Appendix A: Sign Districts and Master Sign Plans 
  Vitruvian Park  

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Appendix A: Master Sign Plan Figures  32 

 



 Appendix A: Sign Districts and Master Sign Plans 
  Vitruvian Park  

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Appendix A: Master Sign Plan Figures  33 

 



 Appendix A: Sign Districts and Master Sign Plans 
  Vitruvian Park  

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Appendix A: Master Sign Plan Figures  34 

 

FIGURE 62-289.9  

 

 



 Appendix A: Sign Districts and Master Sign Plans 
  Vitruvian Park  

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Appendix A: Master Sign Plan Figures  35 

 

 



 Appendix A: Sign Districts and Master Sign Plans 
  Vitruvian Park  

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Appendix A: Master Sign Plan Figures  36 

 

(Ord. No. 010-003, § 2(Exh. A) 1-26-10; Ord. No. 011-001, § 2(Exh. A), 1-11-11; Ord. No. 011-038, § 2(Exh. A), 5-24-
11; Ord. No. 013-018, § 2(Exh. A). 5-14-13; Ord. No. 014-005, § 2(Exh. A), 1-28-14 ; Ord. No. 014-016, § 2(Exh. A), 3-
25-14 ; Ord. No. 015-024, § 22, 10-13-15 ; Ord. No. 018-24-A, § 1, 8-14-18 ) 

 

 



Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT i 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Article 1: General Provisions .................................................................. 4 

1.1 Title ................................................................................................................................ 4 

1.2 Effective Date ............................................................................................................... 4 

1.3 Purpose.......................................................................................................................... 4 

1.4 Authority, Applicability, and Jurisdiction ................................................................. 5 
 Authority ....................................................................................................................................................... 5 
 Applicability .................................................................................................................................................. 5 
 Minimum Standards Required ................................................................................................................... 5 
 Conflicts with Other Ordinances, Criteria Manuals, and Master Plans ................................................. 5 
 Private Covenants ........................................................................................................................................ 6 
 Transfer of Ownership ................................................................................................................................ 6 
 Emergency Powers ...................................................................................................................................... 6 

1.5 Transition from Prior Regulations  ............................................................................ 6 
 Continuity of Provisions .............................................................................................................................. 6 
 Preliminary Plat Approvals ......................................................................................................................... 7 
 Approved Plans ............................................................................................................................................ 7 
 Nonconformities Under Prior Regulations ............................................................................................... 7 
 Uses, Lots, Structures, and Sites Rendered Nonconforming ................................................................. 7 
 Prior Violations............................................................................................................................................. 8 

1.6 Nonconformities .......................................................................................................... 8 
 Purpose ......................................................................................................................................................... 8 
 Regulations Applicable to All Nonconformities ....................................................................................... 8 
 Nonconforming Uses .................................................................................................................................. 9 
 Nonconforming Structures....................................................................................................................... 10 
 Nonconforming Lots ................................................................................................................................. 11 
 Nonconforming Site Features .................................................................................................................. 11 

1.7 Enforcement ............................................................................................................... 13 
 Purpose ....................................................................................................................................................... 13 
 Violations .................................................................................................................................................... 13 
 Enforcement Actions ................................................................................................................................. 14 
 Penalties and Remedies ........................................................................................................................... 15 

1.8 Severability ................................................................................................................. 15 

1.9 Review and Decision-Making Bodies ....................................................................... 16 
 Purpose ....................................................................................................................................................... 16 
 City Council ................................................................................................................................................. 16 
 Planning and Zoning Commission ........................................................................................................... 16 
 Board of Zoning Adjustment .................................................................................................................... 17 
 Director of Development Services ........................................................................................................... 18 
 Floodplain Administrator .......................................................................................................................... 18 

Article 2: Administration and Procedures .......................................... 19 

2.1 Purpose........................................................................................................................ 19 

2.2 Organization ............................................................................................................... 19 



 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT ii 

2.3 Summary Table of Review Procedures .................................................................... 19 

2.4 Common Review Procedures .................................................................................... 22 
 Purpose ....................................................................................................................................................... 22 
 Pre-Application Activities .......................................................................................................................... 22 
 Application Submittal and Processing .................................................................................................... 24 
 Staff Review ................................................................................................................................................ 26 
 Scheduling and Notice of Public Hearings .............................................................................................. 27 
 Review and Decision ................................................................................................................................. 32 
 Post-Decision Actions and Limitations .................................................................................................... 35 

2.5 Rezoning, Zoning Text, and Plan Amendment Procedures................................... 38 
 Special Use Permit ..................................................................................................................................... 38 
 Rezoning ..................................................................................................................................................... 41 
 Rezoning to Planned Development (PD)................................................................................................. 44 
 Zoning Text Amendment .......................................................................................................................... 53 
 Comprehensive Plan Amendment .......................................................................................................... 54 
 Annexation ................................................................................................................................................. 56 

2.6 Site Planning and Miscellaneous Permits ............................................................... 58 
 Concept Plan .............................................................................................................................................. 58 
 Site Plan Review ......................................................................................................................................... 61 
 Temporary Use Permit .............................................................................................................................. 65 
 Sign Permit ................................................................................................................................................. 66 
 Zoning Verification Letter ......................................................................................................................... 68 
 Change or Elimination of Nonconformity ............................................................................................... 69 

2.7 Engineering Plans, Studies, and Site Development Permits ................................ 70 

2.8 Agreements ................................................................................................................. 73 

2.9 Platting Procedures ................................................................................................... 74 
 Standards that Apply to All Platting Procedures .................................................................................... 74 
 Preliminary Plat or Preliminary Replat .................................................................................................... 76 
 Final Plat ..................................................................................................................................................... 79 
 Replat .......................................................................................................................................................... 82 
 Minor or Amending Plat ........................................................................................................................... 84 
 Vacating Plat ............................................................................................................................................... 86 

2.10 Flexibility and Relief Procedures ............................................................................. 87 
 Variance .................................................................................................................................................... 87 
 Subdivision Variance ............................................................................................................................... 89 
 Minor Modification .................................................................................................................................. 91 
 Alternative Equivalent Compliance ....................................................................................................... 94 
 Appeal of Administrative Decision ........................................................................................................ 96 
 Interpretations ......................................................................................................................................... 97 

Article 3: Zoning Districts ..................................................................... 99 

Article 4: Use Regulations ................................................................... 100 

Article 5: Development Standards .................................................... 100 

Article 6: Subdivision Standards ........................................................ 100 



 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT iii 

Article 7: Definitions ........................................................................... 101 

7.1 Rules of Construction .............................................................................................. 101 
 Meanings and Intent ............................................................................................................................... 101 
 Headings, Illustrations, and Text ........................................................................................................... 101 
 Lists and Examples .................................................................................................................................. 101 
 Computation of Time .............................................................................................................................. 101 
 Technical and Non-Technical Terms ..................................................................................................... 101 
 Mandatory and Discretionary Terms .................................................................................................... 101 
 Conjunctions ............................................................................................................................................ 101 
 Tenses, Plurals, and Gender ................................................................................................................... 102 
 Titles and Headings ................................................................................................................................. 102 

7.2 Use-Related Definitions .......................................................................................... 102 

7.3 Other Defined Terms ............................................................................................... 102 
 Flood Definitions ..................................................................................................................................... 102 
 Airport Definitions ................................................................................................................................... 102 
 All Other Definitions ................................................................................................................................ 103 



Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT 4 

Article 1: General Provisions 
Commentary: 

This article includes general provisions that apply to the Unified Development Code (UDC) as a whole and set the 

overall legal foundation, such as the general purpose and intent and the applicability of the UDC. This article also 

addresses enforcement, including violations and penalties, and nonconformities. 

1.1 Title 
This ordinance shall be known, cited, and referred to as the Unified Development Code of the Town of Addison, 

Texas. It is referred to in this ordinance as the “Unified Development Code,” or “this UDC.” 

1.2 Effective Date 
This UDC shall become effective upon adoption by the City Council on [insert effective date]. 

1.3 Purpose1 
Pursuant to the Texas Local Government Code (TLGC), the City Council enacts this UDC to: 

 Promote the public health, safety, and general welfare of Town residents; 

 Implement the policies and objectives in the Comprehensive Plan; 

 Secure safety from fire, panic, and other natural and man-made dangers; 

 Protect life and property in areas subject to floods and other natural disasters;2 

 Provide adequate light, air, and open space; 

 Lessen congestion in the streets while enhancing pedestrian and vehicular movement with the least 

detriment to environmental quality;3 

 Ensure environmentally sensitive Site Planning that preserves the Town’s tree canopy and natural areas; 

 Prevent the overcrowding of land and avoid undue concentration of population; 

 Facilitate the adequate provision of transportation infrastructure, water and sewage services, schools, 

parks, trails, and other public requirements and to avoid transportation, public service, and facility 

demands that cannot be satisfied;4  

 Ensure that development and resource decisions are sustainable not only for the current residents of 

Addison but for future residents and generations;5 

 Provide a mix of land uses that provide employment opportunities, social amenities, and housing within 

the Town to promote economic resiliency;6 

 Emphasize the importance of high-quality urban design in the built environment; 

 Consider the immediate and long-range financial impact of the application of particular land to particular 

kinds of development, and the relative suitability of the land for development;7 

 Conserve the value of buildings and encourage the appropriate use of land, buildings, and structures; and 

 
1  Replaces current Appendix A, §2. 
2  New. 
3  Expanded to reference pedestrian and vehicular movement and environmental quality. 
4  Expanded to include language regarding avoiding demands that cannot be satisfied. 
5  New. 
6  New. 
7  New. 



 Article 1: General Provisions 
  1.4 Authority, Applicability, and Jurisdiction  

 1.4.1 Authority 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  5 

 Establish procedures for the processing of planning and zoning actions that affect the development and 

use of property in Addison. 

1.4 Authority, Applicability, and Jurisdiction8 

 Authority 

This UDC is adopted pursuant to the authority in Article I of the Addison Municipal Charter, as amended, and 

enacted pursuant to the powers granted and limitations imposed by provisions of the State of Texas, including 

the statutory authority granted in Chapters 42, 43, 211, 212, and 213 of the TLGC, and all other relevant 

provisions of the State of Texas.  

 Applicability9 

 Unless otherwise stated or permitted by law, the provisions of this UDC shall apply to all land, buildings, 

structures, or appurtenances on such land located within the Town, that are occupied, used, erected, 

altered, removed, demolished, or converted after the effective date of this UDC. 

 No permit, certificate, or approval of any use that is subject to this UDC shall be issued or granted by any 

department, agency, Town official, or Town employee without a finding of compliance with this UDC having 

been issued by the appropriate review authority. 

 Unless otherwise stated in this UDC, no building or structure shall be erected, moved, converted, enlarged, 

reconstructed, or altered, nor shall any land, building, or structure be used, developed, or intended to be 

used for any purpose whatsoever, without a determination of compliance by the Director. 

 No lot of record that did not exist prior to the effective date of this UDC shall be created unless it complies 

with this UDC. 

 Minimum Standards Required11 

The provisions of this UDC, as amended, shall be the minimum requirements for the promotion of the public 

safety, health, convenience, comfort, prosperity, or general welfare, and shall be the minimum criteria required 

for a review procedure to commence.12 Additional technical information and analysis may be required of 

applicants to demonstrate compliance with this UDC.13  

 Conflicts with Other Ordinances, Criteria Manuals, and Master Plans14 

 Whenever any provision of this UDC refers to or cites a section of the Texas state statutes and that section 

is later amended or superseded, this UDC shall be deemed amended to refer to the amended section or 

the section that most nearly corresponds to the superseded section, as determined by the Director. 

 Whenever a provision of this UDC requires or authorizes an officer or employee of the Town to do some 

act or perform some duty, it shall be construed to authorize the officer or employee to designate, delegate, 

and authorize subordinates to perform the act or duty, unless the terms of the provision designate 

otherwise. 

 Whenever any provision of this UDC conflicts with other provisions of the Code of Ordinances, the stricter 

provision, as determined by the Director following the interpretation procedure in §2.10.6: Interpretations, 

shall govern. 

 
8  New. 
9  Replaces Article XXVI, Sec. 1.A.  
11  Carries forward Article XXXI, Sec. 1.  
12  “and shall be the minimum criteria required for a review procedure to commence” is new. 
13  New. 
14  New.  



 Article 1: General Provisions 
  1.5 Transition from Prior Regulations  

 1.4.5 Private Covenants 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  6 

 Whenever any provision of this UDC conflicts with a Criteria Manual adopted by the Town of Addison, the 

more stringent controls, as determined by the Director. 

 Whenever any provision of this UDC conflicts with a Master Plan adopted by the Town of Addison, the 

Master Plan shall govern, as determined by the Director.15 

 All Criteria Manuals and Master Plans are available online on the Town’s website. Criteria Manuals and 

Master Plans are maintained and updated by the Town as necessary. 

 Private Covenants16 

This UDC is not intended to interfere with, revoke, or repeal any easement, covenant, or other agreement 

between private parties. No covenant or deed restriction shall excuse any failure to comply with this UDC. In no 

case shall the Town be obligated to monitor or enforce any easement, covenant, or agreement between private 

parties unless the Town is a party to such agreement and elects to pursue enforcement. 

 Transfer of Ownership17 

Permits, licenses, or approvals authorizing a particular use of land or structure shall transfer with the 

ownership of the land or structure so long as the land or structures, or any portion of the land or structures, 

continue to be used for the purpose and in the manner authorized by a permit, license, or approval, unless 

otherwise provided in this UDC. No person, including a successor or assignee of the person who obtained the 

permit or approval, may use the land or structure except in accordance with all the terms, conditions, and 

requirements of the permit or approval. 

 Emergency Powers 

The Mayor and/or the City Council may authorize any deviation from this UDC during a local state of disaster in 

accordance with Texas Local Government Code Chapter 418. Such deviations may be authorized by resolution 

of the City Council during a local emergency without a requirement for prior notice or public hearing. 

1.5 Transition from Prior Regulations18 19 

 Continuity of Provisions 

The provisions of this UDC, insofar as they are substantially the same as previously existing regulations relating 

to the same subject matter, shall be construed as restatements and continuations thereof and not new 

enactments. Any actions, proceedings, permits, or approvals commenced or issued pursuant to any previously 

existing ordinance and subject to TLGC Chapter 245 shall not be affected by the enactment of this UDC. 

 
15  New. 
16  Carries forward Article XXXI, Sec.1. Deleted “Where the regulations of this UDC are more restrictive or impose higher standards than 

such easement, covenant, or agreement, the regulations of this UDC shall govern.” 
17  New, often included in development codes for clarity.  
18  New. These provisions are intended to provide clarity for how the Town will transition from the old development regulations to this new 

UDC. As noted, some provisions could instead be located in the cover adoption ordinance, rather than the UDC itself. 
19  The following is intended for the adopting ordinance: “Pending Applications: A. Any complete application subject to TLGC § 245 that has 

been submitted for approval, but upon which no final action has been taken by the appropriate decision-making body prior to the 
effective date of this UDC, shall be reviewed in accordance with the regulations in effect on the date the application was deemed 
complete unless the applicant requests otherwise pursuant to §1.5.2B below. If the applicant fails to comply with any applicable required 
period for submittal or other procedural requirements, the application shall expire and subsequent applications shall be subject to the 
requirements of this UDC. Any re-application of an expired project approval shall meet the standards in effect at the time of re-
application. B. An applicant with a complete application subject to TLGC § 245 that has been submitted for approval, but upon which no 
final action has been taken prior to the effective date of this UDC, may submit a written request for the complete application to be 
reviewed under this UDC. 



 Article 1: General Provisions 
  1.5 Transition from Prior Regulations  

 1.1.1  

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  7 

 Preliminary Plat Approvals21 

 An application for which approval of a Preliminary Plat was granted prior to the effective date of this UDC 

shall be considered as having received Preliminary Plat approval under this UDC.  

 Preliminary plat approvals granted under the previous regulations shall be valid for two years from the 

date of approval.  

 Failure to obtain a Final Plat approval, within two years of the approval of a Preliminary Plat, shall result in 

the expiration of the Preliminary Plat.  

 Approved Plans22 

 Any permits or licenses subject to the standards of this UDC that are valid on the effective date of this UDC 

shall remain valid until their expiration date. Projects with valid permits or licenses may be carried out in 

accordance with the zoning and subdivision regulations in effect at the time of approval, provided that the 

permit or license remains valid and has not lapsed. 

 No provision of this UDC shall require any change in the plans, construction, or designated use of any 

structure for which a building permit has been issued prior to the effective date of this UDC, unless the 

building permit has expired. 

 The Director may renew or extend the time of a previous approval of a plan that was administratively 

approved if the required findings or criteria for approval remain valid. Any extension granted shall not 

exceed one year in length, and no more than one extension may be granted.  

 Non-administratively approved plans may be granted one extension not exceeding one year in length, from 

the reviewing body by which they were originally approved as identified in §2.3: Summary Table of Review 

Procedures, where such extension would be permissible under the zoning and subdivision regulations in 

effect at the time of approval. 

 Any re-application for an expired project approval shall meet the standards in effect at the time of 

reapplication. 

 Nonconformities Under Prior Regulations 

Any nonconformity under the previous zoning and subdivision regulations that has been issued a Certificate of 

Occupancy will remain a nonconformity under this UDC, as long as the situation that resulted in the prior 

nonconforming status continues to exist and complies with the provisions of this UDC. If a nonconformity 

under the previous zoning and subdivision regulations becomes conforming because of the adoption of this 

UDC, then the situation will no longer be a nonconformity. 

 Uses, Lots, Structures, and Sites Rendered Nonconforming23 

 When a lot is used for a purpose that was a lawful use before the effective date of this UDC, and when a 

Certificate of Occupancy was issued and this UDC no longer classifies such use as either a permitted use or 

special use in the zoning district in which it is located, such use shall be considered nonconforming and 

shall be controlled by the provisions of §1.6: Nonconformities. 

 Where any building, structure, lot, or development site that legally existed on the effective date of this UDC 

and does not meet all standards set forth in this UDC, such building, structure, lot, or development shall be 

considered nonconforming and shall be controlled by the provisions of §1.6: Nonconformities. 

 
21  Consider also moving this to the adopting ordinance. 
22  Replaces current Article XXXIII, Sec. 1. 
23  Replaces current Article XXXIV, Sec. 1. 



 Article 1: General Provisions 
  1.6 Nonconformities  

 1.5.6 Prior Violations 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  8 

 Prior Violations 

Any violation of the previous zoning and subdivision regulations will continue to be a violation under this UDC 

and be subject to penalties and enforcement under Section1.7: Enforcement, unless the use, development, 

construction, or other activity complies with the provisions of this UDC. The enactment of this UDC shall not 

abate any pending prosecution and/or lawsuit or prevent any prosecution and/or lawsuit from being 

commenced for any violation of a previously existing ordinance occurring before the effective date of this UDC. 

1.6 Nonconformities24 
Commentary: 

This section expands current Article XXIII to specify different types of nonconformities (lots, structures, uses, site 

features, etc.) rather than using the more limiting term “nonconforming use.” This draft introduces new standards 

applicable to all nonconformities as well as additional standards specific to each type of nonconformity. This section 

includes flexible standards that make it clear what types of improvements are allowed to existing nonconformities. 

 Purpose25 

 This section governs uses, structures, lots, and site features that came into existence legally prior to the 

effective date of this UDC or the effective date of any future amendments to this UDC and remained in 

continuous use from the time of their inception but do not now comply with or conform to one or more 

requirements of this UDC, as amended. All such situations are collectively referred to in this UDC as 

“nonconformities.” 

 Any nonconformity resulting from the initial adoption or future amendment of this UDC, may be continued 

or maintained only in accordance with the terms of this section. While nonconformities may continue, the 

provisions of this section are designed to curtail substantial investment in nonconformities to bring about 

their eventual elimination in order to preserve the integrity of this UDC and the goals of the Town. This 

section also is intended to recognize the variety of practical issues in bringing nonconforming situations 

into compliance and give the Town discretion to balance competing demands.  

 Regulations Applicable to All Nonconformities26 

 Authority to Continue 

1. Nonconformities may continue to be used and occupied, subject to regulations as to the maintenance 

of premises and conditions of operations set forth in this section, or unless such nonconformity is 

terminated as provided in this section. 

2. Nonconformities shall not be modified in any way that increases the degree of nonconformity.  

3. The right to continue nonconformities shall be subject to regulations prohibiting nuisances and shall 

be terminated when such use constitutes a nuisance. Such nonconformities shall be subject to such 

reasonable regulations as the Board of Zoning Adjustment may require to protect adjacent property 

and shall be subject to the specific nonconformity regulations herein contained.27 

4. A nonconformity shall lose its nonconforming status when a use, structure, or site improvement 

modifies a nonconformity without being lawfully authorized in accordance with the provisions of this 

UDC. Such use and/or structure shall therefore cease all operations until such time that the required 

plans and/or permits are approved. 

 
24  The nonconforming sign provisions will be included in §4.10, Signs in the Consolidated Draft. 
25  New.  
26  New. Additional discussion necessary regarding the new Texas law on nonconforming uses, SB 929. It essentially requires two things: If a 

city, through a Rezoning, renders a use nonconforming, the city must notify the property owner, and if a city requires that 
nonconforming use to stop, the city must pay the costs to halt the use, plus lost market value costs. 

   New. 
27  Carries forward current Article XXIII, Sec. 2.  



 Article 1: General Provisions 
  1.6 Nonconformities  

 1.6.3 Nonconforming Uses 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  9 

 Determination of Nonconformity Status28 

The burden of establishing the existence of a nonconformity shall be solely on the owner of the property 

containing the nonconformity. Valid and compliant nonconforming status is an affirmative defense to 

violations of this UDC. 

 Maintenance and Minor Repair29 

Minor repairs and maintenance of nonconformities are permitted and encouraged, provided that the 

repairs and maintenance do not increase the degree of nonconformity. Minor repairs and maintenance 

include the following: 

1. Repairs necessary to maintain and to correct any damage or deterioration to the structural soundness 

of, or the exterior or interior appearance of, a structure without expanding the height or footprint of 

the structure, unless compliant with this UDC; 

2. Maintenance of land to protect against and mitigate health and environmental hazards;  

3. Repairs that are required to remedy unsafe conditions; and 

4. Repairs necessary to comply with current building code requirements. 

 Change of Ownership or Tenancy30 

Changes in ownership, tenancy, or management of property (that do not include changes in occupancy or 

operation) with an existing nonconformity may occur, but such nonconformities shall continue to be 

subject to the standards of this section.  

 Compliance to the Maximum Extent Practicable 

Where compliance with the requirements of this UDC is precluded by a lack of sufficient developable area 

due to the size and disposition of the lot, the layout of existing development, or the presence of significant 

wetlands, floodplains, watercourses, hazard areas, or other significant environmental constraints, the 

applicant shall comply with the requirements of this section to the maximum extent practicable, as 

determined by the Director. 

 Nonconformity Due to Outside Action32 

Where the acquisition of right-of-way or a portion of the property, by eminent domain, dedication or 

purchase, by a Town, county, state, or federal agency creates noncompliance of a lawful existing use, 

structure, lot, or site feature, such uses, structures, lots, or site features shall be deemed lawful despite a 

deficiency in required development standards created by the acquisition. Such designation shall apply only 

to noncompliance that results directly from the acquisition of right-of-way. 

 Nonconforming Uses 

Nonconforming uses of land or structures are subject to the following additional limitations: 

 Limitation on Continuation of Nonconforming Uses33 

1. A nonconforming use may be extended throughout the same building, provided that: 

a. The nonconforming use does not constitute a nuisance; 

b. No structural alteration of the building (or portion of such building containing the nonconforming 

use in the case of buildings with multiple uses) shall be permitted; 

c. No additional dwelling units shall be permitted in the building; and 

 
28  New. Some communities establish a Certificate of Zoning Compliance procedure to allow, in part, a determination of nonconforming 

status. Some communities also establish mapping and registration of nonconformities, though this is labor-intensive. 
29  New. This is increasingly common for cities looking to offer a more lenient approach to maintaining nonconformities. 
30  Replaces current Article XXIII, Sec. 8.  
32  Expands applicability of current Article XXIII, Sec. 11. 
33  Consolidates current Article XXIII, Sec. 2 and 6.  



 Article 1: General Provisions 
  1.6 Nonconformities  

 1.6.4 Nonconforming Structures 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  10 

d. No additional nonresidential units and/or uses shall be permitted. 

2. Any existing occupied single-family residential dwelling that is deemed to be a nonconforming use may 

make improvements to the main and accessory structure so long as improvements do not increase the 

degree of nonconformity or increase the height or building footprint. 34 

3. No additional structure not conforming to the requirements of this UDC shall be erected in connection 

with the nonconforming use of land or building.35  

4. Whenever a nonconforming use of land or a building has been replaced with a conforming use, the 

special equipment and furnishings particular to the nonconforming use have been removed from the 

premises and have not been replaced for a continuous period of six months, or the intention of the 

owner to permanently discontinue the use is apparent, the nonconforming use shall be considered 

discontinued and future use of the land or building shall comply with this UDC.36 

5. A building occupied by a nonconforming use that has been destroyed by fire or extreme weather shall 

not be reconstructed or rebuilt except to conform with the provisions in this section. In the case of 

partial destruction by fire or other causes, not exceeding 50 percent of its current replacement value, 

the Building Official shall issue a permit for reconstruction. If greater than 50 percent, the building shall 

be made to conform with this UDC.37 

 Change of Use38 

1. A nonconforming use shall not be changed to another nonconforming use.  

2. A nonconforming use, if changed to a conforming use, may not be subsequently changed back to any 

nonconforming use unless otherwise permitted by this UDC. 

 Nonconforming Structures 

Nonconforming structures are subject to the following additional limitations: 

 A nonconforming structure may only be expanded pursuant to §1.6.2C: Maintenance and Minor Repair, 

and any such expansion shall be in full compliance with this UDC.39  

 No nonconforming structure may be enlarged or altered in a way that increases the nonconformity of the 

structure, but any structure or portion of a structure may be altered to decrease the nonconformity of the 

structure.40  

 Whenever a nonconforming structure is discontinued for one year or more, all nonconforming rights shall 

cease, and the use of the premises or the structure shall be in conformance with this UDC. A 

nonconforming structure shall be considered discontinued if the property or structure is vacant and no 

attempt to market the property is observable on the property or from the exterior of any structure, or that 

the property or structure is vacant and City taxes owed on the property are delinquent.41 

 A nonconforming structure that has been damaged or destroyed by fire or other causes may be restored to 

its original condition, provided that such work is commenced within one year of such event and has been 

completed or diligently pursued within 18 months of such event. By written request from the property 

owner stating reasons for the delay, the Director may grant one extension of either the work 

commencement and/or the completion of work time period.42 

 
34  New. This provision is intended to protect nonconforming single-family residences by allowing basic improvements to be performed.  
35  New.  
36  Replaces current Article XXIII, Sec. 10. Specific abandonment rules for structures added to the Nonconforming Structures section. 

Removed “the intention of the owner to permanently discontinue the use is apparent” as this language is challenging to enforce.  
37  Carries forward current Article XXIII, Sec. 4. 

38 Replaces current Article XXIII, Sec. 9.  
39  New.  
40  New.  
41  New. 
42  New accidental damage provision for nonconforming structures. 



 Article 1: General Provisions 
  1.6 Nonconformities  

 1.6.5 Nonconforming Lots 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  11 

 The right to operate and maintain any nonconforming structure shall terminate and shall cease to exist 

whenever the nonconforming structure becomes substandard under any applicable ordinance of the Town 

and the cost of placing such structure in lawful compliance with the applicable ordinance exceeds 50 

percent of the replacement cost of such structure on the date that the Building Official determines that 

such structure is substandard. In determining the replacement cost of any nonconforming structure, the 

cost of the land or any factors other than the nonconforming structure itself including foundation shall not 

be included.43  

 Nonconforming Lots44 

A nonconforming lot that was made nonconforming by virtue of enactment of this UDC may be used for 

construction of a building or structure allowed in the applicable zoning district, provided that all other zoning 

district and dimensional standards are met.45  

 Nonconforming Site Features46 

 Applicability  

1. For purposes of this subsection, the term “nonconforming site feature” includes, but is not limited to 

any driveway, off-street parking or loading area, buffer, landscaping, screening, or exterior lighting 

element that lawfully existed in accordance with regulations in place prior to the effective date of this 

UDC. Site features required by this UDC that do not exist after the Effective Date are also considered 

nonconforming site features.  

2. A nonconforming site feature may continue to exist even though it does not conform to current 

applicable standards of this UDC, subject to the requirements of this Subsection. 

3. No action shall be taken that increases the degree of the nonconformity of a site feature. 

 Nonconforming Parking 

1. Continuation of Nonconforming Parking 

Any parking spaces or parking lot access to public rights-of-way lawfully existing on the effective date 

of this UDC that are made nonconforming by virtue of enactment of this UDC shall be allowed to 

continue, provided that: 

a. If a change or expansion of a nonconforming use or structure is allowed under this §1.6, the 

additional number of parking spaces required to serve the changed or expanded area shall be 

provided in accordance with §4.6, Parking and Loading. For purposes of this provision, a change of 

use shall include reversion to a use that previously existed on a site but has not operated in more 

than six months. 

b. Nonconforming parking areas shall not be expanded, except pursuant to paragraph 2 below.  

2. Upgrading Nonconforming Parking47 

Nonconforming off-street parking facilities shall be upgraded to comply with this UDC’s minimum 

parking lot design requirements in §---48, and landscaping requirements in §---49, when any 

development occurs that would result in an addition to or expansion of one or more buildings or 

 
43  Carries forward Article XXIII, Sec. 4 and 5.  
44  New.  
45  New. This type of provision is increasingly common and is intended to allow development of otherwise nonconforming lots. 
46  New section as recommended in the Assessment for consideration. This is commonly included to allow for expansion of uses and 

buildings even when the site features may not be conforming. 
47  Confirm consistency with final redevelopment table in Development Standards chapter.  
48  Link to §4.6.7: Vehicle Parking Layout and Design, to be added in Consolidated Draft. 
49  Link to §4.7.4D: Parking Area Landscaping to be added in Consolidated Draft. 



 Article 1: General Provisions 
  1.6 Nonconformities  

 1.6.6 Nonconforming Site Features 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  12 

structures that would increase the total gross floor area of the buildings or structures by more than 50 

percent.  

 Nonconforming Buffers, Landscaping, Screening, and Exterior Lighting51 

1. Upgrading of Nonconforming Features Required for Certain Development 

Prior to the issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, nonconforming buffers, landscaping, screening 

elements, and exterior lighting shall be upgraded to comply with this UDC’s applicable standards for 

such features if any of the following development activities are proposed for the site containing the 

nonconforming site feature: 

a. An increase in the total square footage of the vehicular use area, including parking, loading, 

circulation, and driveway areas;  

b. A structural addition that increases the combined total gross floor area of all existing enclosed 

structures by more than 500 square feet or 20 percent, whichever is less;  

c. Building elevation changes involving 50 percent or more of the exterior walls of an enclosed 

structure on the property within a two-year period, excluding minor cosmetic maintenance such as 

painting or replacing lighting fixtures;  

d. The demolition of a building containing a principal use or the demolition of a suite or unit in a 

multitenant building; 

e. As determined by the Director, any request for a zoning map amendment, regardless of whether 

the nonconforming site feature is proposed to be changed; and/or 

f. Expansion of outdoor operations, storage, or display areas on a site containing nonconforming 

buffers or screening that increases the gross square footage of such areas by a certain percentage 

shall require upgrading to offset a corresponding percentage of the buffer or screening 

nonconformity, as determined by the Director. 

2. Alternatives to Upgraded Landscaping Authorized 52 

In meeting the upgrading requirements in subsection 1 above, a reduction in the count, configuration, 

or location of required landscaping materials may be allowed for nonconforming buffers, landscaping, 

screening, and exterior lighting when alternatives are justified by site or development conditions 

through an alternative landscape plan.53 Conditions justifying approval of an alternative landscape plan 

include: 

a. Natural conditions, such as watercourses, natural rock formations, or topography; 

b. The likelihood that required landscaping material at maturity would not achieve the intent of this 

UDC due to topography, placement, or other existing site conditions: 

c. Unique lot size or configuration; 

d. Challenges associated with infill development, reuse, or redevelopment on small lots; 

e. The presence of existing utility or other easements; 

f. The potential for interference with public safety; 

g. Preservation of natural vegetation; or 

h. Other situations where strict adherence to the buffer or landscaping standards in this UDC are 

determined impractical by the Director. 

 
51  Confirm consistency with final redevelopment table in Development Standards chapter.  
52  Consider relocating to development standards article, landscaping section, in consolidated code.  
53  Further discussion is required to determine if and how an alternative landscape plan should be formalized in the Landscaping, Buffering, 

and Fences chapter. 



 Article 1: General Provisions 
  1.1   

 1.7.1 Purpose 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  13 

3. Alternative Landscape Plan Approval Criteria 

The Director may approve alternative landscape plans that do not meet the specific requirements 

stated in this §1.6.6, when the Director determines that the alternatives meet the following criteria: 

a. Are consistent with the purposes of this §1.6.6; 

b. Do not include invasive vegetation included in an adopted Town, county, or state list of prohibited 

or invasive species; 

c. Provide equal or superior buffering of adjacent properties from anticipated impacts of the 

proposed development; and 

d. Provide equal or superior visual appearance of the property when viewed from a public right-of-

way. 

1.7 Enforcement 
Commentary: 

This section consolidates and expands current standards related to enforcement authority, procedures, actions, and 

penalties as well as new language to clarify when a violation of the UDC has occurred.  

 Purpose 

This section establishes procedures through which the Town seeks to ensure compliance with the provisions of 

this UDC and obtain corrections for violations of this UDC. This section also sets forth the remedies and 

penalties that apply to violations of this UDC. 

 Violations 

 Activities Constituting a Violation55 

Any person who violates any provision of this UDC or assists in the commission of any violation shall be 

guilty of a misdemeanor and shall be subject to a fine as provided in §1.7.4: Penalties and Remedies. Each 

of the following activities constitutes a violation of this UDC:  

1. Activity Inconsistent with UDC 

Any construction, reconstruction, remodeling, alteration, maintenance, expansion, movement, or use 

of any land, building, structure, or sign that is inconsistent with this UDC.  

2. Activity Inconsistent with a Permit or Approval 

Any development, use, or other activity that is in any way inconsistent with the terms or conditions of 

any permit or approval required to engage in such activity under this UDC. 

3. Illustrative Examples of Violations 

Example violations of this UDC include but are not limited to: 

a. Increase the density or intensity of any use or structure except in accordance with the 

requirements of this UDC; 

b. Reduce or diminish the lot area, setbacks, buffers, landscaping, trees, open space, or other 

standards below the minimum requirements established by this UDC; 

c. Failure to install, improve, or maintain any public or private improvements required by the terms 

of any permit or approval; 

d. Failure to abide by conditions of any approval or agreements executed in association with an 

approval; 

e. Failure to comply with applicable requirements for a certificate of occupancy or building permit; or  

 
55  Replaces current Article XXVIII, Sec. 1. New.  



 Article 1: General Provisions 
  1.7 Enforcement  

 1.1.1  

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  14 

f. Failure to obtain any required permit. 

 Continuing Violations56 

Any violation of this UDC shall be considered a separate offense for each day during any portion of which 

any violation of this UDC is continued past the date of the issuance of notice of violation, with each 

violation punishable in accordance with §1.7.4: Penalties and Remedies. 

 Prior Violations57 

Violations of the prior development regulations are continued in effect and are not excused by the 

adoption of this UDC. If a development or activity in violation of the prior development regulations fully 

complies with this UDC, that development or activity shall no longer be deemed a violation. 

 Violations within the Extraterritorial Jurisdiction58 

Any person who violates any applicable provision of this UDC within the extraterritorial jurisdiction shall 

not be guilty of a misdemeanor; however, the Town may institute any appropriate action or proceeding in 

the District Court to enjoin the violation of this UDC. 

 Persons Liable59 

The owner, tenant, or occupant of any building or land, or any part thereof, and any architect, builder, 

contractor, agent, or other person who participates in, assists, directs, creates, or maintains any situation 

that is contrary to the requirements of this UDC or a permit or approval issued pursuant to this UDC, may 

be held responsible for the violation and be subject to the penalties and remedies provided in this section. 

 Enforcement Actions60 

 Responsibility for Enforcement61 

The Director shall be entitled to enforce the provisions of this UDC, any amendment hereto, and any order 

or regulation made hereunder. It shall be unlawful for any person to hinder, prevent, delay, or interfere 

with authorized enforcement personnel in the performance of their duties. This shall not be construed as 

an attempt to prohibit the pursuit of any legal or equitable remedy in a court of competent jurisdiction for 

the protection of personal or property rights by any property owner within the town. 

 Investigation 

Whenever the Director or other enforcement authority receives a complaint alleging a violation of this UDC 

or a permit or approval issued under this UDC, the enforcement authority shall investigate the complaint 

and identify any enforcement action that may need to be taken.  

 Procedures Upon Discovery of Violations63 

1. If the Director finds that any provision of this UDC is being violated, they may send a written notice to 

the person responsible for such violation, indicating the nature of the violation and ordering the action 

necessary to correct it. The notice shall advise that the Director’s decision or order may be appealed to 

the Board of Zoning Adjustment, pursuant to §2.10.5: Appeal of Administrative Decision. 

 
56  New. 
57  New.  
58  New.  
59  New language clarifying who is liable in the event of a violation as recommended in the Review of Current Ordinances, broadens current 

Chapter 62, §62-35. 
60  New section to describe the enforcement process including timeframe for coming into compliance. 
61  Consolidates Sec. 30-211, Sec. 62-31 and Article XXVII, Sec. 1. and broadens the authority to enforce the UDC, rather than specifying 

certain positions for different sections of the code . 
63  Replaces and expands Sec. 30-211 to be applicable to all violations, not solely landscaping violations.  



 Article 1: General Provisions 
  1.1   

 1.7.4 Penalties and Remedies 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  15 

2. If the person responsible for the violation does not take action to correct the violation or to appeal the 

notice of violation within 10 days of the first notice, additional written notices that state the action the 

Director intends to take if the violation is not corrected may be sent at the Director’s discretion. 

3. When a delay would seriously threaten the effective enforcement of this UDC, or pose a danger to the 

public health, safety, and welfare, the Director may immediately issue an order for compliance by 

personal service, posting of the property, or certified mail. 

 Continuation of Prior Enforcement Actions 

Nothing in this UDC shall prohibit the continuation of previous enforcement actions undertaken by the 

Town pursuant to previous regulations.  

 Penalties and Remedies 

 Fines 

Any violation of this UDC shall be subject to a fine as provided in §1-7 of the Code of Ordinances.  

 Deny, Withhold or Revoke Entitlements65 

The City may utilize any enforcement remedies available in compliance with state law in order to gain 

compliance with the standards of this Code. Remedies include, but are not limited to: deny, withhold or 

revoke permits; ordering repair, removal, replacement, or alteration; fees/fines; or ordering discontinuance 

of those features or uses found to be out of compliance with this Code. 

 Stop-Work Orders66 

1. The Building Official or Director may issue a stop-work order whenever any building, structure, site, or 

portion of a building, structure, or site is being demolished, constructed, reconstructed, altered, or 

repaired in a hazardous manner, in substantial violation of any state or local building law, or in a 

manner that endangers life or property. 

2. The Director may issue a stop-work order on any property with an uncorrected violation of this UDC or 

approval issued under this UDC. 

3. A stop-work order shall be in writing and directed to the person doing the work and shall specify the 

provision of this UDC or other law in violation.  

4. If a stop-work order is issued, no work shall proceed on any building, structure, site, or portion of a 

building, structure, or site subject to the order except to correct a violation or to comply with the order. 

5. Once conditions cited in the stop-work order have been adequately addressed, the Building Official or 

Director shall rescind the stop-work order. 

1.8 Severability69 
A determination by a court of competent jurisdiction that any section, paragraph, subdivision, clause, phrase, or 

provision of this UDC is unconstitutional or invalid does not make the remainder of the UDC unconstitutional or 

invalid. A determination by a court that the application of this UDC to a particular structure or parcel of land is 

unconstitutional or invalid does not apply to any other structure or parcel of land. 

 

 

 
65 Replaces current Sec.30-211 and Sec. 62-55.  
66  New.  
69  Replaces current Article XXXVI.  



 Article 1: General Provisions 
  1.9 Review and Decision-Making Bodies  

 1.9.1 Purpose 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  16 

1.9 Review and Decision-Making Bodies 

 Purpose 

This section describes the organization, powers, and duties of the offices responsible for the administration of 

this UDC. 

 City Council 

The City Council shall have all powers granted to it by the Municipal Charter. In the administration and 

enforcement of this UDC, the City Council has the review and decision authority as shown in §2.3: Summary 

Table of Review Procedures.  

 Planning and Zoning Commission70 

 Duties and Authority71 

The Planning and Zoning Commission is hereby charged with the duty and invested with the authority to: 

1. Exercise the powers set forth in § 211.007 of the TLGC. 

2. Review and make recommendations or decisions as show in Table 2.3-1: Summary Table of Review 

Procedures pursuant to the application-specific procedures outlined in this UDC.  

3. Conduct related business and make other recommendations on matters that are specifically 

requested, assigned, or required by the City Council or Director.  

4. Submit each year a progress report to the City Council summarizing its activities, major 

accomplishments for the past year, and a proposed work program for the coming year. 

5. Adopt rules to govern its proceedings provided that such rules comply with state law or the provisions 

of the Town’s Code of Ordinances. 

 Officers72 

The commission shall elect a chairperson and vice-chairperson from among its members. The commission 

shall also elect a secretary and any other officers as it deems necessary either from its membership or 

from staff representatives assigned by the City Manager to work with the commission. 

 Compensation 

Planning and Zoning Commissioners shall be compensated as determined by the Town. 

 Meetings73 

1. All meetings of the commission shall be open to the public, unless otherwise specified for closed and 

executive sessions in the Texas Open Meetings Act.  

2. The dates, time, and place of commission meetings shall be set by the commission in consultation with 

Town officials.  

3. All proceedings of the commission shall be recorded in minutes of meetings, and such minutes be 

approved by the commission and made a matter of public record. 

 
70  Planning and Zoning Commission details currently split between Chapter 2 of Municipal Code and Article XXIX of the Zoning Code 

(Appendix A) – current draft integrates the content from the zoning code and cross-references Chapter 2. 
71 Replaces Article XXIX, Sec. 19. Consolidated (b), (c), (e), (f), (g). and (h) to reference the Summary Table of Review Procedures rather 

than list authority for individual development review procedures.  
72  Carries forward Article XXIX, Sec. 18. 
73 Replaces Article XXIX, Sec. 20 



 Article 1: General Provisions 
  1.9 Review and Decision-Making Bodies  

 1.9.4 Board of Zoning Adjustment 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  17 

 Appointment, Removal, Vacancy and Reappointment 

See Chapter 2, Sec. 2-310 of the Code of Ordinances.  

 Initial Appointments and Terms 

See Chapter 2, Sec. 2-311 of the Code of Ordinances.  

 Board of Zoning Adjustment75 

A Board of Zoning Adjustment is hereby established in accordance with the provisions of TLGC § 211.008 et 

seq., regarding the zoning of cities and with the powers and duties as provided in said statutes. 

 Duties and Authority 

1. The Board of Zoning Adjustment shall have the review and decision authority as shown in §2.3: 

Summary Table of Review Procedures pursuant to the application-specific procedures outlined in this 

UDC. 

2. The Board of Zoning Adjustment also has the powers and duties permitted under TLGC § 211.009. 

3. In exercising its powers, the board may, in conformity with the provisions of Chapter 211 of the TLGC, 

revise or reform, wholly or partly, or may modify the order, requirement, decision or determination as 

ought to be made and shall have all the powers of the officer from whom the appeal is taken. 

4. The Board of Zoning Adjustment shall serve as the Board of Appeals in accordance with the City’s 

adopted building codes.

 Meetings 

1. Meetings of the Board shall be held at the call of the Director. The Chairperson may administer oath 

and compel the attendance of witnesses.  

2. All meetings of the Board shall be open to the public, unless otherwise specified for closed and 

executive sessions in the Texas Open Meetings Act.  

3. The Board shall keep minutes of its proceedings showing the vote of each member upon each 

question, or, if absent or failing to vote, indicate such fact, and shall keep records of its examinations 

and other official actions, all of which shall be immediately filed in the office of the Board and shall be 

of public record. 

4. A decision of the Board shall be in writing and shall be filed in the Board’s office and with the Director 

on the day of the decision.  

 Appointment, Removal, Vacancy and Reappointment 

See Chapter 2, Sec. 2-315 of the Code of Ordinances.  

 Initial Appointments and Terms 

See Chapter 2, Sec. 2-316 of the Code of Ordinances.  

 Record of Petition77 

Any person or persons, jointly or severally, aggrieved by any decision of the Board of Zoning Adjustment or 

any taxpayer or any officer, department, or board of the municipality may present a verified petition to an 

authorized court of record in conformance with TLGC § 211.011, setting forth that such decision is illegal, in 

whole or in part, specifying the grounds of the illegality. Such petition shall be presented to the court within 

ten days after the filing of the decision in the Development Services Department and not thereafter. 

 
75  Replaces Article XXIV.  
77  Carries forward Article XXIV, Sec. 6.  



 Article 1: General Provisions 
  1.9 Review and Decision-Making Bodies  

 1.9.5 Director of Development Services 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  18 

 Director of Development Services 

 The Director and their designees shall have the authority to review and make decisions as shown in §2.3: 

Summary Table of Review Procedures pursuant to the application-specific procedures outlined in this UDC. 

 The Director shall have the right to enter upon any premises at any reasonable time for the purpose of 

making inspections of buildings or premises necessary to carry out their duties in the enforcement of this 

UDC. The Director may apply to the municipal court or other court of competent jurisdiction for such 

rights-of-entry or search warrants as may be required by law to carry out the foregoing duties. 78  

 Floodplain Administrator79  

The Floodplain Administrator is appointed by the City Manager to administer and implement the standards set 

forth in §---80 and other appropriate sections of Title 44 of the UDC of Federal Regulations (National Flood 

Insurance Program Regulations) pertaining to floodplain management.  

 Duties and Responsibilities  

Duties and responsibilities of the floodplain administrator include, but are not limited to, the following:  

1. Maintaining for public inspection all records pertaining to the provisions of this article.  

2. Reviewing permit applications to determine whether proposed building sites, including the placement 

of manufactured homes, will be reasonably safe from flooding.  

3. Reviewing all applications for development permits required by this article to determine that all permit 

requirements have been satisfied.  

4. Reviewing permits for proposed development to determine that all necessary permits have been 

obtained from those federal, state, or local governmental agencies (including §404 of the Federal Water 

Pollution Control Act Amendments of 1972, 33 U.S.C. 1334) from which prior approval is required.  

5. Making interpretations, where needed, as to the exact location of the boundaries of the areas of 

special flood hazards (for example, where there appears to be a conflict between a mapped boundary 

and actual field conditions).  

6. Notifying adjacent communities and the Texas Water Development Board prior to any alteration or 

relocation of a watercourse, and submitting evidence of such notification to the Federal Emergency 

Management Agency (FEMA).  

7. Assuring that the flood carrying capacity within the altered or relocated portion of any watercourse is 

maintained. 

8. Obtaining, reviewing, and reasonably utilizing any base flood elevation data and floodway data 

available from a federal, state, or other source, in order to administer this article, when base flood 

elevation data has not been provided in accordance with §42-37.  

9. Requiring that no new construction, substantial improvements, or other development (including fill) 

shall be permitted within Zones A1-30 and AE on the FIRM when a regulatory floodway has not been 

designated, unless it is demonstrated that the cumulative effect of the proposed development, when 

combined with all other existing and anticipated development, will not increase the water surface 

elevation of the base flood more than one foot at any point within the town.  

10. Under the provisions of Title 44, Chapter 1, §65.12 of the National Flood Insurance Program regulations 

in the UDC of Federal Regulations, a community may approve certain development in Zones A1-30, AE, 

AH, on the community's FIRM which increases the water surface elevation of the base flood by more 

than one foot, provided that the community first completes all of the provisions required by §65.12 of 

the Code of Federal Regulations.  

 
78  Replaces Sec. 34-34(a).  
79  Carries forward Sec. 42-56 & 57.  
80  Link to §4.3: Floods to be added in Consolidated Draft. 



Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT 19 

Article 2: Administration and 

Procedures 
Commentary: 

This article describes the process for reviewing and approving development applications in Addison. An introductory 

summary table provides an overview of the review procedures, the review and decision-making authorities, and public 

notice requirements. 

The next section includes common review procedures that apply to most development application types. Common 

review procedures will help Addison avoid repetition throughout the UDC and eliminate conflicting information 

among development applications. The remaining sections describe the application-specific development procedures, 

linking back to common review procedures and noting any modifications or additions. Each specific procedure 

includes a flowchart depicting the steps for review and approval. The final section of this article describes the decision-

making authorities in Addison as they relate to this UDC. 

In this section, we refer to an “administrative manual,” which is proposed to include the requirements for application 

submittal materials, fees, time periods for review, and other administrative information that does not need to be 

included in this UDC. 

2.1 Purpose 
This article describes the review and approval procedures for land use and development applications in the 

Town. 

2.2 Organization 
This article is divided into the following sections: 

 §2.3: Summary Table of Review Procedures, summarizes the development procedures in this UDC. 

 §2.4, Common Review Procedures, describes the standard procedures that apply to most development 

application types. 

 §2.5: Rezoning, Zoning Text, and Plan Amendment Procedures, contains criteria and any modifications to 

the common review procedures for major planning and zoning applications. 

 §2.6:   



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.3 Summary Table of Review Procedures  

 1.9.6 Floodplain Administrator 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  20 

 Site Planning and Miscellaneous Permits, contains approval criteria and any modifications to the common 

review procedures for administratively approved site-specific development applications. 

 §2.7: Engineering Plans, Studies, and Site Development Permits, describes plans and studies that may be 

required to inform the review and approval of development applications. 

 §2.8: Agreements, describes formal agreements that applicants may enter into with the Town. 

 §2.9: Platting Procedures, contains approval criteria and any modifications to the common review 

procedures for applications related to the division and conveyance of land. 

 §2.10: Flexibility and Relief Procedures, contains approval criteria and any modifications to the common 

review procedures for applications to vary from strict conformance with this UDC or to obtain other forms 

of relief. 

2.3 Summary Table of Review Procedures 
The table below lists the development applications authorized in this UDC, including recommended or required 

pre-application activities and the role of Town review and decision-making authorities. 
 

Table 2.3-1: Summary Table of Review Procedures 

R = Review & recommend    D = decide     A = appeal  

✓ = required      ◊ = optional     * = public hearing required 
    

Application Type 

UDC 

Reference 

 Pre-Application 

Activities 
Review & Decision-Making Bodies 

P
re

-a
p

p
li

c
a

ti
o

n
 

c
o

n
fe

re
n

c
e

 

N
e

ig
h

b
o

rh
o

o
d

 

M
e

e
ti

n
g

 

S
ta

ff
 

P
la

n
n

in
g

 a
n

d
 

Z
o

n
in

g
 

C
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

  

C
it

y
 C

o
u

n
c
il

 

B
o

a
rd

 o
f 

Z
o

n
in

g
 

A
d

ju
st

m
e

n
t 

 Rezoning, Zoning Text, and Plan Amendments     

Special Use Permit 2.5.1 ✓ ◊ R R* D*  

Rezoning 2.5.1 ✓ ◊ R R* D*  

Rezoning to 

Planned 

Development (PD) 

Preliminary 2.5.3 ✓ ◊ R R* D*  

Final 2.5.3 ✓ ◊ R R* D*  

Zoning Text Amendment 2.5.4 ◊ ◊ R R* D*  

Comprehensive Plan Amendment 2.5.5 ✓ ◊ R R* D*  

Annexation 2.5.6 ✓  R R* D*  

Site Planning and Miscellaneous Permits     

Concept Plan 
For Rezoning 2.6.1C2.6.1 ✓ ◊ R R* D*  

Other 2.6.1D2.6.1 ✓ ◊ R D*   

Site Plan 
Major 2.6.2E0 ✓ ◊ R D*  A* 

Minor 2.6.2D0 ◊ ◊ D   A* 

Temporary Use Permit 2.6.32.6.3   D   A* 

Sign Permit 2.6.42.6.4   D   A* 

Zoning Verification Letter 2.6.52.6.5   D   A* 



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.3 Summary Table of Review Procedures  

 1.9.6 Floodplain Administrator 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  21 

Table 2.3-1: Summary Table of Review Procedures 

R = Review & recommend    D = decide     A = appeal  

✓ = required      ◊ = optional     * = public hearing required 
    

Application Type 

UDC 

Reference 

 Pre-Application 

Activities 
Review & Decision-Making Bodies 

P
re

-a
p

p
li

c
a

ti
o

n
 

c
o

n
fe

re
n

c
e

 

N
e

ig
h

b
o

rh
o

o
d

 

M
e

e
ti

n
g

 

S
ta

ff
 

P
la

n
n

in
g

 a
n

d
 

Z
o

n
in

g
 

C
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

  

C
it

y
 C

o
u

n
c
il

 

B
o

a
rd

 o
f 

Z
o

n
in

g
 

A
d

ju
st

m
e

n
t 

Change or Elimination of 

Nonconformity 
2.6.62.6.6   R   D* 

Engineering Plans, Studies, and Site Development Permits 

Civil Engineering Plans 2.7   D    

Traffic Impact 

Analysis 

Major 2.7   D    

Minor 2.7   D    

Parking Study 2.7   D    

Drainage Study 2.7   D    

Utility Study 2.7   D    

Site Development Permit 2.7   D    

Flood Hazard Development Permit 2.7   D   A* 

Agreements 

Development Agreement 2.8     D[1]  

Parking Management Agreement 2.8     D[1]  

Real Estate Application 2.8   D[2]    

 Platting of Land      

Preliminary Plat or Preliminary Replat 2.9.2 ✓ ◊ R D*   

Final Plat 2.9.3 ◊  R D  A* 

Replat 2.9.4 ◊  R D*  A* 

Minor Plat and Amending Plat 2.9.52.9.5 ◊  D   A* 

Vacating Plat 2.9.62.9.6 ✓  R D  A* 

 Flexibility & Relief       

Variance 2.10.1 ✓  R   D* 

Subdivision Variance 2.10.2 ✓  R R* D* ✓ 

Minor Modification 2.10.3   D[2]   A* 

Alternative Equivalent Compliance 2.10.4 ✓  D[2] D[2] D[2]  

Appeal of Administrative Decision 2.10.5 ◊  R   D[2] 

Alternative Sign Design 4.10.682 ◊  R D   

 
82  Link to §4.10.6: Alternative Sign Design, to be added in Consolidated Draft. 



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.3 Summary Table of Review Procedures  

 1.9.6 Floodplain Administrator 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  22 

Table 2.3-1: Summary Table of Review Procedures 

R = Review & recommend    D = decide     A = appeal  

✓ = required      ◊ = optional     * = public hearing required 
    

Application Type 

UDC 

Reference 

 Pre-Application 

Activities 
Review & Decision-Making Bodies 

P
re

-a
p

p
li

c
a

ti
o

n
 

c
o

n
fe

re
n

c
e

 

N
e

ig
h

b
o

rh
o

o
d

 

M
e

e
ti

n
g

 

S
ta

ff
 

P
la

n
n

in
g

 a
n

d
 

Z
o

n
in

g
 

C
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

  

C
it

y
 C

o
u

n
c
il

 

B
o

a
rd

 o
f 

Z
o

n
in

g
 

A
d

ju
st

m
e

n
t 

 Notes: 
[1] Except where authority is delegated by City Council to staff. 
[2] Or the authorized decision-maker. 

  



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.4 Common Review Procedures  

 2.4.1 Purpose 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  23 

2.4 Common Review Procedures 
Commentary: 

This section is new and consolidates several “common” or generally applicable procedures that apply to all types of 

applications, unless specified otherwise. These basic steps are currently scattered in approximately 15 different 

articles. The level of detail for each process is inconsistent in the current ordinance and many key details are left 

unanswered. A lack of common procedures makes the code longer, with unnecessary duplication of provisions 

addressing the same or similar steps and requirements. 

The content in this section codifies existing practices, incorporates procedures located in other Town documents, and 

introduces professional best practices. Generally, this is intended to help code users better understand the Town’s 

basic procedural steps and requirements, avoid unnecessary duplication of text, ensure consistent application of 

generally applicable procedural steps and requirements, and eliminate the need to amend multiple sections of the 

UDC if a process is revised. The specific procedures that follow this section refer back to the common review 

procedures, noting any deviations from the general rules. 

 Purpose 

This section describes the standard procedures and rules applicable to all development applications unless 

otherwise stated in this UDC. Common review procedures include six steps, as shown below, not all of which 

are applicable to every application. Application-specific procedures in §2.5 through 2.10 identify additional 

procedures and rules beyond those in this section. 
 

Common Review Procedures 

Pre-

Application 

Activities 

Application 

Submittal & 

Processing 

Staff Review 

Scheduling & 

Notice of 

Public 

Hearings 

Review & 

Decision 

Post-Decision 

Actions & 

Limitations 

2.4.2 2.4.3 2.4.4 2.4.5 2.4.6 2.4.7 

      

      
 

 Pre-Application Activities 

 Pre-Application Conference 

Commentary: 

Addison currently uses “pre-submittal” meetings for several application types; however, the current Code of 

Ordinances does not provide details for why, when, and how a pre-submittal meeting is held. This text is new and is 

intended to clarify the process. A suggested new name for the practice can help stress that this procedure will be 

conducted differently moving forward.  

1. Purpose 

The pre-application conference is intended to provide an opportunity for the potential applicant to 

meet with Town staff to review applicable submittal requirements and review procedures associated 

with the proposed application request. 

2. When Required 

A pre-application conference is required for certain application types according to §2.3: Summary Table 

of Review Procedures, and is optional for all other applications.  



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.4 Common Review Procedures  

 2.4.2 Pre-Application Activities 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  24 

3. Procedure 

a. The potential applicant shall submit a request for a pre-application conference through the 

Development Services Department website. Planning staff shall schedule the pre-application 

conference and notify appropriate staff and the potential applicant of the time and location of the 

meeting. 

b. To maximize the benefit of this meeting, the potential applicant should submit a concept sketch 

and narrative description of their proposal with the pre-application conference request.  

c. At the meeting, Town staff will assist the potential applicant to identify key issues and concerns 

regarding the proposed development project so the potential applicant may address them as part 

of their formal application submittal. At the conclusion of the pre-application conference, Town 

staff will summarize key outcomes from the meeting and will provide a projection of anticipated 

development review timelines based on the information presented at the meeting. 

4. Effect  

Any comments or commitments made by Town staff during the pre-application conference are 

preliminary in nature and may change significantly as the project is more clearly defined in later stages 

of the development review process. Discussions of potential conditions to mitigate impacts do not 

reflect actions by the decision-making body until and unless a decision-making body takes formal 

action to attach that condition to a development approval. 

 Neighborhood Meeting 

Commentary: 

The neighborhood meeting procedure is new for Addison and was recommended in the Assessment Report. During 

initial stakeholder interviews, several community members expressed concern that adequate notice is not provided 

for large projects. This procedure allows public involvement earlier in the review process for major projects to allow 

residents an opportunity to speak with developers early in the process to voice concerns and influence the final 

design. As drafted, this is optional, but could be required for some projects. Internal guidelines will be important to 

ensure these are handled consistently. 

1. Purpose 

The purpose of a neighborhood meeting is to provide an opportunity to inform the residents and 

landowners of the surrounding neighborhood(s) of the details of a proposed development, how the 

applicant intends to meet the standards contained in this UDC, and to receive public comment and 

encourage dialogue at an early time in the review process. 

2. Applicability 

A neighborhood meeting is recommended for any development proposal that will be subject to a 

discretionary review process by the Planning and Zoning Commission. The neighborhood meeting is 

optional unless expressly stated otherwise in this Article 6 or as required by the Director in their 

discretion. 

3. Notice of Neighborhood Meeting 

a. An applicant holding a neighborhood meeting is encouraged to provide mailed, published, and 

posted notice of the meeting in the same manner that would be required for public hearings on 

the application pursuant to the common development review procedures.  

b. Notice is required if the neighborhood meeting is required by the Director or this UDC. The 

applicant shall notify the Development Services Department in writing of the meeting date, time, 

and location no less than 14 days prior to the scheduled date of the meeting, if the meeting was 

required to be held by the Director or this UDC. 

c. An affidavit certifying that the applicant completed the notice procedures shall be included with 

the development application submittal. 



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.4 Common Review Procedures  

 2.4.3 Application Submittal and Processing 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  25 

4. Attendance at Neighborhood Meeting 

The applicant shall be responsible for scheduling, coordinating, and facilitating the meeting, and for 

retaining an independent facilitator if needed. The meeting shall be held prior to submittal of the 

subject development application. Attendance at the meeting by Town staff is not required and will be 

determined by the Director on a case-by-case basis. 

5. Summary of Neighborhood Meeting  

The applicant shall prepare and deliver a written summary of the neighborhood meeting to the 

Development Services Department within 10 business days following the date of the meeting. The 

written summary shall be included in the staff report provided to the decision-making body at the time 

of the first public meeting to consider the application. At a minimum, the following information shall be 

included in the meeting summary: 

a. Date, time, and location of the meeting;  

b. A copy of the meeting sign-in sheet; and  

c. A summary description of how the applicant has addressed or proposes to address the issues, 

concerns, and objections identified during the meeting. 

 Application Submittal and Processing83 

 Authority to Submit Application  

Unless expressly stated otherwise in this UDC, a development application shall be submitted by: 

1. The owner of the land on which development is proposed; 

2. A person authorized to submit the application on behalf of the owner, as evidenced by a letter or 

document signed by the owner; or 

3. If there are multiple owners, all such persons shall sign the application or a letter or document 

consenting to the application. 

 Application Content  

1. The application shall be submitted to the Development Services Department on a form established by 

the Director. 

2. The applicant shall ensure that an application contains sufficient information to demonstrate 

compliance with all application requirements specific in this UDC, the Administrative Manual and 

associated Criteria Manuals, and any additional application requirements specified by the Director 

during a pre-application conference. 

3. Application processing will not begin until the Director determines that the application materials 

submitted are complete and sufficient. 

 Waivers of Submittal Requirements  

The Director may waive certain submittal requirements in order to reduce the burden on the applicant and 

to tailor the requirements to the information necessary to review a particular application. The Director may 

waive such requirements upon finding that the projected size, complexity, anticipated impacts, or other 

factors associated with the proposed development clearly, in his or her opinion, support such waiver. 

 Application Fees  

1. Application fees, as set forth in Article IX, Chapter 2 of the Town’s Code of Ordinances, shall be paid at 

the time of submittal according to the type of application. 

2. All required fees shall be paid to and collected by the Development Services Department.  

 
83  This content is new and is intended to provide more direction and clarity to code users regarding application submittal and routing 

processes in Addison. 



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.4 Common Review Procedures  

 2.4.3 Application Submittal and Processing 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  26 

 Submittal and Review Schedule 

The Director shall establish a submittal and review schedule for development applications and shall post 

that schedule on the Development Services Department website. The Director may amend the schedule to 

ensure effective and efficient review under this UDC. 

 Determination of Application Completeness  

1. Application Materials 

a. No application is complete unless all of the information required by this UDC, the Administrative 

Manual and associated Criteria Manuals, and any application materials required by the 

Development Services Department, are included, and all required filing fees are paid.  

b. An application is not considered filed until it is complete. 

c. The applicant shall file an application in advance of any required public hearing or public meeting 

where the application is to be considered.  

d. The Director may establish a schedule for filing and reviewing any application that requires action 

by a Town review or decision-making body. The schedule shall provide adequate time for notice 

and/or publication consistent with the applicable state statutes and this article.  

e. Completed applications shall be filed according to any published schedule. The Director may 

accept applications filed in conflict with the published submittal and review schedule at their 

discretion. 

f. A determination of completeness shall not constitute a determination of compliance with the 

substantive requirements of this UDC, other Ordinances of the Town of Addison, or state or 

federal law. 

2. Review Procedure 

a. No later than 10 business days after an application is submitted, the Director shall determine 

whether the application is complete and shall transmit a written determination to the applicant. If 

the written determination is not made within this time period, the application is deemed complete. 

Failure to complete this review within the specified time does not constitute approval and does not 

give rise to any cause of action against the Town. 

b. If the application is determined to be incomplete, the Director shall provide written notice to the 

applicant. The notice shall specify the necessary documents or other information required to 

resolve the identified application deficiencies and the date the application will expire if those 

deficiencies are not addressed. The Director shall provide this notice no later than the 10th 

business day after the date the application is filed. 

c. Pursuant to Chapter 245 of the Texas Local Government Code, the application shall expire on or 

after the 45th day after the date the application is filed if: 

i. The Director provides the notice described in §2.4.3F.2.a, above; and 

ii. The applicant fails to provide the specified documents or other information required to 

resolve identified deficiencies within 45 days following notice. 

d. If an application expires, the Town shall not process the application. The applicant shall file a new 

application and pay the required fees to have their request processed. 

3. Time Limits Triggered by Complete Application 

Whenever this article establishes a time period for processing an application, the time period does not 

begin until the Director has reviewed the application for completeness and the applicant has corrected 

all deficiencies in the application. The fact that a Town employee reviewed an application to determine 

whether it is complete shall not be binding on the Town as the official acceptance of the application for 

filing. 



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.4 Common Review Procedures  

 2.4.4 Staff Review 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  27 

4. Appeal of Application Completeness Determination 

If the application is determined to be incomplete, the applicant may appeal that decision in writing 

within 10 calendar days of the determination to the Board of Zoning Adjustment pursuant to §2.10.5: 

Appeal of Administrative Decision. 

 Concurrent Applications  

Review and decision-making bodies considering applications submitted simultaneously shall render 

separate recommendations and decisions on each application based on the specific standards applicable 

to each approval. 

 Application Withdrawal  

1. After an application has been accepted for review, the applicant may withdraw the application at any 

time by submitting a letter of withdrawal to the Director.  

2. An applicant is not entitled to a refund of application fees for withdrawn applications; however, the 

Director may refund fees where staff review or public notice has not been substantially initiated for the 

application.  

3. If an applicant fails to respond to staff comments within 45 days, or an application is otherwise 

determined by the Director to be inactive for a period of 45 days, then the application is no longer 

valid. 

 Resubmittal of an Application  

A development application denied by the Town, or approved and subsequently revoked pursuant to §1.7, 

Enforcement, may be resubmitted only if the applicant makes significant changes to address the reasons 

stated for the denial or revocation. The Director will determine if the changes are sufficient to allow a 

resubmittal.  

 Staff Review85 

 Referral to Staff and Review Agencies 

The Director shall distribute the complete application to appropriate staff and review agencies. 

 Staff Review and Application Revisions 

Staff shall review the application and shall consult with applicable Town departments and other 

participating reviewing agencies. Staff shall submit recommendations and comments to the applicant in a 

form established by the Director. The application shall not move forward for further review until the 

Director determines that the applicant has adequately responded to the Town’s recommendations and 

comments, or the applicant requests that the application move forward without responding to the Town’s 

recommendations and comments. 

 Applications Subject to Staff Recommendation 

1. Staff Report 

If an application is subject to staff review and recommendation to the Planning and Zoning 

Commission, Board of Zoning Adjustment, and/or City Council per §2.3: Summary Table of Review 

Procedures, staff shall prepare a written staff report that summarizes the proposal, findings, and 

recommendations. 

 
85  This content is new and is intended to provide more direction and clarity to code users regarding staff’s role in processing applications in 

Addison. 



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.4 Common Review Procedures  

 2.4.5 Scheduling and Notice of Public Hearings 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  28 

2. Distribution and Availability of Application and Staff Report 

The Director shall submit a copy of the staff report to the review and/or decision-making body and 

shall make the staff report and related application materials available for public review prior to the 

hearing at which the application is scheduled to be heard. 

 Applications Subject to Staff Decision 

1. Decision 

If an application is subject to staff review and a final decision by the Director per §2.3: Summary Table 

of Review Procedures, the Director shall make a decision based on the review standards applicable to 

the application type. The decision shall be in writing and shall clearly state reasons for a denial or for 

conditions of approval. 

2. Appeals 

Appeals of administrative decisions may be made pursuant to §2.10.5: Appeal of Administrative 

Decision. 

3. Referrals to Planning and Zoning Commission  

a. If §2.3: Summary Table of Review Procedures, authorizes the Director to make a decision, and the 

Director determines that the application is unusually complex or raises potentially unique or 

serious impacts on the Town or the surrounding neighborhoods, the Director may refer the 

application to the Planning and Zoning Commission for decision pursuant to the same criteria 

under which the Director would have been required to apply to that application. 

b. In cases where the Director refers the decision to the Planning and Zoning Commission, all 

applicable noticing requirements per §2.4.5: Scheduling and Notice of Public Hearings, shall apply. 

 Scheduling and Notice of Public Hearings86 

 Scheduling  

1. If an application is subject to a public hearing per §2.3: Summary Table of Review Procedures, the 

Director shall schedule the public hearing for either a regularly scheduled meeting or special meeting 

of the appropriate review and/or decision-making body. 

2. The public hearing shall be scheduled to allow sufficient time to prepare a staff report per §2.4.4. 

3. The Development Services Department website shall include a submittal and review schedule that the 

Town will follow if the applicant submits a complete application that addresses staff review feedback 

by the deadline established for each step in the submittal and review process. The submittal and 

review schedule is based on time frames established by state statute for reviewing agency response 

times and minimum requirements for notice of public hearings. 

 Notice Format and Content  

1. Content of Mailed and Published Notices 

At a minimum, required notice shall: 

a. Identify the application by type and case number; 

b. Describe the land involved by street address, or by legal description and the nearest cross street, 

and project area (size) that is the subject of the application; 

c. Provide a general description of the proposed project; 

d. Specify the date, time, and location of the hearing being noticed;  

 
86  This content is new and is intended to provide more direction and clarity to code users regarding public hearing noticing requirements 

and procedures in Addison. 



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.4 Common Review Procedures  

 2.4.5 Scheduling and Notice of Public Hearings 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  29 

e. Include a telephone number, email address, and/or website for additional information;  

f. Include a statement that the public may appear at the public hearing or be heard and submit 

evidence and written comments with respect to the application; and 

g. Provide any additional information as may be required by the Administrative Manual or state law. 

2. Mailed Notice 

Applications requiring mailed notice in accordance with this UDC shall comply with the following: 

a. Notice of a public hearing shall be sent to the owner of the property for which the approval is 

sought. 

b. Notice of a public hearing shall be sent to all owners of property, as indicated by the most recently 

adopted municipal tax roll, that is located within 200 feet of any property affected by the proposal. 

c. Notice of a public hearing shall be sent to any other parties entitled to receive written notice by 

mail under state law.  

d. The mailed notice will be postmarked at least 11 days prior to the date of the public hearing at 

which the item will be considered. 

e. The notice may be served by using the last known address as reflected by the Dallas Central 

Appraisal District, and depositing the notice, properly addressed and postage paid, in the United 

States mail. 

3. Posted Notice 

Applications requiring posted notice in accordance with this UDC shall comply with the following: 

a. The Town shall post the required number of notification signs on the subject property at least 10 

days prior to the date of the public hearing before the Planning and Zoning Commission. 

b. The signs shall be posted at a prominent location adjacent to a public street and be easily visible 

from the street. 

c. Photos of the posted notification signs and a required affidavit shall be provided to the 

Development Services Department in accordance with the Administrative Manual.  

d. The applicant is responsible for maintaining the required number of notification signs posted on 

the subject property until final action is taken on the application by the City Council. 

e. Signs shall be constructed and posted in accordance with the Administrative Manual. 

f. Signs shall include the following information: 

i. Type of application 

ii. Public hearing requirement 

iii. Town logo 

iv. Website and phone number to learn more about the application. 

g. The signs shall be removed within five days after final action on the application by the City Council. 

h. It is unlawful to intentionally or knowingly remove a notification sign that has been posted 

pursuant to this UDC, or to in any way tamper with or conceal the sign message. 

4. Published Notice 

Applications requiring published notice in accordance with this UDC shall comply with the following: 

a. When published notice is required, the Director shall prepare the content of the notice and publish 

the notice in an official newspaper or a newspaper of general circulation in the town. The content 

and form of the published notice shall be consistent with the requirements of the applicable 

provisions of state law. 



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.4 Common Review Procedures  

 2.4.5 Scheduling and Notice of Public Hearings 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  30 

b. The first date of the publication shall be at least 16 days prior to the date of the public hearing at 

which the item will be considered. 

 Public Hearing Notice 

All public hearings required by this UDC shall be preceded by the notices identified in the table below. 

Procedures not listed in the table do not require public hearing notice. 

  



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.4 Common Review Procedures  

 2.4.5 Scheduling and Notice of Public Hearings 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  31 

Table 2.4-1: Summary of Public Notice Requirements 

 Application Type Published [1] Mailed [2] Posted [3] 

Rezoning, Zoning Text and Plan Amendments 

Special Use Permit    

Rezoning    

Rezoning to Planned Development    

Zoning Text Amendment  n/a n/a 

Comprehensive Plan Amendment  n/a n/a 

Annexation [4] [4] [4] 

Site Planning and Miscellaneous Permits 

Major Site Plan   n/a 

 Platting of Land    

Preliminary Plat    

Replat 
Depends on 

application type 

Depends on 

application type 

Depends on 

application type 

 Flexibility & Relief    

Variance n/a   

Minor Modification [5]    

Appeal Of Administrative Decision [5]    

 Notes: 
[1] 16 days prior to hearing or such longer period as may be required by state law. 
[2] Within 200 feet and 11 days prior to hearing or such longer period as may be required by state law. 
[3] 10 days prior to hearing or such longer period as may be required by state law. 
[4] In accordance with Texas Local Government Code Chapter 43. 
[5] If required by the applicable subsection of §2.10: Flexibility and Relief Procedures. 

 

 Constructive Notice  

1. Minor defects in any notice shall not impair the notice or invalidate proceedings pursuant to the notice 

if a bona fide attempt has been made to comply with applicable notice requirements. Minor defects in 

a notice shall be limited to non-substantive errors in a property description or typographical or 

grammatical errors that do not impede communication of the notice to affected parties. In all cases, 

however, the requirements for the timing of the notice and for specifying the time, date, and place of a 

hearing shall be strictly construed. 

2. Failure of a party to receive notice shall not invalidate subsequent action. If questions arise at the 

public hearing regarding the adequacy of notice, the decision-making body shall make a formal finding 

as to whether there was substantial compliance with the notice requirements of this UDC. 

3. In addition to notice by the means set forth above, the Town may give notice of the hearing in a 

specific case in such other manner as it deems necessary or appropriate. 

 Protest Procedures 

A proposed zoning action may be protested pursuant to Chapter 211 of the Texas Local Government Code 

and the requirements below. A valid, written protest shall require an affirmative vote of at least three-

fourths of all members of the City Council for approval of the protested zoning action. 



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.4 Common Review Procedures  

 2.4.5 Scheduling and Notice of Public Hearings 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  32 

1. Submittal Requirements 

a. A written protest may be submitted by property owners of lots or land either covered by the 

proposed change or located within 200 feet of the area covered by the proposed change. 

b. A written protest shall be submitted on a form provided by the City and shall contain the following 

information: 

i. description of the zoning case at issue; 

ii. Email and phone number of the protest petitioner(s); 

iii. The names and original signatures of all persons protesting the proposed zoning action; and 

iv. A description or address of the area of lots or land owned by the protesting parties. 

c. The written protest form must be signed by the owner of the property, or by their authorized 

representative. The signature of any one owner of a property with multiple owners shall bind the 

entire property to the protest. 

d. In the case of a property owned by a corporation, the protest must be signed by the president, a 

vice president, or by an attorney-in-fact authorized to sign the protest on behalf of the 

corporation. In the case of a property owned by a general or limited partnership, the protest must 

be signed by a general partner or by an attorney-in-fact authorized to sign the protest on behalf of 

the partnership. 

e. For condominium lots or land to be included in calculating the lots or land area protesting a zoning 

action, the written protest form must state that the governing body of the condominium has 

authorized a protest in accordance with procedures required by its bylaws, and that the person 

signing the protest is authorized to act on behalf of the governing body of the condominium. A 

written protest signed by the owner of an individual condominium unit shall not be accepted 

unless the filing party produces legal documents governing the condominium which clearly 

establish the right of an individual owner to act with respect to the owner’s respective undivided 

interest in the common elements of the condominium. 

f. Except for those properties owned by corporations or jointly owned by multiple people as 

described in provisions d and e of this subsection, all signatures on a written protest form shall be 

notarized or witnessed. The notary requirement is fulfilled if the person who obtains the 

signatures signs a certification stating that: 

i. They witnessed those signatures; and 

ii.  The signatory represented their authority to sign the petition. 

g. In all cases where a written protest form has been properly signed pursuant to this subsection, the 

City shall presume that the signatures are authentic and that the persons or officers whose 

signatures appear on the protest form are either owners of the property or authorized to sign on 

behalf of one or more owners as represented. The City Attorney may advise the City Council that 

this presumption of validity should not be followed in a specific case based on evidence presented. 

2. Filing Deadline 

a. A written protest must be filed with the City Secretary before 5:00 p.m. of the 4th working day 

prior to the City Council public hearing when the proposed zoning action is scheduled to be acted 

upon. For example, a written protest must be received by 5:00 p.m. on the Wednesday prior to a 

regularly scheduled Tuesday City Council meeting. A written protest form sent through the mail 

must be received by the City Secretary before the deadline. 

b. Before the public hearing on the zoning action begins, the filing deadline for a protest is 

automatically extended whenever the public hearing is re-advertised in the official newspaper of 

the City pursuant to statutory notice requirements. 



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.4 Common Review Procedures  

 2.4.6 Review and Decision 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  33 

c. After the public hearing has begun, the filing deadline may only be extended by calling a 

subsequent public hearing and advertising that public hearing in the official newspaper of the City 

pursuant to statutory notice requirements or if the item is tabled or continued. In such a case, the 

new filing deadline is noon of the 2nd working day immediately preceding the newly advertised 

public hearing date or the date to which the item is tabled or continued. For example, the written 

protest must be received by 12:00 p.m. on the Friday prior to the newly scheduled Tuesday City 

Council meeting. 

3. Withdrawal of Protest Signature(s) or Protest Form(s) 

a. A protest, once filed, remains in effect unless withdrawn in accordance with this subsection, 

irrespective of any amendments made to the zoning proposal. Requests to withdraw a protest 

form or individual protest signature(s) that have been filed must be in writing and filed with the 

City Secretary before the filing deadline. 

b. The provisions of this subsection governing the form and filing of protests apply equally to 

withdrawals. 

4. Conflicting Submissions 

If multiple protests and withdrawals are filed on behalf of the same owner, the submission with the 

latest date and time of execution controls. 

 Review and Decision89 

 Hearing, Review, and Decision  

1. The application shall be subject to hearings, review, recommendations, and decisions as indicated in 

§2.3: Summary Table of Review Procedures. 

2. If the application is subject to a public hearing, the applicable review and/or decision-making body shall 

hold a public hearing in accordance with §2.4.5: Scheduling and Notice of Public Hearings. 

3. The City Council may hold a joint public hearing with the Planning and Zoning Commission as provided 

for by state law. In case of a joint hearing, the City Council may not act on the request until it receives 

the report of the Planning and Zoning Commission.90 

4. The applicable review and/or decision-making body shall consider the following:  

a. The application and supportive material submitted by the applicant;  

b. The testimony of the applicant;  

c. The testimony of the public during the public hearing, when applicable;  

d. The Development Services Department staff report; and  

e. Such other additional information as may be required by the review and/or decision-making body 

to evaluate the application.  

5. The applicable review and/or decision-making body may approve, approve with conditions, or deny the 

application based on the applicable approval criteria listed in the application-specific procedures in 

§2.5 through 2.10. The review and/or decision-making body may also continue the hearing in 

accordance with the review and/or decision-making body’s adopted rules and procedures. 

6. If the review involves a quasi-judicial hearing, the recommendation or decision (as applicable) shall be 

based only on the record of the public hearing; shall be in writing; shall include findings of fact based 

on competent, material, and substantial evidence presented at the hearing; shall reflect the 

determination of contested facts; and shall state how the findings support compliance with applicable 

review standards. 

 
89  This content is new and is intended to provide more direction and clarity to code users regarding review and decision-making processes 

in Addison. 
90  New. 



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.4 Common Review Procedures  

 2.4.6 Review and Decision 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  34 

7. The applicable review and/or decision-making body shall clearly state the factors considered in making 

its recommendation or decision, as well as the basis or rationale for the recommendation or decision. 

8. All approvals and decisions under this UDC require the weighing of facts and applicable laws and 

regulations and thus are discretionary, unless clearly indicated otherwise by the use of wording 

requiring ministerial, non-discretionary approval (e.g., “shall issue,” or “shall approve” upon request). 

 Public Hearing Procedures  

Whenever a public hearing is required by this UDC, the following public hearing procedures shall apply: 

1. Conduct of Public Hearings  

a. Generally 

Any person can appear at a public hearing and testify or submit evidence. Each person appearing 

at a public hearing must be identified by name and address.  

b. Exclusion of Testimony 

If necessary, the review or decision-making body conducting the public hearing can establish time 

limits for testimony and may exclude testimony or evidence that is irrelevant, immaterial, or 

repetitious.  

c. Tabling of Public Hearing 

The review or decision-making body conducting the public hearing can, on its own motion or at the 

request of any person, table the public hearing to a specified date. Tabling may occur more than 

once. However, tabling for more than 40 days without the applicant's consent is not permitted. 

Every effort must be made to conduct each public hearing expeditiously and without undue delay. 

2. Public Hearing Order of Proceedings  

The order of proceedings at a public hearing will be as follows. The applicable review and/or decision-

making body may adjust this order as necessary.  

a. Narrative and Description 

The Director presents a narrative and/or graphic description of the project.  

b. Staff Report 

The Director presents a staff report addressing compliance with relevant Town plans and 

standards contained in this UDC and the recommendations of review boards and commissions.  

c. Applicant Presentation 

The applicant may present testimony or evidence in support of the project.  

d. Public Testimony 

The public may present evidence and testimony concerning the proposed project.  

e. Applicant Response 

The applicant may respond to any evidence or testimony presented by the public.  

f. Town Staff Response 

The Director, City Attorney, or any other Town staff may respond to the evidence and testimony 

offered by the applicant and the public as well as questions from the review or decision-making 

body.  

g. Decision of Review or Decision-Making Body 

The review or decision-making body makes its decision or recommendation to approve, approve 

with conditions or deny the application. 



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.4 Common Review Procedures  

 2.4.6 Review and Decision 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  35 

h. Notice of Decision 

The Director notifies the applicant in writing of the review or decision-making body decision within 

a reasonable time after the decision.  

i. Record 

The audio and/or video of the hearing, minutes, all applications, exhibits, and papers submitted 

during the proceedings, Development Services Department files, staff report, and decision of the 

review or decision-making body constitute the complete record. The record will remain in the 

possession of the Director. 

 General Approval Criteria 

1. Generally  

a. Unless otherwise specified in this UDC, Town review and decision-making bodies shall review all 

development applications submitted pursuant to this article for compliance with the general 

review criteria stated below. 

b. The application may also be subject to additional review criteria specific to the type of application, 

as set forth in §2.5 through 2.10.  

c. If there is a conflict between the general review criteria in this section and the specific review 

criteria in §2.5 through 2.10, the specific review criteria in §2.5 through 2.10 control. 

2. Compliance with UDC and Other Applicable Plans Regulations  

The proposed use and development shall comply with all other Town regulations and with all 

applicable regulations of the federal or state governments and other relevant entities with jurisdiction 

over the property or the current or proposed use of the property, including but not limited to this UDC, 

the Comprehensive Plan, and where applicable, other master plans and Town-wide studies.  

3. Compliance with Prior Approvals  

The proposed use and development shall be consistent with the terms and conditions of any prior land 

use, plan, or plat approval for all or part of the property that is in effect and not proposed to be 

changed. This includes consistency with any approved phasing plan for development and installation 

of public improvements and amenities. 

4. Compliance with Phasing Plans 

If the proposal involves phases, each phase of the proposed development shall contain all of the 

required streets, utilities, landscaping, open space, and other improvements that are required to 

comply with the project’s cumulative development to date and shall not depend upon subsequent 

phases for those improvements. 

 Conditions of Approval  

1. Where this UDC authorizes a review and/or decision-making body to approve or deny an application 

subject to applicable criteria, the review and/or decision-making body may approve the application 

with conditions necessary to bring the proposed development into compliance with this UDC or other 

regulations, or to mitigate the impacts of that development on the surrounding properties and streets. 

2. All conditions of approval shall be reasonably related to the anticipated impacts of the proposed use or 

development or shall be based upon standards duly adopted by the Town. Such conditions may 

include those necessary to carry out the purpose and intent of the Comprehensive Plan, other adopted 

plans, and this UDC. 

3. During its consideration, the review and/or decision-making body may consider alternative potential 

conditions, and no discussion of potential conditions shall be deemed an attempt or intent to impose 

any condition that would violate the federal or state constitutions, statutes, or regulations. Discussions 

of potential conditions to mitigate impacts do not reflect actions by the review and/or decision-making 



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.4 Common Review Procedures  

 1.1.1  

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  36 

body unless and until the review and/or decision-making body takes formal action to attach that 

condition to a development approval.  

4. Unless otherwise provided in this UDC, any representations of the applicant in submittal materials or 

during public hearings shall be binding as conditions of approval. 

5. Any conditions shall be listed in or attached to the approval document, and violation of any approved 

condition shall be a violation of this UDC. 

 Post-Decision Actions and Limitations92 

 Notice of Decision  

1. Within 10 days after a final decision on an application, the Director shall provide written notification of 

the decision via personal delivery, electronic mail, or first-class mail to the applicant and make a copy 

of the decision available to the public in the Development Services Department. 

2. If the review involves a quasi-judicial hearing, the Director shall, within 10 days after a final decision on 

the application, also provide a written notification of the decision via personal delivery, electronic mail, 

or first-class mail to the owner(s) of the subject site, and any other person that submitted a written 

request for a copy of the decision before its effective date. 

 Effect of Approval 

1. Approval of any development application in accordance with this Code, whether granted or deemed 

granted by expiration of a “shot clock,” authorizes only the particular use, plan, or other specific activity 

approved, and not any other development requiring separate application.  

2. Approvals, whether granted or deemed granted, do not vary or change this Code or excuse non-

compliance, extent to the extent specified in a variance, interpretation, special exception, or 

amendment that is duly approved in writing by the authorized decision-maker. 

3. If one development permit or approval is a prerequisite to another permit or approval (e.g., variance 

approval prior to a site plan approval), development may not take place until all required permits and 

approvals are obtained. Approval of one application does not necessarily guarantee approval of any 

subsequent application. 

 Appeal  

1. A party aggrieved or adversely affected by any decision by the City Council, Planning and Zoning 

Commission, or Board of Zoning Adjustment may seek review of the decision in accordance with 

applicable state law. 

2. A party aggrieved by other final decisions may appeal the decision in accordance with the procedures 

and standards in Section 2.10.5: Appeal of Administrative Decision. 

 Expiration and Revocation of Approval  

1. Expiration of Approval 

Approval under this article may be granted subject to a schedule of development or set time period of 

no earlier than the fifth anniversary date of the approval for development of specific improvements, 

and/or establishment of a special use or uses for which the approval is requested. Approval shall 

expire at the end of this period or, if a specific time period is not specified, after two years following the 

date upon which the final approval became effective, if none of the following have occurred: 

a. The subject property has been improved for the development for which it was approved, and a 

building permit has been issued and construction commenced and is being diligently pursued 

toward completion of the site for which the approval was originally granted; or 

 
92  This content is new and is intended to provide more direction and clarity to code users regarding what happens after an application has 

been acted on.  



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.4 Common Review Procedures  

 2.4.7 Post-Decision Actions and Limitations 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  37 

b. A Certificate of Occupancy has been issued for structure(s) that were the subject of the application; 

or 

c. The site has been occupied for a permitted use if no building permit or Certificate of Occupancy is 

required.  

d. For purposes of this subsection, progress towards completion of the project is as defined in 

Chapter 245 of the Texas Local Government Code. 

2. Revocation of Approval 

Upon expiration, the approval shall be considered revoked, unless a request for a time extension is 

made by the applicant to the Director at least 15 days prior to the date of the expiration of the original 

approval in accordance with established application submittal scheduling requirements. The applicant 

is responsible for keeping track of application expiration dates. 

3. Request for Extension of Approval 

Unless otherwise specified in a specific procedure, the original approval body may grant extensions of 

the expiration time period for up to one year, following a written request to the Director for such 

extension prior to the expiration date. The request shall include reasonable cause for an extension. 

 Modification or Amendment of Approval 

1. Minor Changes Allowed 

Development authorized by any approval under this article may incorporate minor changes from the 

approved plan, permit, or conditions of approval, as appropriate, without the need for a new 

application, subject to the limitations below. 

a. Authorized minor changes are limited to those that appear necessary in light of technical or 

engineering considerations first discovered during the preparation of final engineering and 

building plans and were not reasonably anticipated during the initial approval process, as long as 

they comply with the standards of this UDC and any other applicable approval conditions or 

design criteria. 

b. Minor changes may include minor deviations in the building footprint or relocation of 

infrastructure (roads and water or sewage lines) so long as the relocation complies with the 

conditions of any approval and this UDC. 

c. Minor changes shall not include reductions in the amount of open space, buffering, or increases in 

building floor area. 

d. The Director shall determine that the proposed minor changes: 

i. Comply with the standards of this UDC and applicable design criteria; 

ii. Are necessary to meet conditions of approval; and 

iii. Would not significantly alter the function, form, intensity, character, demand on public 

facilities, or impact on adjacent properties as approved. 

2. Major Changes 

Any modification of an approved plan, permit, or condition of approval that the Director determines 

does not meet the criteria in paragraph 1 above shall require a new application that is submitted and 

reviewed in accordance with the applicable procedure and fee requirements. 

 Limitation on Subsequent Similar Applications  

Following denial of an application, the decision-making body shall deny any applications that are the same 

or substantially similar within one year of the previous denial. This waiting period may be waived by the 

decision-making body provided that: 



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.4 Common Review Procedures  

 2.4.7 Post-Decision Actions and Limitations 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  38 

1. There is a substantial change to circumstances, or new information available, relevant to the issues or 

facts considered during the previous application review; or 

2. The new application is materially different from the previous application, as determined by the 

Director. 

 Site Development Permit 

Prior to the commencement of any improvements associated with an approved project, the applicant must 

obtain all necessary site development permits from the Town. 

 Building Permits93 

All applications for building permits shall be accompanied by an accurate plat and approved development 

plan in accordance with the Town’s administrative procedures. 

 Certificate of Occupancy94 

1. Compliance Required 

No building hereafter erected or structurally altered shall be used, occupied, or changed in use until a 

certificate of occupancy has been issued by the Building Official or Director. 

2. Procedures 

a. Certificates of occupancy shall be applied for following the approval of the necessary building 

permits for each project type and shall be issued within 10 days after the erection or structural 

alteration of such building shall have been completed in conformity with the provisions of this 

UDC. 

b. Certificates of occupancy shall be applied for following a change in ownership or tenant of 

buildings requiring a building permit.95 

c. No permit for excavation for any building shall be issued before application has been made for a 

site development permit. 

3. Record of Certificate of Occupancy 

A record of all certificates shall be kept on file in the Development Services Department and copies 

shall be furnished in accordance with the Town’s administrative procedures upon request to any 

person having a propriety or tenancy interest in the building affected. 

  

 
93   From current Article XXVII Sec. 1. We did not carry forward the submittal requirements for the plat – these should be relocated to the 

administrative manual. 
94 Replaces current Article XXVI, Sec. 1.  
95  New. 



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.5 Rezoning, Zoning Text, and Plan Amendment Procedures  

 2.5.1 Special Use Permit 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  39 

2.5 Rezoning, Zoning Text, and Plan Amendment 

Procedures 

 Special Use Permit97 

 Purpose 

The Special Use Permit review procedure provides a mechanism for the Town to evaluate proposed 

development and land uses that have unique or widely varying operating characteristics or unusual site 

development features to ensure compatibility with surrounding areas and the goals of the Comprehensive 

Plan and this UDC. The procedure considers the location, design, configuration, intensity, density, natural 

hazards, and other relevant factors pertaining to the proposed use to evaluate the potential impacts of 

such uses on surrounding properties and to ensure that such uses are compatible with surrounding 

properties and that adequate mitigation is provided to minimize potential impacts on those surrounding 

properties and/or the Town. 

 Applicability 

Special use permit review is required for certain land uses and zoning districts as specified in Table ---98. 

Special use permit review approval is also required for modification or expansion of an existing special use. 

 Special Use Permit Procedure 

The process diagram below identifies the applicable steps from §2.4: Common Review Procedures, that 

apply to the review of Special Use Permit applications. Additions or modifications to the common review 

procedures are noted below. 

Pre-

Application 

Activities 

Application 

Submittal & 

Processing 

Staff Review 

Scheduling & 

Notice of 

Public 

Hearings 

Review & 

Decision 

Post-Decision 

Actions & 

Limitations 

2.4.2 2.4.3 2.4.4 2.4.5 2.4.6 2.4.7 

      

      

 Required, see 

text below 
Submit to Town Review by Town 

 Public hearings 

required 

Planning and 

Zoning 

Commission and 

City Council  

Review by 

Planning and 

Zoning 

Commission  

decision by City 

Council 

Expires after 1 

year, see text 

below 

 

1. Pre-Application Activities 

a. Pre-Application Conference 

A pre-application conference is required in accordance with §2.4.2A: Pre-Application Conference. 

 
97  Replaces current Appendix A, Article XX and the “conditional use permit” procedures applicable to the UC zoning district located in 

Appendix A, Article XIX, Sec. 10. 
98  Link to Table of Allowed Uses to be added in Consolidated Draft. 



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.5 Rezoning, Zoning Text, and Plan Amendment Procedures  

 2.5.1 Special Use Permit 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  40 

b. Neighborhood Meeting 

A neighborhood meeting is recommended in accordance with §2.4.2B: Neighborhood Meeting. 

2. Application Submittal & Processing 

The application shall be submitted, accepted, revised, and may be withdrawn, in accordance with 

§2.4.3: Application Submittal and Processing. 

3. Staff Review 

The staff shall review the application and prepare a staff report and recommendation in accordance 

with §2.4.4: Staff Review. 

4. Scheduling and Notice of Public Hearings 

The application shall be scheduled for public hearings before the Planning and Zoning Commission 

and City Council and shall be noticed pursuant to §2.4.5: Scheduling and Notice of Public Hearings. 

5. Review and Decision 

The application shall be reviewed and decided upon by the City Council in accordance with §2.4.6: 

Review and Decision, with the following modifications: 

a. Planning and Zoning Commission Review and Recommendation 

The Planning and Zoning Commission shall review the application in accordance with the approval 

criteria in §2.5.1D: Review Criteria and shall forward its recommendation to the City Council. 

b. City Council Review and Decision 

The City Council may review and approve, approve with conditions, or deny the application in 

accordance with the approval criteria in §2.5.1D: Review Criteria, and in consideration of the 

following: 

i. Whether the request complies with all site specifications adopted by the City, including the 

base zoning district and/or the PD entitlements; 

ii. Whether the site, buildings, and use meet the criteria specified for the use in §---, Use-Specific 

Standards; 

iii. Whether the proposed use will be detrimental to the adjacent properties or to the City as a 

whole; 

iv. Whether the proposed uses are compatible in terms of scale (building massing, form, 

orientation, and location), intensity, and operating characteristics with uses and structures on 

adjacent properties and properties in the vicinity of the proposed application; and 

v. Whether potential impacts associated with such use are adequately mitigated through 

enhanced site or building design, including but not limited to additional landscaping, buffers, 

or screening, to minimize adverse impacts on surrounding uses and the City. 

6. Post-Decision Actions and Limitations101 

All common procedures in §2.4.7: Post-Decision Actions and Limitations, shall apply with the following 

modifications: 

a. Lapse of Permit 

If no building permit has been issued within one year of date of approval of the Special Use Permit, 

such permit shall lapse and construction shall not be permitted, nor use be established, until a 

new application for Special Use Permit is submitted and approved for the intended use.  

 
101  From current Appendix A, Article XX, Sec. 1 and Article XIX, Sec. 10. 



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.5 Rezoning, Zoning Text, and Plan Amendment Procedures  

 2.5.1 Special Use Permit 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  41 

b. Extension 

If the applicant requests an extension of the Special Use Permit in writing at least 60 days prior to 

the date of lapse to the City Council, the City Council shall consider such extension request, prior 

to the expiration date. For good cause shown, the permit may be extended for a period not to 

exceed one year.  

c. Effect 

Every Special Use Permit granted under the provisions of this article shall be considered as an 

amendment to the zoning ordinance as applicable to such property.  

d. Certificate of Occupancy 

In granting such permit the City Council may impose conditions that shall be complied with by the 

grantee before Certificate of Occupancy may be issued by the Building Official for the use of the 

buildings on such property pursuant to said Special Use Permit. Such conditions shall not be 

construed as conditions precedent to the granting of a Special Use Permit for the change in zoning 

of such property but shall be construed as conditions precedent to the granting of the Certificate 

of Occupancy.  

 Review Criteria 

In reviewing a proposed Special Use Permit application, the review and decision-making body shall 

consider the general approval criteria in paragraph 2.4.6C: General Approval Criteria, and if the proposed 

Special Use Permit: 

1. Provides Adequate Public Services and Facilities  

Adequate public service and facility capacity shall exist to accommodate uses permitted under the 

proposed development at the time the needs or demands arise, while maintaining adequate levels of 

service to existing development. Public services and facilities include, but are not limited to, streets, 

potable water, sewer, stormwater management infrastructure, schools, public safety, fire protection, 

parks, trails, open space, and recreation features, and vehicle/pedestrian connections and access 

within the site and to adjacent properties. 

2. Minimizes or Mitigates Adverse Impacts  

a. The proposed use and development shall not result in the excessive destruction, loss, or damage 

of any natural, scenic, or historic feature of significant importance, as determined by the Town.  

b. The proposed development shall not cause significant adverse impacts on surrounding properties 

nor create a nuisance by reason of noise, smoke, odors, vibrations, or objectionable lights.  

c. The hours of operation, outside lighting, and trash and waste collection shall not pose a hazard, 

hardship, or nuisance to the neighborhood.  

d. The applicant shall make a good-faith effort to address concerns of the adjoining property owners 

in the immediate neighborhood as defined in the pre-submittal neighborhood meeting process for 

the specific use proposal. 

  



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.5 Rezoning, Zoning Text, and Plan Amendment Procedures  

 2.5.2 Rezoning 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  42 

 Rezoning102 

 Purpose 

Under the provisions of Texas Local Government Code Chapter 211, the City Council is authorized to 

amend by ordinance the boundaries of the various zoning districts. The Rezoning procedure is intended to 

make amendments to the Official Zoning Map of the Town of Addison to reflect changes in public policy, 

changed conditions, or to advance the welfare of the Town. The purpose is neither to relieve particular 

hardships nor to confer special privileges or rights on any person. 

 Applicability 

1. A Rezoning may be approved by the City Council following review and recommendation by the 

Planning and Zoning Commission.  

2. Rezonings should not be used when a Special Use Permit, or Minor Modification could be used to 

achieve a similar result.  

3. Changes to the characteristics of zoning districts (such as setback requirements) and development 

standards (such as parking requirements) shall be processed as Zoning Text Amendments according to 

§2.5.4: Zoning Text Amendment. 

4. A Rezoning to a Planned Development is a distinct type of amendment to the Official Zoning Map and 

shall follow the procedures in §2.5.3: Rezoning to Planned Development. 

 Zoning Map Amendment Procedure 

The process diagram below identifies the applicable steps from §2.4: Common Review Procedures, that 

apply to the review of zoning map amendment applications. Additions or modifications to the common 

review procedures are noted below. 
 

Pre-

Application 

Activities 

Application 

Submittal & 

Processing 

Staff Review 

Scheduling & 

Notice of 

Public 

Hearings 

Review & 

Decision 

Post-Decision 

Actions & 

Limitations 

2.4.2 2.4.3 2.4.4 2.4.5 2.4.6 2.4.7 

      

      

 Required, see 

text below 
Submit to Town Review by Town 

 Public hearings 

required Planning 

and Zoning 

Commission and 

City Council  

Review by 

Planning and 

Zoning 

Commission  

decision by City 

Council 

See text below 

 

1. Pre-Application Activities 

a. Pre-application conference 

A pre-application conference is required in accordance with §2.4.2A: Pre-Application Conference. 

b. Neighborhood Meeting 

A neighborhood meeting is recommended in accordance with §2.4.2B: Neighborhood Meeting. 

 
102  Replaces current Article XXIX, Sec. 1 through Sec. 16. 



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.5 Rezoning, Zoning Text, and Plan Amendment Procedures  

 2.5.2 Rezoning 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  43 

2. Application Submittal & Processing103 

The application shall be submitted, accepted, revised, and may be withdrawn, in accordance with 

§2.4.3: Application Submittal and Processing. 

3. Staff Review 

The staff shall review the application and prepare a staff report and recommendation in accordance 

with §2.4.4: Staff Review. 

4. Scheduling and Notice of Public Hearings 

The application shall be scheduled for public hearings before the Planning and Zoning Commission 

and City Council and shall be noticed pursuant to §2.4.5: Scheduling and Notice of Public Hearings, with 

the following modifications: 

5. Review and Decision 

The application shall be reviewed and decided upon by the Planning and Zoning Commission and City 

Council in accordance with §2.4.6: Review and Decision, with the following modifications: 

a. Planning and Zoning Commission Review and Recommendation 

The Planning and Zoning Commission shall review the application in accordance with the approval 

criteria in §2.5.2D and shall forward its recommendation to the City Council. 

b. City Council Review and Decision 

The City Council may review and approve, approve with conditions, or deny the application in 

accordance with the approval criteria in §2.5.2D. 

6. Post-Decision Actions and Limitations104 

All common procedures in §2.4.7: Post-Decision Actions and Limitations, shall apply, with the following 

modifications: 

a. If a written protest against such proposed amendment has been filed pursuant to §2.4.5E, Protest 

Procedures, the amendment shall not become effective except by the favorable vote of six of the 

seven members of City Council.  

b. Where there is not a written protest against such a proposed amendment, supplement or change, 

and the decision of the Planning and Zoning Commission is for denial, a three-fourths vote of all of 

the City Council shall be required to overrule the decision of the Planning and Zoning Commission. 

c. Following approval of a Rezoning by City Council, the Director shall prepare a revision to the 

Official Zoning Map. 

 Review Criteria105 

In reviewing a proposed zoning map amendment application, the review and decision-making body shall 

consider if the proposed zoning map amendment application: 

a. Is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and the purposes of this UDC;  

b. Is consistent with the purpose statement of the proposed zoning district; 

c. There have been significant changes in the area to warrant a zoning change;  

d. The intensity of development in the new zoning district is not expected to create significantly 

adverse impacts to surrounding properties or the neighborhood; and  

 
103  Did not carry forward the content of application requirements in current Article XXIX, Sec. 8. We recommend this material be relocated 

to an Administrative Manual outside of the UDC. 
104  Paragraphs (i) and (ii) are from current Article XXIX, Sec. 4. Replaced “governing body” with “City Council.” 
105  New. For discussion purposes, these are review criteria we have drafted for other communities. 
 



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.5 Rezoning, Zoning Text, and Plan Amendment Procedures  

 2.5.2 Rezoning 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  44 

e. Public facilities and services are available to adequately serve the subject property while 

maintaining adequate level of service to existing development; and/or: 

f. There was an error in establishing the current zoning. 

  



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.5 Rezoning, Zoning Text, and Plan Amendment Procedures  

 1.1.1  

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  45 

  

 Rezoning to Planned Development (PD) 

Commentary: 

This section replaces and collapses several stand-alone procedures related to the review of concept, preliminary, and 

final development plans in the current MXR district; UC district; Belt Line district; and general Planned Development 

(PD) procedures. As recommended in the Assessment Report, this draft formalizes a uniform two-step approach to 

establishing a PD district and corresponding PD plan and PD agreement, rather than having discrete processes for 

different areas of the Town. This refined procedure is intended to simplify and streamline an otherwise complicated 

PD review process. This draft also introduces clearer and more objective standards and approval criteria to help 

review and decision-making bodies evaluate the merits of a PD request.  

The following are the sections from the existing ordinance that help provide the foundation for this new section but 

that are intended to be replaced by this new procedure: 

General PD procedure (Article XV). Single-step process requiring a Rezoning and concurrent development plan 

approval subject to review and recommendation by the Planning and Zoning Commission and final approval by the 

City Council. 

MXR zoning district procedure (Article XVIII, Sec. 4). Two-step process (Concept Plan approval and development 

plan approval). Both steps require Planning and Zoning Commission review and recommendation and City Council 

approval.  

UC zoning district procedure (Article XIX, Sec. 7; Sec. 8; and Sec. 9). Three-step process (concept review 

(concurrent with Rezoning), preliminary development plan approval, and final development plan approval). All three 

steps require Planning and Zoning Commission review and recommendation and City Council approval.  

Belt Line zoning district process (Article XIX.A, Sec. VIII). Two-step process (concept review (concurrent with 

Rezoning, making direct reference to the procedures for the UC district), and development plan approval). The 

concept review and Rezoning require Planning and Zoning Commission review and recommendation and final review 

by the City Council. This procedure differs from the MXR and UC district standards because the City Manager is 

authorized to approve development plans (after concept approval); however, if a major amendment is requested as 

part of the development then that triggers review and recommendation by the Planning and Zoning Commission and 

final approval by the City Council. This procedure includes a two-tiered approach to waivers of development standards 

– minor and major. The City Manager is authorized to approve minor waivers, while major waivers require a public 

hearing before the Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council.  

 Purpose 

The Rezoning to Planned Development (PD) procedure is intended to achieve greater flexibility than 

allowed by the strict application of this UDC, and to encourage unique or innovative land use concepts, 

while providing greater benefit to the Town and to ensure efficient provision of services and utilities. The 

Rezoning to PD procedure shall not be used when a Special Use Permit, Variance, Minor Modification, or 

Rezoning to an existing base zoning district could achieve a similar result. 

 Applicability 

1. This procedure applies to new PD proposals, and to any proposed amendment to an existing PD that 

would affect either the text of the PD district ordinance or the general layout of any element of the 

preliminary PD plan, and that does not contain its own amendment procedures or qualify for approval 

pursuant to §2.10.3: Minor Modification2.10.2.  

2. Any property owner in a zoning district other than the M-4 or M-5 zoning district106 may propose a PD 

zoning district in accordance with these procedures.  

 
106  The M-4 and M-5 zoning districts are called out here to be consistent with the standards drafted in Part 1 (2.7.2B) prohibiting the 

establishment of a PD in the M-4 and M-5 districts. 



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.5 Rezoning, Zoning Text, and Plan Amendment Procedures  

 2.5.3 Rezoning to Planned Development (PD) 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  46 

3. A parcel proposed for a PD is not required to be under single ownership. However, if not under single 

ownership, the multiple owners shall all consent to the development of their individual properties 

consistent with the requirements of the proposed PD district ordinance. Any transfer of land within the 

development resulting in ownership within the development by two or more parties after an 

application has been filed shall not alter the applicability of the regulations contained in this UDC.  

4. All applications that involve subdivision of a lot or parcel shall also be subject to the platting 

procedures in §2.9: Platting Procedures. 

 Overview of Two-Step PD Process 

Evaluation and approval of an application for Rezoning to PD shall occur in two phases, each of which is 

further detailed in the sections that follow. 

1. Preliminary PD Concept Plan 

a. The purpose of the Preliminary PD Concept Plan is to allow the applicant, the Town, and the public 

to evaluate and discuss basic concepts of the proposed PD and to consider whether the 

development of the property as a PD will result in a significant improvement over its development 

within a base zoning district. 

b. The review and consideration of the preliminary PD plan provides the opportunity to discuss and 

evaluate conceptual issues such as the appropriate number and types of residential units and 

commercial area; the types of uses and dimensional standards; the development standards 

applicable to the site; the general locations intended to be developed; and the initial planning for 

delivery of utilities and infrastructure and whether they will be provided on-site and/or connected 

to public systems. 

c. The outcome of the Preliminary PD Concept Plan review shall be an identification of issues and 

concerns that the applicant shall address to receive approval for a Final PD Site Plan from the 

Town. 

2. Final PD Site Plan 

The purpose of the Final PD Site Plan is for the applicant to respond to the issues raised during the 

review of the Preliminary PD Concept Plan and to prepare detailed engineering solutions to those 

issues and concerns that conform to the approved Preliminary PD Concept Plan. 

 Preliminary Planned Development (PD) Procedure 

The process diagram below identifies the applicable steps from §2.4: Common Review Procedures, that 

apply to the review of preliminary PD applications. Additions or modifications to the common review 

procedures are noted below. 
 

Pre-

Application 

Activities 

Application 

Submittal & 

Processing 

Staff Review 

Scheduling & 

Notice of 

Public 

Hearings 

Review & 

Decision 

Post-Decision 

Actions & 

Limitations 

2.4.2 2.4.3 2.4.4 2.4.5 2.4.6 2.4.7 

      

      



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.5 Rezoning, Zoning Text, and Plan Amendment Procedures  

 2.5.3 Rezoning to Planned Development (PD) 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  47 

Pre-

Application 

Activities 

Application 

Submittal & 

Processing 

Staff Review 

Scheduling & 

Notice of 

Public 

Hearings 

Review & 

Decision 

Post-Decision 

Actions & 

Limitations 

 Required, see 

text below 

Submit to  

Director 

Review by  

Director 

 Public hearings 

required Planning 

and Zoning 

Commission and 

City Council  

Review by 

Planning and 

Zoning 

Commission  

decision by City 

Council 

City Council 

action is final 

 

1. Pre-Application Activities 

a. Pre-Application Conference 

A pre-application conference is required in accordance with §2.4.2A: Pre-Application Conference. 

b. Neighborhood Meeting 

A neighborhood meeting is recommended in accordance with §2.4.2B: Neighborhood Meeting. 

2. Application Submittal & Processing107 

The application shall be submitted, accepted, revised, and may be withdrawn, in accordance with 

§2.4.3: Application Submittal and Processing, with the following modifications: 

a. The Preliminary PD Concept Plan submittal requirements are identified in the Administrative 

Manual. At a minimum, the Preliminary PD Concept Plan shall indicate the following: 

i. Analysis as to why other flexibility and relief procedures in this UDC are not sufficient to 

accommodate the proposed development. 

ii. For the proposed development, the following characteristics, as applicable: 

a. Description of the existing conditions of the site; 

b. Statement of consistency with the Comprehensive Plan; 

c. General site characteristics including but not limited to topography, utility 

corridors/easements, drainage patterns, significant natural features, or other details 

deemed necessary by the Director; 

d. Proposed land uses, including the approximate number and type of residential units and 

the approximate square footage and type of nonresidential uses; 

e. Floor area of proposed buildings; 

f. General site planning layout, including vehicular and pedestrian access, open space. 

landscape area, and streetscape; 

g. Preliminary façade plans such as conceptual renderings and/or precedent imagery, as 

determined by the Town; 

h. Proposed public improvements; 

i. Proposed deviations from this UDC; and 

j. Proposed phasing schedule, if applicable. 

 
107  We did not carry forward the detailed application submittal requirements listed in Article XIX, Sec. 8(B); Article XV, Sec. 5(2); or Article 

XIX, Sec. 7(B)(1). We recommend this list be relocated to and Administrative Manual outside of the UDC to allow for streamlined 
updates. 



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.5 Rezoning, Zoning Text, and Plan Amendment Procedures  

 2.5.3 Rezoning to Planned Development (PD) 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  48 

b. PD Agreement 

i. A PD agreement that specifies the terms and conditions defining the development parameters 

and provides for management and maintenance of development.  

ii. The agreement shall establish the responsibility of the developer to design and construct or 

install required and proposed on- and off-site public facilities in compliance with applicable 

Town, state, and federal regulations. This shall include the responsibility to dedicate to the 

public the rights-of-way and easements necessary for the construction and installation of such 

improvements. 

c. Phasing Plan 

If development in the proposed PD is proposed to be phased, the Preliminary PD Concept Plan 

and agreement shall include a development phasing plan that includes the general sequence and 

timing of development, including types and number of units and the timing of infrastructure and 

public improvements. 

3. Staff Review 

The staff shall review the application and prepare a staff report and recommendation in accordance 

with §2.4.4: Staff Review. 

4. Scheduling and Notice of Public Hearings 

The application shall be scheduled for public hearings before the Planning and Zoning Commission 

and City Council and shall be noticed pursuant to §2.4.5: Scheduling and Notice of Public Hearings. 

5. Review and Decision 

The application shall be reviewed and decided upon by the City Council in accordance with §2.4.6: 

Review and Decision, with the following modifications: 

a. Planning and Zoning Commission Review and Recommendation 

The Planning and Zoning Commission shall review the application in accordance with the approval 

criteria in §2.5.3F: Review Criteria and shall forward its recommendation to the City Council. 

b. City Council Review and Decision 

The City Council may review and approve, approve with conditions, or deny the application in 

accordance with the approval criteria in §2.5.3F: Review Criteria. 

6. Post-Decision Actions and Limitations 

All common procedures in §2.4.7: Post-Decision Actions and Limitations, shall apply, with the following 

modifications: 

a. Expiration of Approval108 

i. If a Final PD Site Plan has not been submitted within two years following approval of the 

Preliminary PD Concept Plan and PD agreement, the preliminary PD concept plan approval 

shall expire unless the property owner requests an extension prior to the expiration of the 

two-year period.  

ii. The Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council have the option to extend these time 

periods upon written request prior to the expiration. The burden is on the applicant to 

present evidence showing:109 

a. Failure to proceed with development of the Final PD Site Plan was beyond the applicant’s 

control; 

 
108  Current Belt Line district standards. 
109  New. The proposed criteria to evaluate requests for time extensions is more objective.  



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.5 Rezoning, Zoning Text, and Plan Amendment Procedures  

 2.5.3 Rezoning to Planned Development (PD) 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  49 

b. The development complies with this UDC and the Comprehensive Plan; and 

c. There is a reasonable likelihood that the next step in the development application will be 

submitted in the next calendar year. 

iii. Permitted time frames do not change with successive owners. 

b. Effect of Approval 

Approval of a Preliminary PD Concept Plan shall be deemed to authorize the applicant to submit to 

the Town an application for a Final PD Site Plan pursuant to the procedure below. It shall not 

constitute final approval for the PD. Preliminary PD concept plan approval vests no development 

rights. 

 Final Planned Development (PD) Procedure 

The process diagram below identifies the applicable steps from §2.4: Common Review Procedures, that 

apply to the review of final PD applications. Additions or modifications to the common review procedures 

are noted below. 
 

Pre-

Application 

Activities 

Application 

Submittal & 

Processing 

Staff Review 

Scheduling & 

Notice of 

Public 

Hearings 

Review & 

Decision 

Post-Decision 

Actions & 

Limitations 

2.4.2 2.4.3 2.4.4 2.4.5 2.4.6 2.4.7 

      

      

 Pre-application 

conference 

required 

Submit to Town Review by Town 

 Public hearings 

required 

Planning and 

Zoning 

Commission and 

City Council  

Review by 

Planning and 

Zoning 

Commission  

decision by City 

Council 

City Council 

action is final 

 

1. Pre-Application Activities 

A pre-application conference is required in accordance with §2.4.2A: Pre-Application Conference. 

2. Application Submittal & Processing 

The application shall be submitted, accepted, revised, and may be withdrawn, in accordance with 

§2.4.3: Application Submittal and Processing, with the following modifications: 

a. Plan Requirements110 

The Final PD Site Plan submittal requirements are identified in the Administrative Manual. The 

Final PD Site Plan shall at a minimum include the following: 

i. The location of individual development areas, identified by land use and development density 

and intensity; 

ii. The land area, use types, and number of units by type; 

iii. The location, amount, and type of common open space, parks, and recreation areas; 

 
110  We did not carry forward the detailed list of plan submittal contents in current MXR Article XVIII, Sec. 4(Q) or UC Article XIX, Sec. 9(B), 

we recommend this material be relocated to an Administrative Manual outside of the UDC to allow for more streamlined updates. 



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.5 Rezoning, Zoning Text, and Plan Amendment Procedures  

 2.5.3 Rezoning to Planned Development (PD) 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  50 

iv. The location of landscaping and installation plans; 

v. The location of environmentally sensitive lands, wildlife habitat, areas of visual impact, and 

waterways; 

vi. Tree inventory and tree preservation plan; 

vii. On-site circulation system, including the location of all public and/or private streets, drive 

aisles and fire lanes, existing transportation corridors, and pedestrian and bicycle paths and 

how they connect to existing and planned systems; 

viii. Final façade plans including colored elevations for each façade of all buildings proposed; 

ix. The location of water and wastewater facilities and how they will connect to existing and 

planned systems; 

x. The location of on-site storm drainage facilities and how they will connect to existing and 

planned systems; 

xi. The location of all other public facilities serving the development; 

xii. Provisions addressing how on- and off-site transportation, water, wastewater, stormwater 

management, and other public facilities will be provided to accommodate the proposed 

development; 

xiii. Any other provisions the Planning and Zoning Commission determine relevant and necessary 

regarding the development of the PD in accordance with applicable standards and 

regulations. 

b. Public Benefit 

An analysis of how the proposed PD addresses a demonstrated community need or otherwise 

results in one or more benefits that offset the impacts of the requested flexibility from the 

requirements of this UDC. 

c. Conformance with the Preliminary PD Concept Plan and Agreement111 

The Final PD Site Plan shall conform to the approved Preliminary PD Concept Plan and agreement 

and any associated conditions of approval. If the Final PD Site Plan includes any of the following 

modifications from the Preliminary PD Concept Plan, then the application shall not be approved 

and a new application for a Preliminary PD Concept Plan shall be required. 

i. A reduction by greater than five percent of the open space proposed; 

ii. An increase by greater than 10 percent in the proposed commercial floor area; 

iii. An increase by greater than five percent of the approved number of residential dwelling units; 

or 

iv. Any change that is substantially inconsistent with a condition of the preliminary PD plan 

approval. 

 
111  These criteria replace those found in current Article XIX, Sec. 12 that define a “minor amendment” to a development plan: “Minor 

amendments are those changes of detail which do not alter the basic relationship of the proposed development to adjacent property; 
which do not alter the uses permitted, or increase residential density by more than five percent; which do not change the minimum 
number of units necessary to satisfy minimum residential standards for the residential subdistrict; which do not decrease off-street 
parking ratios, or open space requirements; which do not significantly alter the architecture, or landscape, as indicated by the approved 
development plan; and which do not alter special conditions attached by the Planning and Zoning Commission, or city council, to the 
approved Concept Plan or development plan.” This also replaces the amendment and “minor” and “major” waiver standards in the 
current Belt Line standards found in Article XIX.A, Sec. III(C) and Article XIX.A, Sec. VIII(E). These revised criteria are for discussion 
purposes and may be revised in future drafts following discussion with staff and stakeholders. 



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.5 Rezoning, Zoning Text, and Plan Amendment Procedures  

 2.5.3 Rezoning to Planned Development (PD) 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  51 

3. Staff Review 

The staff shall review the application and prepare a staff report and recommendation in accordance 

with §2.4.4: Staff Review. 

4. Scheduling and Notice of Public Hearings 

The application shall be scheduled for public hearings before the Planning and Zoning Commission 

and City Council and shall be noticed pursuant to §2.4.5: Scheduling and Notice of Public Hearings. 

5. Review and Decision 

The application shall be reviewed and decided upon by the City Council in accordance with §2.4.6: 

Review and Decision, with the following modifications: 

a. Planning and Zoning Commission Review and Recommendation 

After receipt of the staff report, the Planning and Zoning Commission shall conduct a public 

hearing on the application for the Final PD Site Plan. The Planning and Zoning Commission shall 

recommend to the City Council to approve, approve with conditions, or deny the application for a 

Final PD Site Plan based on the criteria in §2.5.3F: Review Criteria and whether it conforms to the 

approved Preliminary PD Concept Plan. 

b. City Council Review and Decision 

After receipt of a recommendation from the Planning and Zoning Commission, the City Council 

shall conduct a public hearing on the application for the final PD plan and PD agreement. The City 

Council shall approve, approve with conditions, or deny the application for a final PD plan and 

agreement based on the criteria in §2.5.3F: Review Criteria and whether it conforms to the 

approved preliminary PD plan. 

6. Post-Decision Actions and Limitations 

All common procedures in §2.4.7: Post-Decision Actions and Limitations, shall apply, with the following 

modifications: 

a. Map Revision 

Following approval of a Rezoning to PD, the Director shall prepare an appropriate revision to the 

Official Zoning Map. 

b. Effect of Approval112 

Review of a Final PD Site Plan may be conducted simultaneously with Preliminary Platting review 

pursuant to §2.9: Platting Procedures, if applicable. Platting requirements otherwise applicable to 

the development may be waived by the City Council where it finds that such waiver is not in 

conflict with zoning district standards and regulations and the approved Preliminary PD Concept 

Plan. 

c. Binding Approval 

An approved Final PD Site Plan shall be binding upon the petitioner, their successors and assigns, 

and shall limit and control the issuance and validity of all certificates of zoning compliance. 

d. Expiration of Approval113 

i. If a building permit has not been obtained within two years following approval of the Final PD 

Site Plan, the Final PD Site Plan shall expire unless the property owner requests an extension 

prior to the expiration of the two-year period.  

 
112  From current Article XVIII, Sec. 4 (S).  
113  Replaces current Article XVIII, Sec. 4(T); and Article XIX, Sec. 13. 



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.5 Rezoning, Zoning Text, and Plan Amendment Procedures  

 2.5.3 Rezoning to Planned Development (PD) 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  52 

ii. If the Final PD Site Plan consists of more than a single use, the property owner must make 

substantial progress in obtaining building permits for the remainder of the uses authorized by 

the Final PD Site Plan, in accordance with an adopted phasing plan. The Planning and Zoning 

Commission or the City Council may initiate review of the development in order to determine 

whether significant progress is being made. In the event that the City Council determines that 

significant progress is not being made, following notice and a public hearing, the City Council 

may terminate the PD plan and PD agreement or may attach additional conditions to the 

extension of the PD plan or PD agreement. 

iii. The Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council have the option to extend these time 

periods upon written request prior to the expiration. The burden is on the applicant to 

present evidence showing :114 

a. Failure to proceed with development of the PD plan was beyond the applicant’s control; 

b. The development complies with this UDC and the Comprehensive Plan; and 

c. There is a reasonable likelihood that the next step in the development application will be 

submitted within the next calendar year. 

iv. Permitted time frames do not change with successive owners. 

e. Reversion to Previous Zoning 

If a Final PD Site Plan expires, the Director may initiate a Rezoning process to consider a reversion 

to the prior zoning designation. 

f. Relationship to Code 

Except as expressly provided otherwise in a Final PD Site Plan, all development of property within 

the PD district shall conform to all other standards of this UDC. If the approved Final PD Site Plan 

falls silent concerning a requirement but this UDC does not, the UDC shall be the controlling 

document. If the Final PD Site Plan conflicts with this UDC, the Final PD Site Plan shall control. 

g. Amendments to Preliminary Concept and Final Planned Development Site Plan115 

i. Generally 

a. The applicant or its successors may request amendments to the Preliminary PD Concept 

Plan and agreement or the Final PD Site Plan. 

b. Amendments to the approved Preliminary PD Concept Plan or Final PD Site Plan shall be 

delineated as major or minor amendments, according to the criteria set forth in this 

subsection.  

c. Amendments to the approved Preliminary PD Concept Plan or Final PD Site Plan will not 

affect development units not included in the proposed amendment.  

d. Upon receipt of a PD amendment application, the Director shall determine if the 

proposed amendment constitutes a major or minor amendment subject to the criteria in 

§ii and iii below. 

ii. Major Amendments 

a. An amendment will be deemed major if it involves any one of the following:  

i. A change in the overall PD district boundary;  

ii. A significant change to the approximate boundary of one or more development 

unit(s) from that approved in the PD district, as determined by the Director. A 

change to an individual development unit generally shall be deemed to be 

 
114  New. The proposed criteria to evaluate requests for time extensions is more objective.  
115  New provisions specifying the amount of minor changes that can be made to a final PD plan without requiring a new Rezoning request. 



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.5 Rezoning, Zoning Text, and Plan Amendment Procedures  

 2.5.3 Rezoning to Planned Development (PD) 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  53 

significant if it represents a 10 percent increase to the approximate gross area of 

the development unit as approved in the PD district; 

iii. An increase of five percent or more of the approved number of projected dwelling 

units or 10 percent of the gross leasable area (GLA) for an individual development 

unit;  

iv. Any change in land use or density that is likely to substantially impact or burden 

public facilities and utilities infrastructure as determined by the Director; 

v. Any change in land use or density that is likely to substantially impact or burden 

mobility adjacent to the PD district or to the overall major street system; 

vi. Any other proposed change to the Preliminary PD Concept Plan or Final PD Site 

Plan, which substantively alters one or more components of the PD district. 

b. If the Director determines the amendment to be major, the amendment request shall be 

processed under the Rezoning procedure described in this subsection. 

iii. Minor Amendments 

Amendments not meeting one or more of the criteria listed above for major amendments 

shall be considered minor. If the Director determines the amendment to be minor, the 

Director may administratively act on the amendment and attach stipulations or conditions of 

approval thereto, to protect the public health, safety, and welfare.  

 Review Criteria116 

Amending the Official Zoning Map to approve a PD is a matter committed to the legislative discretion of the 

City Council. In deciding the application, the Planning and Zoning Commission in their review and 

recommendation, and the City Council in their decision shall consider whether and the extent to which the 

proposed PD meets the general approval criteria for Rezoning in §2.5.2D, and also the following: 

1. Whether the proposed PD plan: 

a. Addresses a unique situation; 

b. Provides benefit to the Town; 

c. Incorporates innovative design, layout, or configuration resulting in enhanced development 

feasibility and quality over what could have been accomplished through strict application of a base 

zoning district or other standards of this UDC. The improvements in quality may include, but are 

not limited to: 

i. Improvements in open space provision and access; 

ii. Enhanced landscape; 

iii. Environmental protection; 

iv. Tree/vegetation preservation; 

v. Creation of multiple-use projects including residential, commercial, and social amenities; 

vi. Efficient provision of streets, utilities, and public services; or 

vii. Increased diversity of housing options and neighborhood typologies; 

2. Whether the proposed PD plan meets the other standards of this UDC not expressly modified by the 

PD plan or development agreement; and 

 
116  New approval criteria for PDs used to directly evaluate each proposal.  



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.5 Rezoning, Zoning Text, and Plan Amendment Procedures  

 2.5.4 Zoning Text Amendment 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  54 

3. The applicant's proposal is impracticable to achieve within one of the Town's residential, mixed-use, or 

nonresidential base zoning districts in accordance with Article ---117, but is consistent with the above 

criteria. 

 Zoning Text Amendment118 

 Purpose 

Under the provisions of Texas Local Government Code Chapter 211, the City Council is authorized to 

amend, change, or supplement by ordinance the text of the UDC. The Zoning Text Amendment procedure 

is intended to provide a method for changing the text of this UDC. 

 Applicability 

The provisions of this UDC may periodically be amended or repealed. 

 Zoning Text Amendment Procedure 

The process diagram below identifies the applicable steps from §2.4: Common Review Procedures, that 

apply to the review of Zoning Text Amendment applications. Additions or modifications to the common 

review procedures are noted below. 
 

Pre-

Application 

Activities 

Application 

Submittal & 

Processing 

Staff Review 

Scheduling & 

Notice of 

Public 

Hearings 

Review & 

Decision 

Post-Decision 

Actions & 

Limitations 

2.4.2 2.4.3 2.4.4 2.4.5 2.4.6 2.4.7 

      

      

 Optional Submit to Town Review by Town 

 Public hearings 

required Planning 

and Zoning 

Commission and 

City Council  

Review by 

Planning and 

Zoning 

Commission  

decision by City 

Council 

City Council 

action is final 

 

1. Application Submittal & Processing 

The application shall be submitted, accepted, revised, and may be withdrawn, in accordance with 

§2.4.3: Application Submittal and Processing, with the following modifications: 

a. A Zoning Text Amendment application shall be prepared by the Director. If the Zoning Text 

Amendment is initiated by the Planning and Zoning Commission or City Council, the Director shall 

prepare the application at the request of the Planning and Zoning Commission or City Council. 

2. Staff Review 

The staff shall review the application and prepare a staff report and recommendation in accordance 

with §2.4.4: Staff Review. 

 
117  Link to Article 2: Zoning Districts to be added in Consolidated Draft. 
118  New. This procedure formalizes the process by which amendments to the text of this UDC can be made.  



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.5 Rezoning, Zoning Text, and Plan Amendment Procedures  

 2.5.5 Comprehensive Plan Amendment 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  55 

3. Scheduling and Notice of Public Hearings 

The application shall be scheduled for public hearings before the Planning and Zoning Commission 

and City Council and shall be noticed pursuant to §2.4.5: Scheduling and Notice of Public Hearings. 

4. Review and Decision 

The application shall be reviewed and decided upon by the City Council in accordance with §2.4.6: 

Review and Decision, with the following modifications: 

a. Planning and Zoning Commission Review and Recommendation 

The Planning and Zoning Commission shall review the application in accordance with the approval 

criteria in §2.5.4D: Review Criteria and shall forward its recommendation to the City Council. 

b. City Council Review and Decision 

The City Council may review and approve, approve with conditions, or deny the application in 

accordance with the approval criteria in §2.5.4D: Review Criteria. 

5. Post-Decision Actions and Limitations 

All common procedures in §2.4.7: Post-Decision Actions and Limitations, shall apply, with the following 

modifications: 

a. Approval of a Zoning Text Amendment authorizes the approved revision to the text of this UDC 

only. A Zoning Text Amendment shall not authorize specific development activity. 

b. A Zoning Text Amendment shall remain valid until the revised text of this UDC is subsequently 

amended in accordance with this §2.5.4: Zoning Text Amendment. 

 Review Criteria 

In reviewing a proposed Zoning Text Amendment application, the review and decision-making body shall 

consider if the proposed Zoning Text Amendment: 

1. Is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan, other adopted plans, and other Town policies; 

2. Does not conflict with other provisions of this UDC or other provisions in the Addison Code of 

Ordinances; 

3. Is necessary to address a demonstrated community need; 

4. Is necessary to address state law; 

5. Is necessary to respond to changes in conditions and/or policy;  

6. Is necessary to correct an omission or error in this UDC; and/or 

7. Is consistent with the general purpose and intent of this UDC. 

 Comprehensive Plan Amendment119 

 Purpose 

The Comprehensive Plan Amendment procedure is intended to provide a mechanism for the Town to 

amend the text and or maps of the Comprehensive Plan or for adoption of a new Comprehensive Plan. The 

amendment process is established to provide flexibility in response to changing circumstances and to 

reflect changes in public policy, and to advance the general welfare of the Town. 

 
119  New. While the Town has a Comprehensive Plan, there is not an established procedure in the current Code of Ordinances for processing 

amendments. It is intended more for targeted amendments to the plan, as opposed to wholesale plan revisions.  



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.5 Rezoning, Zoning Text, and Plan Amendment Procedures  

 2.5.5 Comprehensive Plan Amendment 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  56 

 Applicability 

An amendment to the Comprehensive Plan may be initiated by the City Council, the Planning and Zoning 

Commission, the Director, or the property owner(s) with an application executed by all property owners, or 

their authorized agents. 

 Comprehensive Plan Amendment Procedure 

The process diagram below identifies the applicable steps from §2.4: Common Review Procedures, that 

apply to the review of Comprehensive Plan Amendment applications. Additions or modifications to the 

common review procedures are noted below. 
 

Pre-

Application 

Activities 

Application 

Submittal & 

Processing 

Staff Review 

Scheduling & 

Notice of 

Public 

Hearings 

Review & 

Decision 

Post-Decision 

Actions & 

Limitations 

2.4.2 2.4.3 2.4.4 2.4.5 2.4.6 2.4.7 

      

      

 Required, see 

text below 
Submit to Town Review by Town 

 Public hearings 

required Planning 

and Zoning 

Commission and 

City Council  

Review by 

Planning and 

Zoning 

Commission  

decision by City 

Council 

City Council 

action is final 

 

1. Pre-Application Activities 

a. Pre-application Conference 

A pre-application conference is required in accordance with §2.4.2A: Pre-Application Conference. 

b. Neighborhood Meeting 

A neighborhood meeting is recommended in accordance with §2.4.2B: Neighborhood Meeting. 

2. Application Submittal & Processing 

The application shall be submitted, accepted, revised, and may be withdrawn, in accordance with 

§2.4.3: Application Submittal and Processing. 

3. Staff Review 

The staff shall review the application and prepare a staff report and recommendation in accordance 

with §2.4.4: Staff Review. 

4. Scheduling and Notice of Public Hearings 

The application shall be scheduled for public hearings before the Planning and Zoning Commission 

and City Council and shall be noticed pursuant to §2.4.5: Scheduling and Notice of Public Hearings, with 

the following modifications. 

5. Review and Decision 

The application shall be reviewed and decided upon by the City Council in accordance with §2.4.6: 

Review and Decision, with the following modifications: 



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.5 Rezoning, Zoning Text, and Plan Amendment Procedures  

 1.1.1  

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  57 

a. Planning and Zoning Commission Review and Recommendation 

The Planning and Zoning Commission shall review the application in accordance with the approval 

criteria in §2.5.5D, and shall forward its recommendation to the City Council. 

b. City Council Review and Decision 

The City Council may review and approve, approve with conditions, or deny the application in 

accordance with the approval criteria in §2.5.5D. 

6. Post-Decision Actions and Limitations 

The City Council decision is a final action and may not be appealed. 

 Review Criteria120 

In reviewing a proposed Comprehensive Plan Amendment application, the review and decision-making 

body shall consider if: 

1. There was an error in the original Comprehensive Plan adoption; 

2. Events, trends, or facts after adoption of the Comprehensive Plan have changed the City Council’s 

original findings made upon plan adoption; and/or 

3. Events, trends, or facts after adoption of the Comprehensive Plan have changed the character or 

condition of an area so as to make the proposed amendment necessary. 

4. The amendment is not in conflict with any portion of the goals and policies of the plan. 

5. The amendment constitutes a substantial benefit to the Town and is not solely for the good or benefit 

of a particular landowner or owners at a particular point in time. 

6. The proposed amendment and other amendments in the general area are compatible with the land 

use goals of the plan and that they avoid creation of isolated uses that will cause incompatible 

community form and a burden on public services and facilities. 

 Annexation 

 Procedure 

Annexation into the Town of Addison may occur in accordance with the procedures in Texas Local 

Government Code (TLGC), Chapter 43 and §212.172; §1.04 of the Town’s Charter; and other applicable 

Town ordinances.121 

 Concurrent Zoning122 

In the event that the Planning and Zoning Commission holds a hearing on proposed Annexation, it may, at 

its discretion, at the same time hold a hearing upon the permanent zoning that is to be given to the area or 

tract to be annexed, and make a recommendation on both matters to the city council so that the city 

council can, if it desires, act on the matter of permanent zoning and Annexation at the same time. 

 Newly Annexed Territory123 

All territory annexed to the Town hereafter shall be temporarily classified for R-1 single-family dwelling 

purposes only until permanently zoned by the governing body of the Town. The Planning and Zoning 

Commission shall, as soon as practicable after Annexation of any of the territory to the town, institute 

proceedings on its own motion to give the newly annexed territory a permanent zoning, and the procedure 

to be followed shall be the same as is provided by law for the adoption of original zoning regulations. 

 
120  New. These are review criteria we have drafted for other communities.  
121  New.  
122   Replaces Appendix A, Article XXV, Sec. 3. 
123   Replaces Appendix A, Article II, Sec. 1.  



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  0   

 2.5.6 Annexation 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  58 

  



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.6 Site Planning and Miscellaneous Permits  

 2.6.1 Concept Plan 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  59 

2.6 Site Planning and Miscellaneous Permits 

 Concept Plan124 

 Purpose 

The Concept Plan review procedure is intended to provide a mechanism for review of large and/or complex 

or phased projects as well as to provide an option to assist any applicant for development in determining 

the general feasibility of land. A Concept Plan may be submitted either in conjunction with an application 

for Rezoning or as a precursor to the preparation and submittal of the more specific and detailed plans 

required for platting of land, major Site Plan, or Special Use Permit approvals. 

 Applicability125 

1. A Concept Plan shall be required for any application that meets either of the following criteria: 

a. The application proposes to phase initiation of the development over three or more years; or 

b. The Director determines that the application is unusually complex or raises potentially unique or 

serious impacts on the town or the surrounding areas. 

2. A Concept Plan is optional for any other platting of land, major Site Plan, or Special Use Permit 

application. 

 Concept Plan for Rezoning Procedure 

The process diagram below identifies the applicable steps from §2.4: Common Review Procedures, that 

apply to the review of Concept Plan applications submitted in conjunction with a request for Rezoning. 

Additions or modifications to the common review procedures are noted below. 
 

Pre-

Application 

Activities 

Application 

Submittal & 

Processing 

Staff Review 

Scheduling & 

Notice of 

Public 

Hearings 

Review & 

Decision 

Post-Decision 

Actions & 

Limitations 

2.4.2 2.4.3 2.4.4 2.4.5 2.4.6 2.4.7 

      

      

Required, see 

text below 
Submit to Town Review by Town 

 Public hearings 

required 

Planning and 

Zoning 

Commission and 

City Council  

Review by 

Planning and 

Zoning 

Commission  

decision by City 

Council 

Expires after 2 

years 

1. Pre-Application Activities 

a. Pre-Application Conference 

A pre-application conference is required in accordance with §2.4.2A: Pre-Application Conference. 

b. Neighborhood Meeting 

A neighborhood meeting is recommended in accordance with §2.4.2B: Neighborhood Meeting. 

 
124  New. 
125  The proposed limitations are a starting point for discussion and may be further refined in the Consolidated Draft. 



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.6 Site Planning and Miscellaneous Permits  

 2.6.1 Concept Plan 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  60 

2. Application Submittal & Processing 

The application shall be submitted, accepted, revised, and may be withdrawn, in accordance with 

§2.4.3: Application Submittal and Processing, with the following modifications: 

a. The Concept Plan must contain a general site layout plan that includes the following:126 

i. Overall property boundary; 

ii. Proposed and existing thoroughfares, boulevards and large streets; 

iii. A time schedule of development; 

iv. Identification of development areas such as districts, blocks or parcels, with proposed 

phasing; and 

v. All other features necessary to show the arrangement and pattern of public and private land 

uses. 

3. Staff Review 

The staff shall review the application and prepare a staff report and recommendation in accordance 

with §2.4.4: Staff Review. 

4. Scheduling and Notice of Public Hearings 

The application shall be scheduled for public hearings before the Planning and Zoning Commission 

and shall be noticed pursuant to §2.4.5: Scheduling and Notice of Public Hearings. 

5. Review and Decision 

The application shall be reviewed and decided upon by the Planning and Zoning Commission in 

accordance with §2.4.6: Review and Decision, and the approval criteria in §2.6.2F: Review Criteria. 

6. Post-Decision Actions and Limitations 

All common procedures in §2.4.7: Post-Decision Actions and Limitations, shall apply. 

 All Other Concept Plans Procedure 

The process diagram below identifies the applicable steps from §2.4: Common Review Procedures, that 

apply to the review of Concept Plan applications that are not associated with requests for Rezoning. 

Additions or modifications to the common review procedures are noted below. 
 

Pre-

Application 

Activities 

Application 

Submittal & 

Processing 

Staff Review 

Scheduling & 

Notice of 

Public 

Hearings 

Review & 

Decision 

Post-Decision 

Actions & 

Limitations 

2.4.2 2.4.3 2.4.4 2.4.5 2.4.6 2.4.7 

      

      

Required, see 

text below 
Submit to Town Review by Town 

Public hearings 

required 

Planning and 

Zoning 

Commission  

Review by Town,  

decision by 

Planning and 

Zoning 

Commission 

Expires after 2 

years 

 
126  Based on Sec. 4, Article XVIII (Concept Plans in the MXR residential district). 



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.6 Site Planning and Miscellaneous Permits  

 2.6.1 Concept Plan 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  61 

1. Pre-Application Activities 

a. Pre-Application Conference 

A pre-application conference is required in accordance with §2.4.2A: Pre-Application Conference. 

b. Neighborhood Meeting 

A neighborhood meeting is recommended in accordance with §2.4.2B: Neighborhood Meeting. 

2. Application Submittal & Processing 

The application shall be submitted, accepted, revised, and may be withdrawn, in accordance with 

§2.4.3: Application Submittal and Processing, with the following modifications: 

a. The Concept Plan must contain a general site layout plan that includes the following:127 

i. Overall property boundary; 

ii. Proposed and existing thoroughfares, boulevards and large streets; 

iii. A time schedule of development; 

iv. Identification of development areas such as districts, blocks or parcels, with proposed 

phasing; and 

v. All other features necessary to show the arrangement and pattern of public and private land 

uses. 

3. Staff Review 

The staff shall review the application and prepare a staff report and recommendation in accordance 

with §2.4.4: Staff Review. 

4. Scheduling and Notice of Public Hearings 

The application shall be scheduled for public hearings before the Planning and Zoning Commission 

and shall be noticed pursuant to §2.4.5: Scheduling and Notice of Public Hearings. 

5. Review and Decision 

The application shall be reviewed and decided upon by the Planning and Zoning Commission in 

accordance with §2.4.6: Review and Decision, and the approval criteria in §2.6.2F: Review Criteria. 

6. Post-Decision Actions and Limitations 

All common procedures in §2.4.7: Post-Decision Actions and Limitations, shall apply. 

 Review Criteria 

In reviewing a proposed Site Plan application, the review and decision-making body shall consider the 

general approval criteria in §2.4.6C: General Approval Criteria. 

  

 
127  Based on Sec. 4, Article XVIII (Concept Plans in the MXR residential district). 



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.6 Site Planning and Miscellaneous Permits  

 2.6.2 Site Plan Review 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  62 

 Site Plan Review128 

Commentary: 

While Addison currently requires Site Plan review for development permits, there are no clear processes established 

in the development regulations outlining that procedure (though there is a “preliminary Site Plan” application on the 

website). Other revisions to the UDC are intended to reduce reliance on PDs, in part by improving the regulations 

generally through a better lineup of zoning districts; more complete use permissions that respond better to market 

demand; and more calibrated, flexible, and predicable development standards. If all those tools are embraced, and 

by-right development does become more common in Addison, then a revised Site Plan tool would provide an 

important mechanism for the Town to evaluate compliance with the new UDC, and to make more efficient use of 

Town resources. 

 Purpose 

The Site Plan review procedure is intended to ensure compliance with the development and design 

standards of this UDC and to encourage quality development reflective of the adopted goals and objectives 

of the Town. The Site Plan review procedure ensures that proposed development applications address and 

mitigate potential adverse impacts associated with the proposal. 

 Applicability 

1. Review Required 

Major or minor site plan review is required for the following types of activities. 

a. New construction of nonresidential buildings, or residential buildings or sites resulting in three or 

more additional dwellings units. 

b. Change in use that involves or requires other site improvements such as parking, landscaping, 

screening, buffering, drainage facilities, or other changes to the site that may be required by this 

UDC. 

c. Modifications to site improvements such as parking, landscaping, screening, buffering, drainage 

facilities, or other changes to the site that may be required by this UDC. 

d. As a component of any Special Use Permit, request to rezone to Planned Development, or request 

to amend an existing Planned Development or Special Use Permit. 

2. Exemptions from Site Plan Review 

Site plan review is not required for the following activities, but such activities shall be subject to the 

standards of this UDC and building permit review: 

a. Construction of a single-family detached dwelling on a single lot or duplex dwelling on a single lot, 

additions to such dwellings and structures accessory to such dwellings; 

b. A change in use that does not involve a Rezoning action or Special Use Permit, or require other site 

improvements such as parking, landscaping, screening, buffering, drainage facilities, or other 

changes to the site that may be required by this UDC; 

c. Tenant improvements that do not involve a Rezoning action or Special Use Permit, or require other 

site improvements such as parking, landscaping, screening, buffering, drainage facilities, or other 

changes to the site that may be required by this UDC; 

d. Construction or erection of accessory buildings or structures, fences, or screening walls; 

e. Construction or erection of temporary uses or structures; and 

f. Any project where the Director determines that the review criteria for Site Plan review in §2.6.2F: 

Review Criteria, have been met or will be satisfied through the building permit process. 

 
128  New. As recommended in the Assessment Report, this section formalizes two Site Plan procedures (minor and major) and strengthens 

the approval criteria to ensure more predictable outcomes.  



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.6 Site Planning and Miscellaneous Permits  

 2.6.2 Site Plan Review 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  63 

 Thresholds for Site Plan Review Type129 

1. Minor Site Plan 

The following types of projects may be approved by the Director through the minor Site Plan approval 

process:  

a. A single use proposed in an existing structure that is less than 10,000 square feet in gross floor 

area for that use, not including a single-family detached or duplex dwelling.  

b. A combination of uses proposed in an existing structure that is less than 20,000 square feet in 

gross floor area, not including a single-family detached or duplex dwelling.  

c. Any new nonresidential structure less than 5,000 square feet in gross floor area. 

d. Any single-family attached development comprised or 40 or fewer dwelling units. 

e. Any application that does not exceed the thresholds for minor redevelopment, listed below:131 

i. Expansions, alterations, or modifications that increase the gross floor area of an existing 

structure by the greater of 10,000 square feet or between 10 and 50 percent; 

ii. Expansions, alterations, or modifications that increase the total number of existing dwelling 

units on a lot by the lesser of 10 dwelling units or between 10 and 25 percent; 

iii. The alteration or expansion of any vehicular parking area by the greater of six spaces or 50 

percent, excluding resurfacing or restriping; 

iv. Any expansion or enlargement of a structure or land use that requires a Special Use Permit; or 

v. Applications for building permits or for certificates of occupancy for buildings previously 

unoccupied for a period of six consecutive months. 

2. Major Site Plan 

All other applications that meet the criteria in subsection 2.6.2B, Applicability, but that may not be 

processed as minor Site Plans shall require a major Site Plan. 
 

 Minor Site Plan Procedure 

The process diagram below identifies the applicable steps from §2.4: Common Review Procedures, that 

apply to the review of minor Site Plan applications. Additions or modifications to the common review 

procedures are noted below. 
 

Pre-

Application 

Activities 

Application 

Submittal & 

Processing 

Staff Review 

Scheduling & 

Notice of 

Public 

Hearings 

Review & 

Decision 

Post-Decision 

Actions & 

Limitations 

2.4.2 2.4.3 2.4.4 2.4.5 2.4.6 2.4.7 

      

      

Pre-application 

conference 

required 

Submit to Town Review by Town Not required 
Decision by 

Director 

Expires after 2 

years 

 
129  This subsection requires further discussion and will be further refined in the Consolidated Draft.  
131  These thresholds (drafted in the Development Standards draft) will be revisited and further refined in the Consolidated Draft. 



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.6 Site Planning and Miscellaneous Permits  

 2.6.2 Site Plan Review 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  64 

 

1. Pre-Application Activities 

A pre-application conference is required in accordance with §2.4.2A: Pre-Application Conference.  

2. Application Submittal & Processing 

The application shall be submitted, accepted, revised, and may be withdrawn, in accordance with 

§2.4.3: Application Submittal and Processing. 

3. Staff Review 

The staff shall review the application in accordance with §2.4.4: Staff Review. 

4. Review and Decision 

The application shall be reviewed and decided upon by the Director in accordance with §2.4.6: Review 

and Decision, and the review criteria in §2.6.2F: Review Criteria. 

5. Post-Decision Actions and Limitations 

All common procedures in §2.4.7: Post-Decision Actions and Limitations, shall apply. 

 Major Site Plan Procedure 

The process diagram below identifies the applicable steps from §2.4: Common Review Procedures, that 

apply to the review of major Site Plan applications. Additions or modifications to the common review 

procedures are noted below. 
 

Pre-

Application 

Activities 

Application 

Submittal & 

Processing 

Staff Review 

Scheduling of 

Public 

Meeting 

Review & 

Decision 

Post-Decision 

Actions & 

Limitations 

2.4.2 2.4.3 2.4.4 2.4.5 2.4.6 2.4.7 

      

      

Required, see 

text below 
Submit to Town Review by Town 

Public meeting 

required before 

Planning and 

Zoning 

Commission  

Review by Town,  

decision by 

Planning and 

Zoning 

Commission 

Expires after 2 

years 

 

1. Pre-Application Activities 

a. Pre-Application Conference 

A pre-application conference is required in accordance with §2.4.2A: Pre-Application Conference. 

b. Neighborhood Meeting 

A neighborhood meeting is recommended in accordance with §2.4.2B: Neighborhood Meeting. 

2. Application Submittal & Processing 

The application shall be submitted, accepted, revised, and may be withdrawn, in accordance with 

§2.4.3: Application Submittal and Processing. 



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.6 Site Planning and Miscellaneous Permits  

 2.6.2 Site Plan Review 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  65 

3. Staff Review 

The staff shall review the application and prepare a staff report and recommendation in accordance 

with §2.4.4: Staff Review. 

4. Scheduling and Notice of Public Meeting 

The application shall be scheduled for a public meeting before the Planning and Zoning Commission 

and shall be noticed pursuant to §2.4.5: Scheduling and Notice of Public Hearings. 

5. Review and Decision 

The application shall be reviewed and decided upon by the Planning and Zoning Commission in 

accordance with §2.4.6: Review and Decision, and the approval criteria in §2.6.2F: Review Criteria. 

6. Post-Decision Actions and Limitations 

All common procedures in §2.4.7: Post-Decision Actions and Limitations, shall apply. 

 Review Criteria 

In reviewing a proposed Site Plan application, the review and decision-making body shall consider the 

general approval criteria in 2.4.6C: General Approval Criteria. 

  



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.6 Site Planning and Miscellaneous Permits  

 1.1.1  

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  66 

 Temporary Use Permit132 

 Purpose 

The temporary use permit review procedure is intended to provide a mechanism for enforcement of the 

temporary use regulations of this UDC, in order to allow short-term and minor deviations for uses that are 

temporary in nature, that will not adversely impact surrounding properties and land uses, and that can be 

terminated and removed at will. 

 Applicability 

A temporary use permit is required before establishing, constructing, or installing any temporary or 

seasonal use or structure designated as requiring a temporary use permit in §---133 or §---.134 

 Temporary Use Permit Procedure 

The process diagram below identifies the applicable steps from §2.4: Common Review Procedures, that 

apply to the review of temporary use permit applications. Additions or modifications to the common review 

procedures are noted below. 
 

Pre-

Application 

Activities 

Application 

Submittal & 

Processing 

Staff Review 

Scheduling & 

Notice of 

Public 

Hearings 

Review & 

Decision 

Post-Decision 

Actions & 

Limitations 

2.4.2 2.4.3 2.4.4 2.4.5 2.4.6 2.4.7 

      

      

Not required Submit to Town Review by Town Not required 
Decision by 

Director 

Expiration  

based on 

approval,  

see text 

 

1. Application Submittal & Processing 

The application shall be submitted, accepted, revised, and may be withdrawn, in accordance with 

§2.4.3: Application Submittal and Processing. 

2. Staff Review 

The staff shall review the application in accordance with §2.4.4: Staff Review.  

3. Review and Decision 

The application shall be reviewed and decided upon by the Director in accordance with §2.4.6: Review 

and Decision, and the review criteria in §2.6.3D: Review Criteria. 

4. Post-Decision Actions and Limitations 

All common procedures in §2.4.7: Post-Decision Actions and Limitations, shall apply, with the following 

modifications: 

 
132        New. This section establishes a procedure to obtain a temporary use permit associated with the new temporary use and structure 

standards introduced in Installment 1.  
133  Link to §3.5 to be added in Consolidated Draft. 
134  Link to §3.2 to be added in Consolidated Draft. 



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.6 Site Planning and Miscellaneous Permits  

 1.1.1  

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  67 

a. Effect of Approval 

A temporary use permit authorizes establishment, construction, or installation of the approved 

temporary use or structure in accordance with the terms and conditions of the permit. 

b. Expiration of Approval  

i. A temporary use permit shall be valid beginning on the date specified on the permit and shall 

remain valid for the time period indicated on the permit, but in no event, longer than 12 

months.  

ii. Upon request, the Director may grant a one-year extension; however, in no case shall a 

temporary use permit be valid for more than one year after its original expiration date. This 

one-year extension period may not be further extended.  

iii. Any temporary use permit requesting an approval period beyond one year shall require a 

special use permit approval pursuant to 2.5.1: Special Use Permit. 

c. Removal and Restoration  

Before the expiration of a temporary use permit, the permittee shall discontinue all temporary 

uses and remove all temporary structures, and associated property and equipment, and free the 

temporary use site from all trash, litter, and debris to the satisfaction of the Director. 

 Review Criteria 

In reviewing a proposed temporary use permit application, the review and decision-making body shall 

consider the general approval criteria in §2.4.6C: General Approval Criteria, and the standards in §---.135  

 Sign Permit142 

 Purpose143 

The Sign Permit procedure is intended to provide a mechanism for enforcement of the sign regulations of 

this UDC in order to: 

1. Establish for all signs located on any premises a reasonable and impartial means to permit adequate 

communication;  

2. Control confusing sign displays that present a hazard to pedestrians and motorists along streets;  

3. Ensure light, air, and open space;  

4. Protect the natural beauty and environment of the Town;  

5. Safeguard and enhance property values;  

6. Protect public and private investment in buildings and open spaces;  

7. Protect the public health, safety, and general welfare; and 

8. Comply with all state and federal laws and settle case law applicable to the Town concerning freedom 

of expression. 

 Applicability144 

No person shall cause a sign to be erected, constructed, relocated, altered, repaired, or maintained until a 

permit for such has been issued and the fee paid, except as otherwise provided in this UDC.  

 
135  Link to §3.5: Temporary Uses and Structures will be added in Consolidated Draft. 
142  Replaces permitting procedures in Chapter 62.  
143  New. 
144  From current Chapter 62, Sec. 62-51. 



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.6 Site Planning and Miscellaneous Permits  

 2.6.4 Sign Permit 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  68 

 Sign Permit Procedure 

The process diagram below identifies the applicable steps from §2.4: Common Review Procedures, that 

apply to the review of Sign Permit applications. Additions or modifications to the common review 

procedures are noted below. 
 

Pre-

Application 

Activities 

Application 

Submittal & 

Processing 

Staff Review 

Scheduling & 

Notice of 

Public 

Hearings 

Review & 

Decision 

Post-Decision 

Actions & 

Limitations 

2.4.2 2.4.3 2.4.4 2.4.5 2.4.6 2.4.7 

      

      

Not required Submit to Town Review by Town Not required 
Decision by 

Director 

Expiration  

based on 

approval,  

see text 

 

1. Application Submittal & Processing 

The application shall be submitted, accepted, revised, and may be withdrawn, in accordance with 

§2.4.3: Application Submittal and Processing, with the following modifications: 

a. Application Contents145 

All applications for permits under this article shall include a drawing to scale of the proposed sign, 

all existing signs maintained on the premises and visible from the right-of-way, a site plan or 

property survey, and façade plan indicating the proposed location of the sign and specifications.  

2. Staff Review 

The staff shall review the application in accordance with §2.4.4: Staff Review.  

3. Review and Decision 

The application shall be reviewed and decided upon by the Director in accordance with §2.4.6: Review 

and Decision, and the review criteria in §2.6.3D: Review Criteria. 

4. Post-Decision Actions and Limitations 

All common procedures in §2.4.7: Post-Decision Actions and Limitations, shall apply, with the following 

modifications: 

a. Electrical Permit147 

Prior to issuance of a Sign Permit for a sign in which electrical wiring and connections are to be 

used, an electrical permit must be obtained according to the existing fee schedule. The electrical 

inspector shall examine the plans and specifications submitted with the application to ensure 

compliance with the electrical code of the Town. No sign shall be erected in violation of the 

electrical code.  

 
145  From current Chapter 62, Sec. 62-52. 
147  From Chapter 62, Sec. 62-58. 



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.6 Site Planning and Miscellaneous Permits  

 2.6.5 Zoning Verification Letter 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  69 

b. Lapse of Sign Permit148 

A Sign Permit shall lapse automatically if not renewed or if the Certificate of Occupancy of business 

registration for the premises expires, is revoked, or is not renewed. 

c. Revocation149 

The Director may suspend or revoke any Sign Permit issued under the provisions of this UDC 

whenever they determine that the permit was issued in error or on the basis of incorrect or false 

information supplied, or if such permit was issued in violation of any of the provisions of this UDC 

or any other local, state, or federal law. Such suspension or revocation shall be effective when 

communicated in writing to the person to whom the permit is issued, the owner of the sign or the 

responsible party of the premises upon which the sign is located.  

d. Duration151 

If the work authorized by a Sign Permit issued under this UDC has not commenced within 180 days 

after the date of issuance, the permit shall become null and void.  

e. Abandoned Signs152 

Within 30 days after any business has abandoned its location or tenant space, the building or 

former tenant owner, or the building or former tenant agent, or the person having beneficial use 

of the building, structure, or the lot or tract where such business was located shall remove all signs 

related to such business or have the sign face replaced with a weatherproof, blank face.  

f. Notice of Condemnation153 

Signs adjudged by the Director, to be structurally unsafe or to be more than 50 percent destroyed 

or dilapidated, may be condemned. A condemnation letter will be sent to the owner of the 

property stating that the sign must be demolished within 15 days of the receipt of the letter. If the 

sign is not removed within the period allotted, the Town may remove the sign at the property 

owner's expense.  

 Review Criteria 

In reviewing a proposed Sign Permit application, the review and decision-making body shall consider the 

general approval criteria in §2.4.6C: General Approval Criteria, and the standards in §---.154 

 Zoning Verification Letter155 

 Purpose 

The Zoning Verification Letter review procedure is intended to provide a mechanism for the Town to issue a 

formal confirmation of a property’s zoning. The Zoning Verification Letter is an informational document not 

intended to grant approval for land development in any way. 

 Applicability 

A Zoning Verification Letter can be requested by any property owner or entity seeking to confirm the 

zoning of a property. 

 
148  Replaces Chapter 62, Sec. 62-54. 
149  From Chapter 62, Sec. 62-55. 
151  From Chapter 62, Sec. 62-56. 
152  From Chapter 62, Sec. 62-81. 
153  From Chapter 62, Sec. 62-59. 
154  Link to §4.10: Signs to be added in Consolidated Draft. 
155  New. 



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.6 Site Planning and Miscellaneous Permits  

 2.6.6 Change or Elimination of Nonconformity 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  70 

 Zoning Verification Procedure 

The process diagram below identifies the applicable steps from §2.4: Common Review Procedures, that 

apply to the review of Zoning Verification Letter applications. Additions or modifications to the common 

review procedures are noted below. 
 

Pre-

Application 

Activities 

Application 

Submittal & 

Processing 

Staff Review 

Scheduling & 

Notice of 

Public 

Hearings 

Review & 

Decision 

Post-Decision 

Actions & 

Limitations 

2.4.2 2.4.3 2.4.4 2.4.5 2.4.6 2.4.7 

      

      

Not required Submit to Town Review by Town Not required 
Decision by 

Director 
See text 

1. Application Submittal & Processing 

The application shall be submitted, accepted, revised, and may be withdrawn, in accordance with 

§2.4.3: Application Submittal and Processing. 

2. Staff Review 

The staff shall review the application in accordance with §2.4.4: Staff Review.  

3. Review and Decision 

The application shall be reviewed and decided upon by the Director in accordance with §2.4.6: Review 

and Decision. 

4. Post-Decision Actions and Limitations 

All common procedures in §2.4.7: Post-Decision Actions and Limitations, shall apply, with the following 

modification: A Zoning Verification Letter serves as confirmation of the zoning of a property. 

 Change or Elimination of Nonconformity156 

  

 
156  New. 



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.7 Engineering Plans, Studies, and Site Development Permits  

 2.6.6 Change or Elimination of Nonconformity 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  71 

2.7 Engineering Plans, Studies, and Site Development 

Permits157 

 Purpose 

The engineering plans, studies, and site development procedure is intended to ensure compliance with the 

development standards of this UDC and technical standards of associated Criteria Manuals and to protect 

the general health, safety, and welfare of the public by reducing the risk of flooding private property and 

public rights-of-way and ensure that development provides the facilities necessary to accommodate the 

traffic impacts of the proposed development. 

 Applicability 

1. This procedure shall be required for the following plans, studies, and permits: 

a. Civil engineering plans 

b. Minor and major traffic impact analysis 

c. Parking study 

d. Drainage study 

e. Utility study 

f. Site development permit 

g. Flood hazard development permit 

2. The plans, studies, and permits listed above may be submitted concurrently with any other required 

development application. 

3. Flood hazard development permits shall also comply with the following: 

a. A flood hazard development permit must be obtained before construction or development begins 

within any special flood hazard area (SFHA) and known flood prone areas to ensure conformance 

with the provisions of this UDC.  

b. Compliance with the standards in this UDC shall not relieve any person of the independent 

obligation to comply with all applicable standards and practices established in federal and state 

law and all other applicable rules, regulations, standards and specifications of the Town regarding 

development within a SFHA.  

 Procedures 

The process diagram below identifies the applicable steps from §2.4: Common Review Procedures, that 

apply to the review of the applications listed in §B. Additions or modifications to the common review 

procedures are noted below. 

Pre-

Application 

Activities 

Application 

Submittal & 

Processing 

Staff Review 

Scheduling & 

Notice of 

Public 

Hearings 

Review & 

Decision 

Post-Decision 

Actions & 

Limitations 

2.4.2 2.4.3 2.4.4 2.4.5 2.4.6 2.4.7 

      

      

 
157  New. 



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.7 Engineering Plans, Studies, and Site Development Permits  

 2.6.6 Change or Elimination of Nonconformity 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  72 

Pre-

Application 

Activities 

Application 

Submittal & 

Processing 

Staff Review 

Scheduling & 

Notice of 

Public 

Hearings 

Review & 

Decision 

Post-Decision 

Actions & 

Limitations 

Not required Submit to Town Review by Town Not required 
Decision by 

Director 

Expiration  

based on  

approval,  

see text 

 

1. Application Submittal & Processing158 

The application shall be submitted, accepted, revised, and may be withdrawn, in accordance with 

§2.4.3: Application Submittal and Processing. 

2. Staff Review 

The staff shall review the application in accordance with §2.4.4: Staff Review.  

3. Review and Decision 

The application shall be reviewed and decided upon by the Director or Floodplain Administrator in 

accordance with §2.4.6: Review and Decision, and the review criteria in §2.7D: Review Criteria. 

4. Post-Decision Actions and Limitations 

All common procedures in §2.4.7: Post-Decision Actions and Limitations, shall apply, with the following 

modifications: 

 Review Criteria 

1. Review Criteria for Flood Hazard Permits 

In reviewing a proposed flood hazard development permit application, the review and decision-making 

body shall consider the general approval criteria in §2.4.6C: General Approval Criteria, and the 

following relevant factors:  

a. The danger to life and property due to flooding or erosion damage; 

b. The susceptibility of the proposed facility and its contents to flood damage and the effect of such 

damage on the individual owner; 

c. The danger that materials may be swept onto other lands to the injury of others; 

d. The compatibility of the proposed use with existing and anticipated development; 

e. The safety of access to the property in times of flood for ordinary and emergency vehicles; 

f. The costs of providing governmental services during and after flood conditions including 

maintenance and repair of streets and bridges, and public utilities and facilities such as sewer, gas, 

electrical, and water systems; 

g. The expected heights, velocity, duration, rate of rise and sediment transport of the floodwaters 

and the effects of wave action, if applicable, expected at the site; 

h. The necessity to the facility of a waterfront location, where applicable; 

i. The availability of alternative locations, not subject to flooding or erosion damage, for the 

proposed use; and 

j. The relationship of the proposed use to the Comprehensive Plan for that area.  

 
158  Removed application contents from current Sec. 42-59. We recommend this material be relocated to an Administrative Manual outside 

of the UDC to allow for streamlined updates. 



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.7 Engineering Plans, Studies, and Site Development Permits  

 2.6.6 Change or Elimination of Nonconformity 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  73 

2. Review Criteria for All Other Engineering Plans, Studies, and Site Development Permits 

In reviewing civil engineering plans, a minor or major traffic impact analysis, a parking study, a 

drainage study, a utility study, or a site development permit, the review and decision-making body shall 

consider the general approval criteria in §2.4.6C: General Approval Criteria and all applicable 

requirements of the associated Criteria Manuals. 

  



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.8 Agreements  

 2.6.6 Change or Elimination of Nonconformity 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  74 

2.8 Agreements 
I don’t think we have enough background context of what staff wants from these to draft this right now. Think 

we keep it as a placeholder for Consolidated Draft. Especially with my question about what a “real estate 

application” means and I’m also curious if Development Agreements would go to P&Z/CC vs. parking 

agreements which may be able to be approved administratively? 

  



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.9 Platting Procedures  

 2.9.1 Standards that Apply to All Platting Procedures 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  75 

2.9 Platting Procedures159 
Commentary: 

This draft aligns platting procedures with the Texas Local Government Code to help streamline and simplify the 

development review process. The first §5.5.1 identifies the procedural requirements applicable to all subdivision 

types, beyond those procedures identified in §5.3. 

 Standards that Apply to All Platting Procedures 

 Applicability 

1. Generally 

This article shall apply to all land and all developments within the corporate limits of the Town of 

Addison, except as otherwise provided in this subchapter.  

2. Land Included 

Except where otherwise specifically provided for in this article, all the provisions of this article shall 

apply to the following lands located within the corporate limits of the Town:  

a. Any tract of land that has not been recorded by plat in the plat records of Dallas County, Texas, 

and that is intended to be sold, leased, or otherwise subdivided from another tract of land or 

which is intended or proposed to be used for the purpose of development.  

b. Any tract of land which has been recorded as a lot or block by plat in the plat records of Dallas 

County, Texas; prior to and upon which no development has been constructed or placed prior to 

the effective date of this article.  

c. The division of any previously platted lot into two or more parts.  

d. The removal of one or more lot lines of any platted lot so as to permit the combining of two or 

more contiguous platted lots into one or more new lots. 

e. Any easements for right-of-way, access, utilities, and drainage included on a plat. 

3. Exemptions 

The following are exempt from the subdivision regulations of this article, but are subject to all other 

standards in this UDC:  

a. The division of land into two or more parts, other than for purposes of development, if the 

smallest resulting parcels, tract, or site is five acres or larger in size where each part has access 

and no public improvement is being dedicated.  

b. Construction of additions or alterations to an existing building where no drainage, street, utility 

extension or improvement, additional parking or street access changes required to meet the 

standards of this article are necessary to support such building addition or alterations.  

c. Construction of accessory structures or fences. 

d. Dedication of easement or right-of-way by separate document recordable in the county records if 

approved by Town.  

e. Cemeteries complying with all state and local laws and regulations.  

f. Divisions of land created by order of a court of competent jurisdiction.  

g. A change in ownership of a property through inheritance or the probate of an estate. 

h. Divisions of land resulting from acquisition or condemnation to support public projects. 

 
159  Replaces Appendix B of the current Code of Ordinances. Current Appendix B, §VII was not carried forward because it overlaps with the 

traditional purposes of a Preliminary Plat and to better align with current practices. 



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.9 Platting Procedures  

 2.9.1 Standards that Apply to All Platting Procedures 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  76 

 Zoning160 

All divisions of land shall conform to all applicable zoning regulations. A plat submission reflecting a 

condition not in conformity with applicable zoning regulations shall not be approved until any available 

relief from the Board of Zoning Adjustment has been finally obtained. If the property is not zoned as 

required for the proposed division of land, permanent zoning shall be requested. Application for zoning 

includes completion of application forms, payment of required fees, and performance of other 

requirements of the UDC and the rules and regulations of the Town, as amended. 

 Finding of Proportionality161 

Any payment of fees or construction costs or required easement, dedication, or reservation of land 

included on any plat application required in this section shall meet the requirements of TLGC, § 212.904. 

 Completeness Review 

If the Director determines that any plat is incomplete or does not meet all requirements, they shall provide 

written confirmation of the determination and the reasons therefore. If the applicant disagrees with a 

determination that the plat does not comply with all requirements, the applicant shall submit a written 

objection to the Director within five business days of the postmark date of the written confirmation. If a 

written objection is submitted, the director shall schedule the plat for consideration by the Planning and 

Zoning Commission. The official filing date for any plat that is not checked and verified as to its 

completeness within 10 days of its submission shall be the 11th day after its submission.162  

  

 
160   Replaces Appendix B, §VI.  
161  New. 
162  Carries forward a portion of Appendix B, §IX.  



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.9 Platting Procedures  

 2.9.2 Preliminary Plat or Preliminary Replat 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  77 

 Preliminary Plat or Preliminary Replat163 

 Purpose 

The Preliminary Plat and Preliminary Replat review procedure is intended to provide a mechanism for the 

Town to review an overall plan for proposed platting or replatting of land to ensure compliance with this 

UDC, the Comprehensive Plan, and the adequate provision of facilities and services within the Town.  

 Applicability164 

A Preliminary Plat is required if the proposed subdivision meets any of the following: 

a. Is on land that has not yet been platted; 

b. Is on land that will be developed in phases; 

c. Will include the dedication of public right-of-way, other public tracts, or public improvements not 

determined to be eligible for Minor Plat processing; or 

d. Is not eligible to be processed as a Minor Plat, pursuant to §2.9.5: Minor or Amending Plat. 

2. A Preliminary Replat is required if: 

a. A Replat necessitates the construction of public infrastructure or requires amendments to 

previously approved infrastructure construction plans; 

b. The Director determines a proposed Replat unusually complex or raises potentially unique or 

serious impacts on the town or the surrounding areas; or 

c. The applicant of a Replat requests a Preliminary Replat review. 

 Preliminary Plat Procedure 

The process diagram below identifies the applicable steps from §2.4: Common Review Procedures, that 

apply to the review of Preliminary Plat and Preliminary Replat applications. Additions or modifications to 

the common review procedures are noted below. 
 

Pre-

Application 

Activities 

Application 

Submittal & 

Processing 

Staff Review 

Scheduling & 

Notice of Public 

Meeting 

Review & 

Decision 

Post-Decision 

Actions & 

Limitations 

2.4.2 2.4.3 2.4.4 2.4.5 2.4.6 2.4.7 

      

      

Pre-application 

conference 

required 

Submit to Town Review by Town 

Meeting required 

before Planning 

and Zoning 

Commission 

Decision by 

Planning and 

Zoning 

Commission 

See §2.9.2C.6 

 

1. Pre-Application Activities 

A pre-application conference is required in accordance with §2.4.2A: Pre-Application Conference.  

 
163  Replaces Appendix B, §VIII. References to Preliminary Replat are new. 
164  New.  



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.9 Platting Procedures  

 2.9.2 Preliminary Plat or Preliminary Replat 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  78 

2. Application Submittal & Processing165 

The application shall be submitted, accepted, revised, and may be withdrawn, in accordance with 

§2.4.3: Application Submittal and Processing, with the following modifications: 

a. The application is also subject to the standards in §2.9.1: Standards that Apply to All Platting 

Procedures. 

3. Staff Review 

The staff shall review the application and prepare a staff report and recommendation in accordance 

with §2.4.4: Staff Review. 

4. Scheduling and Notice of Public Meetings 

The application shall be scheduled for a public meeting before the Planning and Zoning Commission 

and shall be noticed pursuant to §2.4.5: Scheduling and Notice of Public Hearings. 

5. Review and Decision 

The application shall be reviewed and decided upon by the Planning and Zoning Commission in 

accordance with §2.4.6: Review and Decision. 

6. Post-Decision Actions and Limitations 

All common procedures in §2.4.7: Post-Decision Actions and Limitations, shall apply, with the following 

modifications: 

a. Effect of Approval 

Approval of the Preliminary Plat or Preliminary Replat shall in no way constitute final acceptance or 

approval of the subdivision. 

b. Preliminary Plat Expiration 

i. When a Preliminary Plat or Preliminary Replat has been approved, a Final Plat or Replat for all 

or a part of the area shall be submitted within two years; otherwise, the approval of the 

Preliminary Plat or Preliminary Replat shall terminate and shall be void. However, prior to the 

expiration of such approval, the time for filing of the application for Final Plat or Replat may be 

extended at the written request of the property owner. The first filing extension (not to exceed 

90 days) shall be granted by the Director. Any further requests for extensions shall be 

considered by the Planning and Zoning Commission.  

ii. If a Final Plat or Replat for any portion of the area shown on the Preliminary Plat or 

Preliminary Replat has been filed for record with the county clerk, the Preliminary Plat or 

Preliminary Replat approval shall remain valid indefinitely. 

iii. If no Final Plat or Replat is filed, the Preliminary Plat or Preliminary Replat approval shall 

remain valid for so long as any associated development agreement, Annexation agreement, or 

facilities agreement remains binding or in effect.  

iv. Following the expiration of the Preliminary Plat or Preliminary Replat, the property owner may 

submit a new Preliminary Plat or Preliminary Replat for Planning and Zoning Commission 

approval following the procedures and regulations then in effect. 

 
165  Did not carry forward the content of application requirements in current Appendix B, §VIII. We recommend this material be relocated to 

an Administrative Manual outside of the UDC to allow for streamlined updates. 



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.9 Platting Procedures  

 2.9.2 Preliminary Plat or Preliminary Replat 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  79 

 Review Criteria166 

In reviewing a proposed Preliminary Plat or Preliminary Replat application, the review and decision-making 

body shall consider the general approval criteria in §2.4.6C: General Approval Criteria and if the proposed 

Preliminary Plat or Preliminary Replat: 

1. Is consistent with the intent and complies with applicable use requirements of the underlying zoning 

district;  

2. Complies with applicable dimensional and development standards in this UDC; 

3. Does not affect a recorded easement without approval from the easement holder, unless otherwise 

approved by the Director; 

4. Provides a layout of lots, streets, utilities, drainage, and other public facilities and services that 

minimize the disturbance to sensitive natural areas or resources; 

5. Provides evidence of public water and sewer provision; and 

6. Proposes reasonable phasing as it relates to infrastructure capacity. 

 
166   New.  



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.9 Platting Procedures  

 2.9.3 Final Plat 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  80 

 

 Final Plat 

 Purpose 

The purpose of the Final Plat procedure is to demonstrate compliance with an approved Preliminary Plat 

and applicable standards of this UDC. 

 Final Plat Procedure 

The process diagram below identifies the applicable steps from §2.4: Common Review Procedures, that 

apply to the review of Final Plat applications. Additions or modifications to the common review procedures 

are noted below. 
 

Pre-

Application 

Activities 

Application 

Submittal & 

Processing 

Staff Review 

Scheduling & 

Notice of 

Public 

Meeting 

Review & 

Decision 

Post-Decision 

Actions & 

Limitations 

2.4.2 2.4.3 2.4.4 2.4.5 2.4.6 2.4.7 

      

      

Pre-application 

conference 

optional 

Submit to Town Review by Town 

Public meeting 

required before 

Planning and 

Zoning 

Commission 

Decision by 

Planning and 

Zoning 

Commission  

See text 

 

1. Pre-Application Activities 

A pre-application conference is optional, and if elected shall be held in accordance with §2.4.2A: Pre-

Application Conference. 

2. Application Submittal & Processing167 

The application shall be submitted, accepted, revised, and may be withdrawn, in accordance with 

§2.4.3: Application Submittal and Processing, with the following modifications: 

a. The application is also subject to the standards in §2.9.1: Standards that Apply to All Platting 

Procedures. 

b. The Final Plat application shall be submitted within two years of Preliminary Plat approval and 

shall not be submitted prior to the approval and implementation of all required civil engineering 

and construction plans. 

3. Staff Review 

The staff shall review the application and prepare a staff report and recommendation in accordance 

with §2.4.4: Staff Review. 

4. Scheduling and Notice of Public Hearings 

The application shall be scheduled for a public meeting before the Planning and Zoning Commission 

and shall be noticed pursuant to §2.4.5: Scheduling and Notice of Public Hearings. 

 
167  Did not carry forward the content of application requirements in current Appendix B, §IX. We recommend this material be relocated to an 

Administrative Manual outside of the UDC to allow for streamlined updates. 



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.9 Platting Procedures  

 2.9.3 Final Plat 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  81 

5. Review and Decision170 

The application shall be reviewed and decided upon by the Planning and Zoning Commission in 

accordance with §2.4.6: Review and Decision, with the following modifications: 

a. The Planning and Zoning Commission shall not approve any Final Plat of any subdivision within 

any area where a petition or ordinance for Annexation or a recommendation for Annexation to the 

town is pending before the City Council. 

6. Post-Decision Actions and Limitations 

All common procedures in §2.4.7: Post-Decision Actions and Limitations, shall apply, with the following 

modification: 

a. Recording171 

After approval of the Final Plat by the Planning and Zoning Commission, the applicant shall submit 

the required number of copies for recording, along with all tax certificates required for recording 

by the County Clerk to the Development Services Department. These copies shall bear all 

signatures but those of the Town officials. After signature by the Town officials, the Development 

Services Department shall complete the recording process and return two filed copies to the 

applicant or the applicant may elect to complete the recording process. Said copies shall show the 

volume and page of the map and plat records into which the plat was filed by the County Clerk.  

b. Prior to Construction172 

Prior to authorizing construction, the Director of Public Works and Engineering173 shall be satisfied 

that the following conditions have been met:  

i. All required contract documents shall be completed and filed with the Public Works and 

Engineering Department.  

ii. All necessary easements or dedications not shown on the Final Plat must be completed, 

properly signed, and filed with the County Clerk. The original of the filed documents, bearing 

the stamp of the County Clerk, shall be filed with the Development Services Department.  

iii. All contractors participating in the construction shall be presented with a set of approved 

plans bearing the stamp of approval of the Public Works and Engineering Department. These 

plans shall remain on the job site at all times.  

iv. If required by the Director of the Public Works and Engineering, all parties participating in the 

construction shall meet for a preconstruction conference to discuss the project prior to 

beginning work.  

v. A complete list of the contractors, their representatives on the site, e-mail addresses, and 

telephone numbers where a responsible party may be reached at all times, must be submitted 

to the Director of Public Works and Engineering.  

vi. Manufacturer's drawings for all fabricated appurtenances or special construction items shall 

be submitted to the Director of Public Works and Engineering.  

c. Construction of Improvements174 

i. Construction shall be supervised by the Public Works and Engineering Department.  

 
170  Carries forward Article XXV, Sec. 1 and 2.  
171  Replaces Appendix B, §X.  
172  Carries forward Appendix B, §XI. 
173  Updated reference from “Town Engineer.” 
174  Carries forward Appendix B, §XII. 



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.9 Platting Procedures  

 2.9.3 Final Plat 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  82 

ii. Completion of construction in accordance with the approved plans and standard 

specifications of the Town is the entire responsibility of the developer and their contractors. 

The responsibility of the Public Works Department is to assure conformance to the approved 

plans and specifications.  

iii. Any change in design required during construction shall be made by the engineer whose seal 

and signature are shown on the plans and shall be approved by the Director of Public Works 

and Engineering.  

d. Acceptance of Improvements175 

i. After completion of all items required in the plans and specifications, the contractor shall 

submit a bond in the amount of 10 percent of the contract amount guaranteeing 

workmanship and materials for a period of one year from the date of final acceptance by the 

Town. The Director of Public Works and Engineering shall verify that all items have been 

completed, including filing of the plat and all related easements and documents, and payment 

of all applicable development fees. 

ii. The Director of Public Works and Engineering shall conduct a final inspection of the project 

and, if all work is found to be acceptable, shall issue a letter of acceptance. Any items of 

exception noted in the acceptance letter shall be immediately satisfied.  

iii. Acceptance of the public improvements shall mean that title to all improvements is vested in 

the Town. The applicant and their contractor shall, however, be bound to the town for a 

period of one year to repair any defects in the improvements.  

e. As-Built Plans176 

Within 30 days of acceptance of the subdivision, the applicant shall submit a complete set of 

drawings of the paving, drainage, water, and sewer improvements showing all changes made in 

the plans during construction and containing on each sheet an "As-Built" stamp bearing the 

signature of the Director of Public Works and Engineering and the date. In addition, one 

reproducible drawing of the utility plan sheets, containing the as-built information, shall be 

submitted to the Public Works and Engineering Department.  

f. Expiration 

A recorded Final Plat shall not expire. 

 Review Criteria179 

In reviewing a proposed Final Plat application, the Planning and Zoning Commission shall consider the 

general approval criteria in §2.4.6C: General Approval Criteria and the following: 

1. The Final Plat shall conform to the approved Preliminary Plat, including any conditions of approval. 

2. The development will comply with the applicable technical standards and specifications adopted by the 

Town. 

 
175  Carries forward Appendix B, §XIII.  
176  Carries forward Appendix B, §XIV.  
179  Paragraphs 3-6 carry forward Appendix B, §XVI.G.2-5. Some of these provisions should potentially be moved into the Subdivision Design 

Standards in Article 4. 



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.9 Platting Procedures  

 2.9.4 Replat 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  83 

 Replat180 

 Purpose 

The Replat procedure is intended to provide a process for replatting any portion of an approved Final Plat, 

other than those used to amend through Minor Plats or vacate the plat through the vacation procedures. 

 Applicability 

1. A Replat of a subdivision or part of a subdivision may be recorded and controls over the preceding plat 

without vacation of that plat if the Replat: 

a. Is signed and acknowledged by the owners of the property being replatted; 

b. Is approved in accordance with Chapter 212 of the Texas Local Government Code; and  

c. Does not attempt to amend or remove any covenants or restrictions. 

2. In the instance of large tracts or blocks of land contained within a recorded subdivision and intended 

or designed for replatting into smaller tracts, lots, or building sites, the replatting shall comply with all 

provisions of this UDC. 

 Replat Procedure 

The process diagram below identifies the applicable steps from §2.4: Common Review Procedures, that 

apply to the review of Replat applications. Additions or modifications to the common review procedures 

are noted below. 
 

Pre-

Application 

Activities 

Application 

Submittal & 

Processing 

Staff Review 

Scheduling & 

Notice of 

Public 

Meeting 

Review & 

Decision 

Post-Decision 

Actions & 

Limitations 

2.4.2 2.4.3 2.4.4 2.4.5 2.4.6 2.4.7 

      

      

Pre-application 

conference 

optional 

Submit to Town Review by Town 

Public hearing 

required 

Planning and 

Zoning 

Commission or 

City Council 

Decision by 

Planning and 

Zoning 

Commission or 

City Council  

See text 

 

1. Pre-Application Activities 

A pre-application conference is optional, and if elected shall be held in accordance with §2.4.2A: Pre-

Application Conference. 

2. Application Submittal & Processing181 

The application shall be submitted, accepted, revised, and may be withdrawn, in accordance with 

§2.4.3: Application Submittal and Processing, with the following modifications: 

 
180  New.  The current Code of Ordinances does not specifically describe the process to submit and file a Replat but includes Replat in the 

general definition of plat.  
181  Did not carry forward the content of application requirements in current Appendix B, §IX. We recommend this material be relocated to an 

Administrative Manual outside of the UDC to allow for streamlined updates. 



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.9 Platting Procedures  

 2.9.4 Replat 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  84 

a. The application is also subject to the standards in §2.9.1: Standards that Apply to All Platting 

Procedures. 

b. The Final Plat application shall be submitted within two years of Preliminary Plat approval and 

shall not be submitted prior to the approval and implementation of all required civil engineering 

and construction plans. 

3. Staff Review 

The staff shall review the application and prepare a staff report and recommendation in accordance 

with §2.4.4: Staff Review. 

4. Scheduling and Notice of Public Hearings 

The application shall be scheduled for a public hearing before the Planning and Zoning Commission 

and shall be noticed pursuant to §2.4.5: Scheduling and Notice of Public Hearings, with the following 

modifications: 

a. For any proposed replat that requires a variance, waiver, or special exception, a public hearing 

shall be held prior to taking action on the proposed replat. 

b. If a proposed replat requires a variance, waiver, or exception and includes (i) any property that was 

limited by an interim or permanent zoning classification to residential uses for not more than two 

residential units per lot at any time during the preceding five years, or (ii) any lot from the 

preceding plat that was limited by deed restrictions to residential uses for not more than two 

residential units per lot, a public hearing shall be held regarding the replat by the Planning and 

Zoning Commission or City Council. 

c. If the proposed Replat requires a variance or waiver and is protested in accordance with this 

subsection, the proposed Replat must receive, in order to be approved, the affirmative vote of at 

least three-fourths of the members present of the Planning and Zoning Commission or City 

Council, or both. For a legal protest, written instruments signed by the owners of at least 20 

percent of the area of the lots or land immediately adjoining the area covered by the proposed 

replat and extending 200 feet from that area, but within the original subdivision, must be filed with 

the Planning and Zoning Commission or City Council, or both, prior to the close of the public 

hearing. In computing the percentage of land area under this subsection, the area of streets and 

alleys shall be included. 

5. Review and Decision184 

The application shall be reviewed and decided upon by the Planning and Zoning Commission in 

accordance with §2.4.6: Review and Decision, with the following modification: 

a. If a proposed Replat for residentially zoned or deed-restricted property as specified in Texas Local 

Government Code § 212.015 does not require a variance or exception and is approved by the City 

Council or Planning and Zoning Commission, the Town will deliver a written notice by mail 

regarding the approval of the replat no later than the 15th day after the date the replat is 

approved to each owner of a lot in the original subdivision that is within 200 feet of the lots that 

were replatted according to the most recent Town tax roll. 

6. Post-Decision Actions and Limitations 

All common procedures in §2.4.7: Post-Decision Actions and Limitations, shall apply, with the following 

modification: 

 
184  Carries forward Article XXV, Sec. 1 and 2.  



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.9 Platting Procedures  

 2.9.5 Minor or Amending Plat 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  85 

a. Recording185 

After approval of the Replat by the Planning and Zoning Commission or City Council, the applicant 

shall submit the required number of copies for recording, along with all tax certificates required 

for recording by the County Clerk to the Development Services Department. These copies shall 

bear all signatures but those of the Town officials. After signature by the Town officials, the 

Development Services Department shall complete the recording process and return two filed 

copies to the applicant or the applicant may elect to complete the recording process. Said copies 

shall show the volume and page of the map and plat records into which the plat was filed by the 

County Clerk.  

b. Expiration 

A recorded Replat shall not expire. 

 Minor or Amending Plat193 

 Purpose 

The Minor Plat review procedure is intended to provide a mechanism for administrative platting decisions, 

to address plat errors, and to apply minor adjustments to property boundaries. 

 Applicability194 

1. In accordance with TLGC § 212.0065, the Minor Plat procedure shall apply to plats that: 

a. Involve four or fewer lots;  

b. Front onto an existing street;  

c. Do not require dedication of public right-of-way or other public improvements; and  

d. Do not require the creation of any new street or the extension of municipal facilities.  

2. The Director shall also have authority to approve Amending Plats using this Minor Plat procedure 

provided the Amending Plat is intended for one or more of the following purposes:  

a. To correct an error in a course or distance shown on the preceding plat;  

b. To add a course or distance that was omitted on the preceding plat;  

c. To correct an error in a real property description shown on the preceding plat;  

d. To indicate monuments set after the death, disability, or retirement from practice of the engineer 

or surveyor responsible for setting monuments;  

e. To show the location or character of a monument that has been changed in location or character 

or that is shown incorrectly as to location or character on the preceding plat;  

f. To correct any other type of scrivener or clerical error or omission previously approved by the 

municipal authority responsible for approving plats, including lot numbers, acreage, street names, 

and identification of adjacent recorded plats;  

g. To correct an error in courses and distances of lot lines between two adjacent lots if:  

i. Both lot owners join in the application for amending the plat;  

ii. Neither lot is abolished;  

iii. The amendment does not attempt to remove recorded covenants or restrictions; and  

iv. The amendment does not have a material adverse effect on the property rights of the other 

owners in the plat. 

 
185  Replaces Appendix B, §X.  
193  New. This section introduces an abbreviated subdivision process for smaller projects.  
194  Includes thresholds from TLGC § 212.0065 and carries forward Appendix B, §XVII. 



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.9 Platting Procedures  

 2.9.5 Minor or Amending Plat 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  86 

 Minor Plat Procedure 

The process diagram below identifies the applicable steps from §2.4: Common Review Procedures, that 

apply to the review of Minor Plat applications. Additions or modifications to the common review 

procedures are noted below. 
 

Pre-

Application 

Activities 

Application 

Submittal & 

Processing 

Staff Review 

Scheduling & 

Notice of Public 

Meeting 

Review & 

Decision 

Post-Decision 

Actions & 

Limitations 

2.4.2 2.4.3 2.4.4 2.4.5 2.4.6 2.4.7 

      

      

Pre-application 

conference 

optional 

Submit to Town Review by Town  

Not required 

unless referred 

to Planning & 

Zoning 

Commission  

Decision by 

Director or 

Planning and 

Zoning 

Commission  

See text 

 

1. Pre-Application Activities 

A pre-application conference is optional, and if elected shall be held in accordance with §2.4.2A: Pre-

Application Conference. 

2. Application Submittal & Processing 

The application shall be submitted, accepted, revised, and may be withdrawn, in accordance with 

§2.4.3: Application Submittal and Processing. 

3. Staff Review 

The staff shall review the application and if referred to Planning and Zoning Commission, prepare a 

staff report and recommendation, in accordance with §2.4.4: Staff Review. 

4. Scheduling and Notice of Public Meeting 

Public notice and a public meeting is not required unless the Director refers a Minor Plat application to 

the Planning and Zoning Commission for review and decision. If the application is referred to the 

Planning and Zoning Commission, then the application shall be scheduled for a public hearing before 

the Planning and Zoning Commission and noticed in accordance with §2.4.5: Scheduling and Notice of 

Public Hearings. 

5. Review and Decision 

The application shall be reviewed and decided upon by the Director in accordance with §2.4.6: Review 

and Decision, with the following modifications: 

a. The Director shall review the Minor Plat application according to the approval criteria in §2.9.5D, 

below.  

b. The Director may, for any reason, elect to refer the Minor Plat to the Planning and Zoning 

Commission for approval.  

6. Post-Decision Actions and Limitations 

All common procedures in §2.4.7: Post-Decision Actions and Limitations, shall apply, with the following 

modifications: 



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.9 Platting Procedures  

 2.9.6 Vacating Plat 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  87 

a. Recording 

Following approval of a Minor Plat, the applicant shall submit, and the Town shall record the plat in 

accordance with the requirements for Final Plats in §2.9.3: Final Plat. 

 Review Criteria 

In reviewing a proposed Minor Plat application, the Director shall consider the general approval criteria in 

§2.4.6C: General Approval Criteria and if the proposed Minor Plat: 

1. Is consistent with the intent and complies with the applicable use requirements of the underlying 

zoning district;  

2. Complies with applicable dimensional and development standards in this UDC;  

3. Does not affect a recorded easement without approval from the easement holder, unless otherwise 

approved by the Director;  

4. Will not result in adverse impacts to surrounding property; and 

5. Will not limit the Town’s ability to provide adequate and sufficient facilities or services.  

 Vacating Plat195 

 Purpose 

The Vacating Plat review procedure is intended to outline the process for vacation of all or a portion of a 

prior-approved plat.  

 Applicability 

The property owner of the tract covered by a plat may vacate the plat pursuant to TLGC § 212.013, as 

amended.  

 Vacating Plat Procedure 

The process diagram below identifies the applicable steps from §2.4: Common Review Procedures, that 

apply to the review of Vacating Plat applications. Additions or modifications to the common review 

procedures are noted below. 
 

Pre-

Application 

Activities 

Application 

Submittal & 

Processing 

Staff Review 

Scheduling & 

Notice of 

Public Meeting 

Review & 

Decision 

Post-Decision 

Actions & 

Limitations 

2.4.2 2.4.3 2.4.4 2.4.5 2.4.6 2.4.7 

      

      

Pre-application 

conference 

required 

Submit to Town Review by Town 

Public meeting 

before Planning 

& Zoning 

Commission 

(not a hearing) 

Decision by 

Planning & 

Zoning 

Commission  

Record vacating 

plat with Dallas 

County Clerk  

 

1. Pre-Application Activities 

A pre-application conference is required in accordance with §2.4.2A: Pre-Application Conference. 

 
195  New procedure for vacating plat as allowed by state law.  



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.10 Flexibility and Relief Procedures  

 2.10.1 Variance 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  88 

2. Application Submittal & Processing 

The application shall be submitted, accepted, revised, and may be withdrawn, in accordance with 

§2.4.3: Application Submittal and Processing. 

3. Staff Review 

The staff shall review the application and prepare a staff report and recommendation in accordance 

with §2.4.4: Staff Review. 

4. Scheduling and Notice of Public Meeting 

The application shall be scheduled for a public meeting before the Planning and Zoning Commission 

and shall be noticed pursuant to §2.4.5: Scheduling and Notice of Public Hearings. 

5. Review and Decision 

The application shall be reviewed and decided upon by the Planning and Zoning Commission in 

accordance with §2.4.6: Review and Decision, with the following modification: 

i. As a condition of approval, the Planning and Zoning Commission may require the applicant to 

prepare a revised Vacating Plat in accordance with §2.9.3: Final Plat. 

6. Post-Decision Actions and Limitations 

All common procedures in §2.4.7: Post-Decision Actions and Limitations, shall apply, with the following 

modification: 

a. Regardless of the Planning and Zoning Commission's action on the application, the applicant will 

have no right to a refund of any monies, fees, or charges paid to the Town nor to the return of any 

property or consideration dedicated or delivered to the Town except as may have previously been 

agreed to by the Planning and Zoning Commission. 

 Review Criteria 

In reviewing a proposed vacating plat application, the Planning and Zoning Commission shall consider the 

general approval criteria in §2.4.6C: General Approval Criteria. 

2.10 Flexibility and Relief Procedures 

 Variance 

Commentary: 

There are several references to a Variance procedure in Addison; however, the current Code of Ordinances does not 

specifically describe the process for seeking a Variance. This new subsection codifies current practice and includes 

specific review criteria by which the Board of Zoning Adjustment would make a determination. 

 Purpose 

The Variance procedure provides a mechanism for the Town to authorize Variances from the development 

standards of this UDC when it is demonstrated that such a Variance will not be contrary to the public 

interest or the spirit of this UDC, where, owing to special conditions, literal enforcement of this UDC will 

result in practical difficulties or unnecessary hardship. 

 Applicability 

Any property owner seeking relief from this UDC may request a Variance when the strict application of this 

UDC meet the approval criteria listed in §2.10.1D. 



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.10 Flexibility and Relief Procedures  

 2.10.1 Variance 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  89 

 Variance Procedure 

The process diagram below identifies the applicable steps from §2.4: Common Review Procedures, that 

apply to the review of Variance applications. Additions or modifications to the common review procedures 

are noted below. 
 

Pre-

Application 

Activities 

Application 

Submittal & 

Processing 

Staff Review 

Scheduling & 

Notice of 

Public 

Hearings 

Review & 

Decision 

Post-Decision 

Actions & 

Limitations 

2.4.2 2.4.3 2.4.4 2.4.5 2.4.6 2.4.7 

      

      

Pre-application 

conference 

required 

Submit to Town Review by Town 

 Public hearings 

required the 

Board of Zoning 

Adjustment  

Review and  

decision by  

Board of Zoning 

Adjustment 

Standard 

procedures  

apply 

 

1. Pre-Application Activities 

A pre-application conference is required in accordance with §2.4.2A: Pre-Application Conference.  

2. Application Submittal & Processing 

The application shall be submitted, accepted, revised, and may be withdrawn, in accordance with 

§2.4.3: Application Submittal and Processing. 

3. Staff Review 

The staff shall review the application and prepare a staff report and recommendation in accordance 

with §2.4.4: Staff Review. 

4. Scheduling and Notice of Public Hearings 

The application shall be scheduled for public hearings before the Board of Zoning Adjustment and 

shall be noticed pursuant to §2.4.5: Scheduling and Notice of Public Hearings. 

5. Review and Decision 

a. The application shall be reviewed and decided upon by the Board of Zoning Adjustment in 

accordance with §2.10.1D. 

b. After closing the public hearing, the Board of Zoning Adjustment shall take action consistent with 

this UDC and state law. A concurring vote of 75 percent of the members of the Board of Zoning 

Adjustment shall be required to approve a Variance request.196 

6. Post-Decision Actions and Limitations 

All common procedures in §2.4.7: Post-Decision Actions and Limitations, shall apply. 

 Review Criteria 

1. In reviewing a Variance application, the Board of Zoning Adjustment shall find that all of the following 

exist:  

a. Special circumstances or conditions apply to the lot or parcel for which the Variance is sought, 

which circumstances or conditions are peculiar to such lot or parcel and do not apply generally to 

 
196  Carries forward Appendix A, Article XXIV, Sec. 5.  



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.10 Flexibility and Relief Procedures  

 2.10.2 Subdivision Variance 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  90 

other lot or parcels in the same zoning district or neighborhood and that said circumstances or 

conditions are such that the strict application of the provisions of this UDC would deprive the 

applicant of the reasonable use of such lot or parcel; 

b. The granting of the Variance will not be detrimental to the public welfare or injurious to other 

property or improvements in the zoning district or neighborhood in which the lot or parcel is 

located; 

c. The Variance requested is the minimum Variance that will accomplish this purpose;  

d. The literal enforcement and strict application of the provisions of this UDC will result in an 

unnecessary hardship inconsistent with the general provisions and intent of this UDC and that in 

granting such Variance the spirit of the UDC will be preserved and substantial justice done; 

e. The granting of a Variance is not solely for the purpose of mitigating a financial hardship; and 

f. The condition or feature that creates the need for the Variance did not result from the owner's 

actions. 

2. Any person desiring to erect or increase the height of any structure, or permit the growth of any object 

of natural growth or use his property, in violation of the airport zoning regulations prescribed in §---197 

shall comply with the following standards:198 

a. The applicant shall provide determination from the Federal Aviation Administration as to the effect 

of the proposal on the operation of air navigation facilities and the safe, efficient use of navigable 

airspace.  

b. Such Variances shall be allowed where it is duly found that a literal application or enforcement of 

the regulations will result in unnecessary hardship and the relief granted would not be contrary to 

the public interest, but will do substantial justice, and will be in accordance with the spirit of §---,199 

pursuant to V.T.C.A., Local Government Code Chapter 41.  

c. No application for Variance to the requirements of §---200 shall be considered by the Board of 

Zoning Adjustment unless a copy of the application has been furnished to the building official for 

advice as to the aeronautical effects of the Variance. If the building official does not respond to the 

application within 15 days after receipt, the Board of Zoning Adjustment may act on its own to 

grant or deny such application. 

 Subdivision Variance201 

 Purpose 

The Variance procedure provides a mechanism for the Town to authorize Variances from the development 

standards of this UDC when it is demonstrated that such a Variance will not be contrary to the public 

interest or the spirit of this UDC, where, owing to special conditions, literal enforcement of this UDC will 

result in practical difficulties or unnecessary hardship. 

 Applicability 

Any property owner seeking relief from this UDC may request a Variance when the strict application of this 

UDC meet the approval criteria listed in §2.10.1D. 

 
197  Link to §2.8.1: AO-Airport Overlay to be added in Consolidated Draft. 
198  Carries forward Chapter 14-127. 
199  Link to §2.8.1: AO-Airport Overlay to be added in Consolidated Draft. 
200  Link to §2.8.1: AO-Airport Overlay to be added in Consolidated Draft. 
201 New. 



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.10 Flexibility and Relief Procedures  

 2.10.2 Subdivision Variance 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  91 

 Variance Procedure 

The process diagram below identifies the applicable steps from §2.4: Common Review Procedures, that 

apply to the review of Variance applications. Additions or modifications to the common review procedures 

are noted below. 
 

Pre-

Application 

Activities 

Application 

Submittal & 

Processing 

Staff Review 

Scheduling & 

Notice of 

Public 

Hearings 

Review & 

Decision 

Post-Decision 

Actions & 

Limitations 

2.4.2 2.4.3 2.4.4 2.4.5 2.4.6 2.4.7 

      

      

Pre-application 

conference 

required 

Submit to Town Review by Town 

 Public hearings 

required before 

the Planning and 

Zoning 

Commission  

Review and  

decision by  

the Planning and 

Zoning 

Procedures 

Standard 

procedures  

apply 

 

1. Pre-Application Activities 

A pre-application conference is required in accordance with §2.4.2A: Pre-Application Conference.  

2. Application Submittal & Processing 

The application shall be submitted, accepted, revised, and may be withdrawn, in accordance with 

§2.4.3: Application Submittal and Processing. 

3. Staff Review 

The staff shall review the application and prepare a staff report and recommendation in accordance 

with §2.4.4: Staff Review. 

4. Scheduling and Notice of Public Hearings 

The application shall be scheduled for public hearings before the Board of Zoning Adjustment and 

shall be noticed pursuant to §2.4.5: Scheduling and Notice of Public Hearings. 

5. Review and Decision 

a. The application shall be reviewed and decided upon by the Board of Zoning Adjustment in 

accordance with §2.10.1D. 

b. After closing the public hearing, the Board of Zoning Adjustment shall take action consistent with 

this UDC and state law. A concurring vote of 75 percent of the members of the Board of Zoning 

Adjustment shall be required to approve a Variance request.202 

6. Post-Decision Actions and Limitations 

All common procedures in §2.4.7: Post-Decision Actions and Limitations, shall apply. 

 Review Criteria 

1. In reviewing a Variance application, the Board of Zoning Adjustment shall find that all of the following 

exist:  

a. Special circumstances or conditions apply to the lot or parcel for which the Variance is sought, 

which circumstances or conditions are peculiar to such lot or parcel and do not apply generally to 

 
202  Carries forward Appendix A, Article XXIV, Sec. 5.  



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.10 Flexibility and Relief Procedures  

 2.10.3 Minor Modification 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  92 

other lot or parcels in the same zoning district or neighborhood and that said circumstances or 

conditions are such that the strict application of the provisions of this UDC would deprive the 

applicant of the reasonable use of such lot or parcel; 

b. The granting of the Variance will not be detrimental to the public welfare or injurious to other 

property or improvements in the zoning district or neighborhood in which the lot or parcel is 

located; 

c. The Variance requested is the minimum Variance that will accomplish this purpose;  

d. The literal enforcement and strict application of the provisions of this UDC will result in an 

unnecessary hardship inconsistent with the general provisions and intent of this UDC and that in 

granting such Variance the spirit of the UDC will be preserved and substantial justice done; 

e. The granting of a Variance is not solely for the purpose of mitigating a financial hardship; and 

f. The condition or feature that creates the need for the Variance did not result from the owner's 

actions. 

2. Any person desiring to erect or increase the height of any structure, or permit the growth of any object 

of natural growth or use his property, in violation of the airport zoning regulations prescribed in §---203 

shall comply with the following standards:204 

a. The applicant shall provide determination from the Federal Aviation Administration as to the effect 

of the proposal on the operation of air navigation facilities and the safe, efficient use of navigable 

airspace.  

b. Such Variances shall be allowed where it is duly found that a literal application or enforcement of 

the regulations will result in unnecessary hardship and the relief granted would not be contrary to 

the public interest, but will do substantial justice, and will be in accordance with the spirit of §---,205 

pursuant to V.T.C.A., Local Government Code Chapter 41.  

c. No application for Variance to the requirements of §---206 shall be considered by the Board of 

Zoning Adjustment unless a copy of the application has been furnished to the building official for 

advice as to the aeronautical effects of the Variance. If the building official does not respond to the 

application within 15 days after receipt, the Board of Zoning Adjustment may act on its own to 

grant or deny such application. 

 Minor Modification 

Commentary: 

This procedure replaces the current waiver procedures available in the UC and MXR zoning districts (current Article 

XVIII, §5; Article XIX, §6; and Article XIX, §11). The Minor Modification procedure is now available for properties town-

wide allowing for slight deviations from some development standards and is reviewed concurrently with another 

application type. Applications that would already require a public hearing, would include the evaluation of the Minor 

Modification request during that public hearing (and would not authorize all Minor Modifications administratively). 

The review standards are intended to ensure that they are approved only when justified by unique circumstances, 

rather than assumed an automatic deviation by right. This procedure is intended to streamline development review 

times and to allow a degree of flexibility often required when developing challenging sites. 

Many communities use the Minor Modification procedure modestly at first, and then revise it to add additional 

adjustments or remove adjustments if the tool proves successful. In this draft, we include a table of allowable Minor 

Modifications to indicate which standards may be adjusted, and to what extent.  

 
203  Link to §2.8.1: AO-Airport Overlay to be added in Consolidated Draft. 
204  Carries forward Chapter 14-127. 
205  Link to §2.8.1: AO-Airport Overlay to be added in Consolidated Draft. 
206  Link to §2.8.1: AO-Airport Overlay to be added in Consolidated Draft. 



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.10 Flexibility and Relief Procedures  

 2.10.3 Minor Modification 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  93 

 Purpose 

The purpose of the Minor Modification procedure is to allow adjustments, modifications, or deviations 

from the dimensional or numerical standards of this UDC. Minor modifications are intended to provide 

greater flexibility when necessary without requiring a formal zoning amendment. The Minor Modification 

procedure is not a waiver of standards, but rather a procedure for modifying standards up to a specified 

amount when circumstances or site conditions warrant such modification. 

 Applicability 

1. Table of Allowable Minor Modifications 

An application for a Minor Modification that is not related to a request for reasonable accommodation 

under the federal Fair Housing Act Amendments of 1988 (FFHA) or the Religious Land Use and 

Institutionalized Persons Act of 2000 (RLUIPA) may request only the types of modifications shown 

below.  
 

   

UDC Standard 
Allowable Modification  

(maximum percentage) 

 Site Standards  

Lot width, minimum 10 

Lot depth, minimum 10 

Lot area, minimum 10 

Building coverage, maximum 10 

Total impervious coverage, maximum 10 

Block length 10 

 Lot Dimensional Standards  

Front building setback, minimum 15 

Build-to range, minimum/maximum 15 

Front building façade at build-to range, minimum 15 

Side building setback, minimum 15 

Rear building setback, minimum 15 

 Building Standards  

Building height, maximum 10 

Building height, minimum for street facing facades 10 

 Development Standards  

Number of required vehicle parking spaces, minimum 20 

Minimum landscaped\ area 10 

Residential density 10 

 

2. Limitations on Minor Modifications 

The Minor Modification procedure shall not be used to: 

a. Modify standards outside of this UDC; 

b. Modify the uses or activities allowed on the property; 



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.10 Flexibility and Relief Procedures  

 2.10.3 Minor Modification 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  94 

c. Modify the standards that apply to a specific use or activity, including dimensional and numerical 

standards; or 

d. Modify a standard that is already modified through a separate Minor Modification, Variance, or 

other adjustment procedure. 

3. Reasonable Accommodations Under the FFHA  

a. The Town may approve a Minor Modification to accommodate requirements under the FFHA 

provided: 

i. The modification is the minimum change from the provisions of this UDC necessary to comply 

with the requirements of the FFHA; and 

ii. The modification will not cause adverse impacts on the surrounding area.  

b. The Town may approve a type of accommodation that is different than the applicant’s request if 

the Town deems such accommodation would satisfy the requirements of the FFHA and have fewer 

impacts on the surrounding area. 

c. The Town may be required to approve requests for reasonable accommodations under the FFHA 

regardless of whether such request qualifies as a Minor Modification. 

4. Accommodations Under RLUIPA 

a. The Town may approve a modification to avoid or eliminate a substantial burden on religious 

exercise as guaranteed by RLUIPA. 

b. Under no circumstance may the Town approve a modification that allows a use, structure, or 

activity in a zoning district where such use, structure, or activity is prohibited. 

c. The Town may approve a modification to accommodate a person’s free exercise of religion 

pursuant to federal or state law. 

 Minor Modification Procedure 

1. Application 

a. An application for a Minor Modification may only be submitted and reviewed as part of a 

concurrent application for a Special Use Permit, Major or Minor Site Plan, Temporary Use Permit, 

or platting procedure. Standalone Minor Modification applications shall not be considered. 

b. Multiple requests for eligible modifications pursuant to §2.10.3B.1 may be considered under the 

same Minor Modification application. 

2. Review and Decision 

a. Applications Approved Administratively  

i. When the request for a Minor Modification is submitted concurrently with and associated with 

an application that requires approval by the Director, the Director shall review and approve, 

approve with conditions, or deny the modification in accordance with the criteria in subsection 

2.10.3C.3.a below. 

ii. The Director shall provide notice of the application for the Minor Modification and an 

opportunity for interested persons to submit comments on the application. Notice must be 

provided by posting details of the request: 

a. On a clearly visible sign on the subject property for a period of at least seven days; and/or 

b. In a designated location within Town Hall; and/or 

c. Mailed notice to surrounding property owners within 200 feet; or 

d. Mailed notice to adjacent property owners. 



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.10 Flexibility and Relief Procedures  

 2.10.4 Alternative Equivalent Compliance 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  95 

iii. The Director may refer the Minor Modification application to the Planning and Zoning 

Commission if the Director determines that the nature of the request warrants additional 

feedback through a public hearing. 

b. Applications Approved by the Planning and Zoning Commission or City Council 

When the request for a Minor Modification is submitted concurrently with and associated with an 

application that requires approval by the Planning and Zoning Commission or City Council, the 

applicable final decisionmaker shall review the modification and approve, approve with conditions, 

or deny the modification in accordance with the criteria in subsection 2.10.3C.3.a below. 

3. Post-Decision Actions and Limitations 

All common procedures in §2.4.7: Post-Decision Actions and Limitations, shall apply, with the following 

modifications: 

a. Effect of Approval 

i. Approval of a Minor Modification only authorizes the modifications as approved and only on 

the subject property associated with the application. 

ii. A Minor Modification may be suspended or revoked after notice and an opportunity to be 

heard is provided to the applicant, if there is: 

a. A failure to comply with related provisions of this UDC; 

b. A failure to comply with any conditions included with the Minor Modification; or 

c. A change in use or activity established on the site. 

b. Expiration of Minor Modification  

Approval of a Minor Modification shall automatically expire if the development application or 

permit associated with the Minor Modification is denied or otherwise deemed invalid. 

 Review Criteria 

1. In reviewing a request for a Minor Modification, the decisionmaker shall consider whether the Minor 

Modification would result in development that complies with the intent of the standard being modified 

and the overall intent of this UDC, and the extent to which the requested Minor Modification: 

a. Is technical in nature; 

b. Compensates for an unusual site condition or circumstance not shared by surrounding properties 

in general; 

c. Meets all other applicable building and safety codes; 

d. Benefits the Town by protecting community assets, features, and sensitive areas; and 

e. Avoids creating adverse impacts to surrounding areas. 

2. An application shall be approved if the application supports the criteria listed above, and the applicant 

has provided any additional data and references, if requested by the Director, the Planning and Zoning 

Commission, or the City Council. 

 Alternative Equivalent Compliance209 

 Purpose 

The alternative equivalent compliance procedure is intended to encourage creative and unique design by 

allowing development to occur in a manner that meets the intent of this section, yet through an alternative 

 
209  New. This procedure is intended to provide flexibility for certain development standards that would not be possible under the Minor 

Modification tool. This is more for qualitative deviations, rather than quantitative deviations. This is an example of how such a tool can be 
structured in the procedures chapter. If this is a good direction, then we will need to coordinate it with the alternative compliance 
references scattered in the development standards article.  



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.10 Flexibility and Relief Procedures  

 2.10.4 Alternative Equivalent Compliance 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  96 

design that does not strictly adhere to the section’s standards. This is not a general waiver of regulations. 

Rather, this authorizes the Director to approve a site-specific plan that is equal to or better than the strict 

application of the standard. 

 Applicability 

The alternative equivalent compliance procedure is available for the standards in Article 5: Development 

Standards, unless otherwise described in the applicable subsection. 

 Pre-Application Conference Required 

An applicant proposing alternative equivalent compliance shall request and attend a pre-application 

conference prior to submitting application materials for the applicable permit(s), to determine the 

preliminary response from the Director. Based on the response, the application shall include sufficient 

explanation and justification, in both written and graphic form, for the requested alternative compliance. 

The Director may require that the applicant provide additional drawings and/or material samples in order 

to better understand the need for the proposed alternative. 

 Decision-Making Responsibility 

Final approval of any proposed alternative equivalent compliance shall be the responsibility of the decision-

making body responsible for deciding upon the application. Administratively approved projects proposing 

alternative compliance shall receive written approval of the alternative compliance from the Director. 

 Criteria 

Alternative equivalent compliance may be approved if the applicant demonstrates that the following 

criteria have been met by the proposed alternative: 

1. Achieves the intent of the subject standard to the same or better degree than the subject standard; 

2. Advances the goals and policies of this UDC to the same or better degree than the subject standard; 

3. Results in benefits to the community that are equivalent to or exceed benefits associated with the 

subject standard; and 

4. Imposes no greater impacts on surrounding properties than would occur through compliance with the 

specific requirements of this UDC. 

 Effect of Approval 

Alternative equivalent compliance shall apply only to the specific site for which it is requested and shall not 

establish a precedent for approval of other requests. 

 Timing of Alternative Equivalent Compliance Review 

1. Review for compliance with these standards shall occur at the time of Site Plan review. Where Site Plan 

review is not required, review for compliance with these standards shall occur prior to issuance of a 

building permit.  

2. Interpretations as to applicability or design requirements contained within this section shall be the 

responsibility of the Director. Appeals of the Director’s interpretations shall be heard according to the 

process set forth in §2.10.5: Appeal of Administrative Decision. 



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.10 Flexibility and Relief Procedures  

 2.10.5 Appeal of Administrative Decision 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  97 

 Appeal of Administrative Decision210 

 Purpose 

The appeal of administrative decision procedure is intended to establish a remedy whereby persons 

claiming to have been aggrieved by a decision of the Director or other administrative official in 

administering this UDC may appeal that decision. 

 Applicability 

Any person may appeal a decision of an administrative office or agency made in the administration or 

enforcement of this UDC. Appeals shall be made to the appropriate body as indicated in §2.3: Summary 

Table of Review Procedures, and in accordance with state law. 

 Appeal of Administrative Decision Procedure 

The process diagram below identifies the applicable steps from §2.4: Common Review Procedures, that 

apply to the review of appeal of administrative decision applications. Additions or modifications to the 

common review procedures are noted below. 
 

Pre-

Application 

Activities 

Application 

Submittal & 

Processing 

Staff Review 

Scheduling & 

Notice of 

Public 

Hearings 

Review & 

Decision 

Post-Decision 

Actions & 

Limitations 

2.4.2 2.4.3 2.4.4 2.4.5 2.4.6 2.4.7 

      

      

 Optional, see text 

below 

Submit to Town 

within  

20 days of 

decision being 

appealed 

Review by Town 

 Hearing required 

with appeal 

decision 

authority, 

depending on 

application type  

Review and 

decision  

depends on 

application type 

Further appeals 

to the Courts 

 

1. Pre-Application Activities 

A pre-application conference is optional, but if elected such meeting shall be held in accordance with 

§2.4.2A: Pre-Application Conference. 

2. Application Submittal & Processing 

The application shall be submitted, accepted, revised, and may be withdrawn, in accordance with 

§2.4.3: Application Submittal and Processing, with the following modifications: 

a. Time Limit 

Appeals shall be made in writing and filed with the Director within 20 calendar days of the action 

or decision being appealed. 

b. Pause of Proceedings 

An appeal pauses all proceedings from further action unless the Director determines that a stay 

would create adverse impacts to the health, safety, or welfare of the Town or neighborhood. In 

 
210  New. This procedure formalizes and codifies the appeal process for any administrative decision related to this UDC. This section 

incorporates procedural details in Appendix A, Article XXIV, Sec. 2.  



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.10 Flexibility and Relief Procedures  

 2.10.6 Interpretations 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  98 

such case, proceedings shall not be stayed, otherwise than by a restraining order which may be 

granted by the Board of Zoning Adjustment or by a court of record or application on notice to the 

officer from whom the appeal is taken and on due cause shown.  

3. Staff Review 

The staff shall review the application and prepare a staff report and recommendation in accordance 

with §2.4.4: Staff Review. 

4. Scheduling and Notice of Public Hearings 

The application shall be scheduled for public hearings before the appropriate appeal authority and 

shall be noticed pursuant to §2.4.5: Scheduling and Notice of Public Hearings. 

5. Review and Decision 

a. The appropriate appeal authority may affirm, reverse, or amend a decision or interpretation made 

by the Director or an administrative official in accordance with the approval criteria in §2.10.5D: 

Review Criteria. 

b. The appropriate appeal authority may reverse a previous decision in whole or in part, or may 

modify the order, requirement, decision, or determination appealed from. 

c. The appropriate appeal authority may attach conditions of approval on any appeal to ensure the 

health, safety, and welfare of the Town. 

6. Post-Decision Actions and Limitations 

All common procedures in §2.4.7: Post-Decision Actions and Limitations, shall apply. Any further 

appeals from the appropriate appeal authority shall be made to the courts in accordance with state 

law. 

 Review Criteria 

In reviewing a proposed appeal of administrative decision application, the appropriate appeal authority 

shall consider the following: 

1. The facts stated in the application, as presented by the appellant and/or the Director;  

2. The written and oral testimony of the public;  

3. The testimony of the appellant;  

4. The requirements and intent of the applicable standards from this UDC compared to the written 

decision that is being appealed; and  

5. The testimony of the administrative official or body from which the appeal is taken. 

 Interpretations211 

 Purpose 

The interpretations procedure is intended to provide a uniform mechanism for rendering formal written 

interpretations of this UDC. 

 Applicability 

Responsibility for making interpretations of provisions of this UDC is assigned as follows: 

1. The Director shall be responsible for all interpretations of the zoning and platting provisions in the text 

of this UDC, including, but not limited to: interpretations as to which is the stricter and thus controlling 

provision in case of conflict with this UDC and other provisions of the Municipal Code of Ordinances; 

interpretations of compliance with a condition of approval; and interpretations of whether an 

 
211  New. This procedure formalizes and codifies the interpretation process for any matter related to this UDC. This procedure replaces the 

general interpretation language in Article XXXI, Sec. 1 and Sec. 2. 



 Article 2: Administration and Procedures 
  2.10 Flexibility and Relief Procedures  

 2.10.6 Interpretations 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  99 

unspecified use falls within a use classification, use category, or use type allowed in a zoning district. 

The Director shall also be responsible for interpretations of the zoning district boundaries on the 

Official Zoning Map. 

2. The Director of Public Works and Engineering shall be responsible for all interpretations of the 

floodplain management and engineering provisions in the text of this UDC. 

3. The Building Official or Fire Marshall shall be responsible for all interpretations of Building and Fire 

Code provisions as they relate to this UDC including interpretations relating to issuance of a Certificate 

of Compliance/Occupancy. 

 Interpretation Procedure 

The process diagram below identifies the applicable steps from §2.4: Common Review Procedures, that 

apply to the review of interpretation applications. Additions or modifications to the common review 

procedures are noted below. 
 

Pre-

Application 

Activities 

Application 

Submittal & 

Processing 

Staff Review 

Scheduling & 

Notice of 

Public 

Hearings 

Review & 

Decision 

Post-Decision 

Actions & 

Limitations 

2.4.2 2.4.3 2.4.4 2.4.5 2.4.6 2.4.7 

      

      

 Optional, see text 

below 
Submit to Town Review by Town Not required 

Review and 

interpretation  

by appropriate 

authority 

Text 

 

1. Pre-Application Activities 

A pre-application conference is optional, but if elected such meeting shall be held in accordance with 

§2.4.2A: Pre-Application Conference. 

2. Application Submittal & Processing 

The application shall be submitted, accepted, revised, and may be withdrawn, in accordance with 

§2.4.3: Application Submittal and Processing, with the following modifications: 

a. A request for administrative interpretation may be filed by any person having a legal or equitable 

interest in property that gives rise to the need for an interpretation; provided that interpretations 

shall not be sought by any person based solely on hypothetical circumstances or where the 

interpretation would have no effect other than as an advisory opinion. 

3. Staff Review 

The staff shall review the application and may choose to prepare a staff report and recommendation in 

accordance with §2.4.4: Staff Review, as determined by the Director. 

4. Review and Decision 

The application shall be reviewed and decided upon by the appropriate interpretation authority in 

accordance with §2.10.6D: Review Criteria. The decision shall be in the form of a written interpretation 

and the decision-maker shall consult with the City Attorney and affected Town officials before 

rendering the interpretation. 



 Article 3: Zoning Districts 
  2.10 Flexibility and Relief Procedures  

 2.10.6 Interpretations 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  100 

5. Post-Decision Actions and Limitations 

All common procedures in §2.4.7: Post-Decision Actions and Limitations, shall apply, with the following 

modifications: 

a. Effect of Approval 

The written interpretation shall be binding on subsequent decisions by the Director or other Town 

administrative officials in applying the same provision of this UDC or the Official Zoning Map in the 

same circumstance, unless the interpretation is reversed or modified on appeal pursuant to 

§2.10.5: Appeal of Administrative Decision. 

b. Official Record of Interpretations 

The Director shall maintain a record of written interpretations that shall be available for public 

inspection, on reasonable request, during normal business hours. 

 Review Criteria 

In reviewing a proposed interpretation application, the appropriate interpretation authority shall consider 

the following: 

1. Statutory References 

Unless otherwise specified, statutory references are to be construed as currently amended or 

superseded. 

2. Text Provisions 

Interpretation of text provisions and their application shall be based on the standards in §7.1: Rules of 

Construction, and the following considerations: 

a. The clear and plain meaning of the provision’s wording, as defined by the meaning and 

significance given specific terms used in the provision as established in Article 7: Definitions, and 

by the common and accepted usage of the term; 

b. The intended purpose of the provision, as indicated by purpose statements, its context and 

consistency with surrounding and related provisions, and any legislative history to its adoption;  

c. The intent to give every provision meaning; 

d. The general purposes served by this UDC, as set forth in §1.3: Purpose; and 

e. Consistency with the Comprehensive Plan and other applicable Town policies. 

3. Unspecified Uses 

Interpretation of whether an unspecified use falls within a use classification, use category, or use type 

allowed in a zoning district shall be based on the standards in §---212, and the Comprehensive Plan. 

4. Zoning Map Boundaries 

Interpretation of zoning district boundaries on the Official Zoning Map shall be in accordance with the 

standards in §--- 213, and consistent with the Comprehensive Plan. 

Article 3: Zoning Districts 
[Submitted with Part 1] 

 

 
212  Link to §3.2.5: Classification of New and Unlisted Uses to be added in Consolidated Draft. 
213  Link to §2.2.2: Zoning District Boundaries to be added in Consolidated Draft. 



Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT 101 

Article 4: Use Regulations 
[Submitted with Part 1]

 

Article 5: Development Standards 
[Submitted with Part 2] 

 

Article 6: Subdivision Standards 
[Submitted with Part 2] 

 

 

 

  



Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT 102 

Article 7: Definitions214 
Commentary: 

This section includes general rules of construction and defined terms. Many of the rules of construction are new. This 

definitions article will continue to grow as future material is developed. Many of the terms were carried forward from 

the current Code of Ordinances and revised as noted. New terms are also noted and are based on our work in other 

jurisdictions and tailored for Addison. There are several placeholders where we will prepare graphics to supplement 

the text definitions, both by updating existing graphics and creating new graphics. 

7.1 Rules of Construction215 

 Meanings and Intent 

All provisions, terms, phrases, and expressions contained in this UDC shall be construed according to the 

general purpose set forth in §1.3, and the specific purpose statements set forth throughout this UDC. When, in 

a specific section of this UDC, a different meaning is given for a term defined for general purposes in this UDC, 

the specific section’s meaning and application of the term shall control. 

 Headings, Illustrations, and Text 

In the event of a conflict or inconsistency between the text of this UDC and any heading, caption, figure, 

illustration, table, or map, the text shall control. 

 Lists and Examples 

Unless otherwise specifically indicated, lists of items or examples that use terms such as “for example,” 

“including,” and “such as,” or similar language are intended to provide examples and are not exhaustive lists of 

all possibilities. 

 Computation of Time 

The time in which an act is to be done shall be computed by excluding the first day and including the last day. If 

a deadline or required date of action falls on a Saturday, Sunday, holiday observed by the Town, or other day 

that Town offices are not open, the deadline or required date of action shall be the next day that is not a 

Saturday, Sunday, holiday observed by the Town, or other day that Town offices are not open. References to 

days are calendar days unless otherwise stated. 

 Technical and Non-Technical Terms 

Words and phrases shall be construed according to the common and approved usage of the language, but 

technical words and phrases that may have acquired a peculiar and appropriate meaning in law shall be 

construed and understood according to such meaning. 

 Mandatory and Discretionary Terms 

The words “shall,” “must,” and “will” are mandatory, establishing an obligation or duty to comply with the 

particular provision. The words "may" and "should" are discretionary. 

 Conjunctions 

Unless the context clearly suggests the contrary, conjunctions shall be interpreted as follows: 

 “And” indicates that all connected items, conditions, provisions, or events apply; and 

 
214  Discussion Item: There may be several definitions in current Chapter 18, Article 8, Sec. 18-451; and Chapter 34, Article 34, that may need 

to be reconciled with definitions found in this UDC (e.g., dwelling unit, owner, structure, etc.). We recommend a uniform set of 
definitions be used in the UDC and the Code of Ordinances, if possible. 

215  New. 



 Article 7: Definitions 
  7.2 Use-Related Definitions  

 7.1.8 Tenses, Plurals, and Gender 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  103 

 “Or” indicates that one or more of the connected items, conditions, provisions, or events apply. 

 Tenses, Plurals, and Gender 

Whenever appropriate with the context, words used in the present tense include the future tense. Words used 

in the singular number include the plural. Words used in the plural number include the singular, unless the 

context of the particular usage clearly indicates otherwise. Words used in the masculine gender include the 

feminine gender, and vice versa. 

 Titles and Headings 

All titles and headings of articles, sections, or subsections of this UDC are to be used for convenience in 

arrangement only and shall not be construed to alter the intended meaning. 

7.2 Use-Related Definitions 
[Included in Part 1] 

7.3 Other Defined Terms 
Commentary 

New terms added are highlighted yellow.  

The following words, terms and phrases when used in this UDC, shall have the meanings ascribed to them in 

this article, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning: 

 Flood Definitions 

[Reference Part 2: Development Standards] 

 Airport Definitions 

Airport  

The area of land owned by the Town and known as Addison Airport.  

 

Employee  

For purposes of airport regulations, an individual who works for an aircraft owner, and for which the aircraft 

owner files federal income taxes and tax withholding with the IRS on behalf of the employee.  

Entity 

For purposes of airport regulations, a person, firm, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, or other 

entity recognized in law.  

Lease 

For purposes of airport regulations, a written contractual agreement by and between the Town and an entity 

granting the entity the exclusive right to use and occupy certain airport land and/or facilities in consideration of 

the payment of rent and other terms and conditions. In addition, lease also includes a sublease agreement 

between an airport tenant (who has a legal and authorized lease with the Town) and an entity in which the 

tenant grants to the entity a right to use and occupy all or a portion of the airport land and/or facilities that the 

tenant leases from the Town, but only if the sublease was properly contracted, executed and agreed to 

according to the rules and regulations and was consented to in writing by the Town.  



 Article 7: Definitions 
  7.3 Other Defined Terms  

 7.3.3 All Other Definitions 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  104 

 All Other Definitions 

Abandon 

For purposes of airport regulations, that property has been left on non-leased property at the airport without 

the consent of the Town for a period of 48 hours or more without the owner moving or claiming it, or on leased 

property at the airport without the consent of the tenant.  

Access or Access Way216 

The place, means, or way by which pedestrians or vehicles shall have safe, adequate, and usable ingress/egress 

to a property or use as required by this UDC. 

Administrative Official 

That person within a Town department having the final decision-making authority within the department 

relative to a zoning issue such as the Building Official or Director of Public Works and Engineering or their 

designees. 

Alley217 

A minor or secondary right-of-way that provides only a secondary means of access to abutting property and 

that is used primarily for vehicular service to the back or side of properties that otherwise front on a street. 

Applicant 

The owner(s), developer(s), or their representative(s) with written authorization to act on behalf of said parties 

from all of the lots in the proposed subdivision or property owners' association, as the context allows. 

Board of Zoning Adjustment 

The Board of Zoning Adjustment appointed to hear appeals under this UDC. 

Building 

Any structure or building for the support, shelter, and enclosure of persons, animals, possessions, or movable 

property of any kind. For purposes of airport regulations, the main portion of each structure, all projections or 

extensions therefrom, and any additions or changes thereto including, but not limited to, garages, outside 

platforms, docks, carports, canopies, eaves, and porches. 

Building Façade, Primary 

Any façade that fronts a public or private street or open space. 

Building Height219 

The height of a building measured as the vertical distance above the average finished grade measured to the 

highest point of the roof of a flat roof or to the deck line of a mansard roof, or to the midpoint of the highest 

gable of a pitched or hipped roof.  

 
216  New. 
217  Replaces current definition. 
219  Did not carry forward last sentence exempting some architectural features, those are addressed in building height exceptions. Replaces 

current definition, did not carry forward references to the street lot line or average natural ground level. Illustration is new.  



 Article 7: Definitions 
  7.3 Other Defined Terms  

 7.3.3 All Other Definitions 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  105 

 

Building Official 

The Building Official of the Town of Addison or their designated representative. 

Build-to 

An alignment establishing a certain distance from the front property line where a building must be constructed. 

Business  

Any for-profit or non-profit commercial, industrial, or professional operation, occupation, work, or trade, or any 

other business of any kind, including, without limitation, any sole proprietorship, partnership, limited 

partnership, joint venture, association, corporation, limited liability company, franchisee, cooperative, or any 

other entity recognized by law that owns, leases, or occupies any premises. 

City Council (or “Council”) 

The city council of the Town of Addison, Texas.  



 Article 7: Definitions 
  7.3 Other Defined Terms  

 7.3.3 All Other Definitions 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  106 

Criteria Manual 

Any document containing formally established design standards for the Town of Addison including but not 

limited to engineering technical standards, construction details, and other technical specifications.  

Dedication 

An offer of real property by its owner(s) and its acceptance by the Town for any general or public use. 

Development220 

The new construction or the enlargement of any exterior dimension of any building, structure, or improvement.  

Director221 

Unless otherwise specified, the Director of Development Services or their designee. 

Driveway 

The primary improved or unimproved parking surface that provides egress and ingress from a garage, carport, 

or off-street parking area to an adjacent street or alley.  

Dwelling Unit 

A building or portion of a building which is arranged, occupied, or intended to be occupied as living quarters. 

Easement 

The portion of a lot or lots reserved for present or future use by a person or agency other than the legal fee 

owner(s) of the property. The easement may be for use under, on or above said lot or lots. 

Fence 

A vertical device used as a boundary or means of providing protection, confinement or privacy. 

Final Plat 

The Final Plat of a subdivision prepared for recording in conformance with Section 2.9.3: Final Plat. 

Floodplain222 

See §---223 for definitions. 

Frontage224 

The width of a lot or parcel abutting a public right-of-way measured at the front property line. 

Gross Floor Area (GFA)225 

The total floor area of all stories of a building or buildings, measured by taking the outside dimensions of the 

building at each floor level intended for occupancy or storage (including basements), but not including any 

uncovered or unenclosed porches, patios, or decks, unless otherwise permitted in this UDC. 

 
220  Updated to align with TLGC Chapter 212. 
221  New. 
222  New. 
223  Link to §7.3.1: Flood Definitions to be added in Consolidated Draft. 
224  New. 
225  Replaces current definition. 



 Article 7: Definitions 
  7.3 Other Defined Terms  

 7.3.3 All Other Definitions 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  107 

Impervious Coverage226 

Any hard surface, man-made area that does not absorb water, including but not limited to principal and 

accessory building roofs, sidewalks, paved parking, driveways, and other paved surfaces.  

Improved Parking Surface227 

An area used for the parking or storage of vehicles that is overlaid or otherwise paved with concrete, asphalt, 

paving stones or other approved hard surfaced durable material.  

Landscape Plan228 

A detailed drawing that identifies the quantities or numbers, placement, type, and common and botanical 

names of plant materials to be used on a development site. 

Lot229 

A designated parcel, tract or area of land established by a plat or otherwise permitted by law to be used, 

developed, or built upon as a unit. 

Lot of Record 

See lot. 

Lot Area230 

The total horizontal area within the lot lines of a lot, said area to be exclusive of street right-of-way. 

Lot Depth231 

The horizontal distance from the midpoint of the rear of lot line to the midpoint of the front lot line. 

Lot Lines232 

A boundary of a lot. "Lot line" is synonymous with "property line." 

Lot Width233 

The horizontal distance between the side lines, measured at the front property line adjacent to the public right-

of-way. The lot width for a corner lot shall be measured along the right-of-way upon which the address is 

assigned.  

Maximum Extent Feasible234 

As determined by the Director, no feasible and prudent alternative exists, and all possible efforts to comply 

with the regulation or minimize potential harm or adverse impacts have been undertaken. Economic 

considerations may be taken into account but shall not be the overriding factor in determining “maximum 

extent feasible.” 

 
226  Replaces current definition for “lot coverage.” 
227  Did not carry forward “as approved by the Building Official.” 
228  Detailed specifications removed. 
229  Replaces current definition. 
230  Replaces current definition for “area of the lot.” 
231  Replaces current definition. 
232  Replaces current definition. 
233  Replaces current definition. 
234  New. 



 Article 7: Definitions 
  7.3 Other Defined Terms  

 7.3.3 All Other Definitions 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  108 

Maximum Extent Practicable235 

As determined by the Director, under the circumstances, reasonable efforts have been undertaken to comply 

with the regulation, the costs of compliance clearly outweigh the potential benefits to the public or would 

unreasonably burden the proposed project, and reasonable steps have been undertaken to minimize any 

potential harm or adverse impacts resulting from noncompliance with the regulation. 

Minor Plat  

A map, drawing, or chart prepared according to the provisions of this UDC, and containing all engineering and 

legal data, dedications, and certificates necessary to the recording of same in the map and plat records of the 

county, and meeting the criteria defined in §2.9.2. 

Nonconforming Lot 

A lawfully established lot created prior to adoption of this UDC that does not comply with the minimum lot size 

requirements of this UDC.  

Nonconforming Sign 

A lawfully established sign constructed or installed prior to adoption of this UDC or any amendment thereafter 

that does not comply with the sign regulations of this UDC. 

Nonconforming Site Feature 

Any driveway, off-street parking and loading, landscaping, buffer, screening, or exterior lighting that lawfully 

existed prior to adoption of this UDC or any amendment thereafter but does not comply with the driveway, off-

street parking and loading, landscaping, buffer, screening, or exterior lighting standards of this UDC. 

Nonconforming Structure 

A lawfully established building or structure constructed or installed prior to adoption of this UDC or any 

amendment thereafter that does not comply with the area, height, or placement regulations of this UDC. A 

nonconforming structure shall not be deemed to include signs. 

Nonconforming Use236 

A use that lawfully existed prior to adoption of this UDC or any amendment thereafter, but does not comply 

with the terms of this UDC. 

Nonconformity 

An existing use, structure, lot of record, site feature, or sign that was lawfully established prior to the Effective 

Date or any amendment thereafter and that does not conform to one or more provisions of this UDC.  

Nonconformity, Illegal 

Any site feature or land use that did not lawfully exist per Town regulations at the time of construction, and is, 

therefore, not protected under the nonconformities section of this UDC. 

Parking Area237 

An area designed and constructed for the parking, storage and maneuvering of vehicles. 

 
235  New. 
236  Replaces current “nonconforming uses” definition. 
237  New. 



 Article 7: Definitions 
  7.3 Other Defined Terms  

 7.3.3 All Other Definitions 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  109 

Parking Space238 

A space within a public or private parking area, exclusive of driveways, ramps, columns, offices, and work areas, 

which is for the temporary parking or storage of one vehicle. 

Person239 

An individual, assumed name entity, partnership, joint venture, association, corporation, or other legal entity 

including the Town and other governmental entities. For purposes of airport regulations, an individual, 

corporation, company, association, firm, partnership, society, government, tenant, lessee, concessionaire, 

passenger, visitor, customer, contractor, and other entities doing business on, employed at, or otherwise using 

Town property as the context shall deem appropriate. It includes a trustee, receiver, assignee, successor, or 

similar representative of any of them. 

Planning and Zoning Commission 

The Planning and Zoning Commission of the Town of Addison, Texas. 

Preliminary Plat 

A map showing the conceptual design of a proposed development as required by this UDC submitted for the 

purpose of preliminary consideration prior to the submission of a Final Plat or Replat. 

Plat  

The graphic presentation of one or more lots or tracts of land, or of a subdivision, resubdivision, combination, 

or recombination of lots or tracts. 

Property Owner  

The owner, occupant, tenant, manager, or other person in control of property or his agent or designee.  

Public Property  

Interests in easements, rights-of-way, fee simple property and public ways owned by the town.  

Replat 

A change in a map of an approved or recorded subdivision plat if such change affects any street layout on 

such map or area reserved thereon for public use or any lot line or if it affects any map or plan legally 

recorded prior to the adoption of any regulations controlling subdivisions. 

Right-of-Way240 

The surface of and the space above and below, any street, road, highway, freeway, tollway, lane, path, 

drainageway, channel, fee interest, public way or place, sidewalk, alley, boulevard, parkway, drive, fire lane, or 

other easement now or hereafter held by the Town or over which the Town exercises any rights of 

management or control and shall include, but not be limited to, all easements now held, or hereafter held, by 

the Town, but shall specifically exclude private property. 

Setback 

The minimum distance between a lot line and a building or structure required by this UDC. 

Site Plan, Major 

See §2.6.2C.2. 

 
238  New. 
239  From current Chapter 70, Article VII, Sec. 70-320. 
240  From current Sec. 70-36. 



 Article 7: Definitions 
  7.3 Other Defined Terms  

 7.3.3 All Other Definitions 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  110 

Site Plan, Minor 

See §2.6.2C.1. 

Special Flood Hazard Area (SFHA)241 

The land subject to a one percent or greater chance of flooding in any given year. The SFHAs within the Town of 

Addison are generally identified as such on the Incorporated Area Flood Insurance Rate Map prepared by the 

Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA), as amended, revised, and prepared by the Federal Emergency 

Management Agency with the most recent date. 

Street242 

Any thoroughfare or public driveway, other than an alley, that has been dedicated or deeded to the public for 

public use. 

Structure  

Any manmade construction in, on, or over the ground or water that is affixed to a site or usually left in one 

place for an indefinite period of time.  

Subdivision  

The division of any tract or parcel of land into two or more lots for the purpose, whether immediate or future, 

of sale or building development, and shall include resubdivision. "Subdivision" shall also mean the division or 

redivision of an existing subdivision together with any change of lot size therein or with the relocation of any 

street. "Subdivision" shall also mean the combination of lots or tracts into one or more lots and shall include 

recombination. "Subdivision" shall also mean a tract of land intended to be built upon and for which a building 

permit is required. 

TLGC 

The Texas Local Government Code. 

Town 

The Town of Addison, Texas. For purposes of airport regulations, the Town of Addison, Texas. Where approval, 

enforcement, or other act on the part of the Town is referred to herein, the Town shall act by and through its 

Town ordinances unless otherwise specifically indicated. 

Unified Development Code (UDC) 

This Code, including any and all amendments to this UDC. 

Utility Services 

The facilities of any person, firm or corporation providing electrical, telephone, television cable or any other 

such item or service for public use that are within the present or future town limits of the Town of Addison, 

Texas. 

Vacating Plat 

A plat that is granted pursuant to the terms of §2.9.6: Vacating Plat.  

 
241  New. 
242  New definitions for “arterial,” “collector,” and “local” streets, currently not defined. 



 Article 7: Definitions 
  7.3 Other Defined Terms  

 7.3.3 All Other Definitions 

 

Addison, TX – Unified Development Code 

Administration & Procedures – February 2024 PUBLIC DRAFT  111 

Zoning District243 

A specific delineated area on the Zoning Map established by this UDC within which a prescribed set of use and 

development standards are applied to various types of development. 

 
243  New. 


	Agenda
	AI 5236 Present and discuss the Sign and Wireless Communication Facility (WCF) and Administrative Procedures sections of the Unified Development Code (UDC).
	       ATT_Presentation - Addison UDC_Joint Meeting_Signs_WCF_Administration and Procedures
	Slide 1: addison, texas unified development code
	Slide 2: Team Members
	Slide 3: Project scope & Timeline
	Slide 4: Meeting Agenda
	Slide 5: New UDC Organization
	Slide 6
	Slide 7
	Slide 8
	Slide 9
	Slide 10
	Slide 11: Organization
	Slide 12: WCF | Key Features
	Slide 13: WCF | Key Features
	Slide 14: WCF | Key Features
	Slide 15: WCF | Key Features
	Slide 16: WCF | Key Features
	Slide 17: Discussion Questions
	Slide 18: 4.10 Signs 
	Slide 19
	Slide 20
	Slide 21
	Slide 22
	Slide 23
	Slide 24
	Slide 25: Organization
	Slide 26: Signs | Key Changes
	Slide 27: Signs | Key Changes
	Slide 28: Signs | Key Changes
	Slide 29: Signs | Key Changes
	Slide 30: Signs | Key Changes
	Slide 31: Signs | Key Changes
	Slide 32: Signs | Key Changes
	Slide 33: Signs | Key Changes
	Slide 34: Signs | Key Changes
	Slide 35: Signs | Key Changes
	Slide 36: Discussion Questions
	Slide 37
	Slide 38: Organization
	Slide 39: Organization
	Slide 40
	Slide 41: Key Features
	Slide 42: Review & Decision-making bodies
	Slide 43
	Slide 44: Organization
	Slide 45: Key Goals 
	Slide 46: Summary table of Review procedures
	Slide 47
	Slide 48
	Slide 49
	Slide 50: Common Procedures
	Slide 51: Common Procedures
	Slide 52: Common Procedures |Key Changes
	Slide 53: Common Procedures |Key Changes
	Slide 54: Common Procedures |Key Changes
	Slide 55: Rezoning
	Slide 56: Rezoning
	Slide 57: Rezoning
	Slide 58: Site Plan Review
	Slide 59: Site Plan Review
	Slide 60: Site Plan Review
	Slide 61: Site Plan Review
	Slide 62: Site Plan Review
	Slide 63: Subdivision | Minor Plat
	Slide 64: Subdivision | Final Plat
	Slide 65: Flexibility & Relief Procedures
	Slide 66: Flexibility & Relief Procedures
	Slide 67
	Slide 68: Next stepS
	Slide 69: Comments?
	Slide 70: addison, texas unified development code

	       ATT_Addison UDC - Signs and Wireless Communication Facilities - Public Review
	Addison UDC_Part 4_SignsWCF_PUBLIC DRAFT_Final Revisions.pdf
	Addison UDC_Part 4_Appendix A_Sign Districts and Master Sign Plans.pdf
	Appendix A: Sign Districts and Master Sign Plans
	Sign District Regulations
	A. Purpose
	B. Sign Districts Established
	1. Addison Town Center (being that area to which Ordinance No. 094-069, adopted October 11, 1994, applies)
	2. Village on the Parkway (being that area shown in Fig. 62-289.A)
	3. Addison Circle (being that area to which Ordinance No. 097-010, adopted March 25, 1997, applies)
	4. Addison Walk Shopping Center  (being that area to which Ordinance No. 004-002, adopted January 13, 2004, applies)
	5. Inwood Quorum Village(being that area to which Ordinance No. 006-037, adopted August 22, 2006, applies)
	6. Dallas Parkway
	7. Vitruvian Park(being that area shown in Figure 62-289.6)

	C. Addison Town Center
	1. This section includes the regulations for the Addison Town Sign District sign district as established by Ordinance No. 018-24-A, adopted August 14, 2018.
	2. One sign per facade not to exceed 100 square feet, maximum square footage shall be one and one-half times the length of facade, maximum letter height to be 24 inches for all letters, maximum width of sign to be 75 percent of width of facade; or
	3. One sign allowed per 20 feet of linear frontage, maximum square footage of sign to be three and one-half percent of square footage of facade, maximum letter height to be six feet for all letters.

	D. Village on the Parkway
	1. Pylon Signs/Multitenant Wall Signs
	a. A multitenant pylon sign and a multitenant wall sign shall be allowed containing sign panels for multiple tenants.
	b. Shall be constructed as shown in Figure 62-289.B.
	c. Shall be placed as shown in Figure 62-289.A.

	2. Multi-tenant Monument Signs
	a. Three multi-tenant monument shall be allowed containing sign panels for multiple tenants.
	b. Shall be constructed as shown in Figure 62-289.C.
	c. Shall be placed as shown in Figure 62-289.A.

	3. Single-tenant Monument Sign
	a. One single-tenant monument sign shall be allowed.
	b. Shall be constructed as shown in Figure 62-289.D.
	c. Shall be placed as shown in Figure 62-289.A.

	4. Grocery Tenant Signs
	a. Grocery Tenant, is defined as tenant located in Block 1000 of Figure 62.289.A.
	b. Shall be allowed attached signs constructed as shown in Figure 62.289.E.

	5. Health Club Tenant Signs
	a. Health Club tenant is defined as tenant located in Block 600 of Figure 62.289.A.
	b. Shall be allowed attached signs constructed as shown in Figure 62.289.F.

	6. Theatre Tenant Signs
	a. Theatre Tenant is defined as tenant located in Block 200 of Figure 62.289.A.
	b. Shall be allowed attached signs constructed and placed as shown in Figure 62.289.G.

	7. Attached Commercial Tenant Identification Signs
	a. Attached Commercial Tenant Identification Signs shall include: Wall Signs and Flag Signs.
	b. The maximum sign area per facade for all Attached Commercial Tenant Identification Signs is two square feet of attached sign area per linear foot of façade.

	8. Wall Sign
	a. Each commercial tenant may have one wall sign per façade.
	b. Maximum Area of a wall sign on each façade shall not exceed the maximum sign area per façade as defined in Section 62-289(b)7(b).
	c. No wall sign shall have a length which exceeds 75 percent of tenant frontage.
	d. Individual letters and logos for wall signs shall not exceed 36 inches in height.

	9. Flag Sign
	a. Each commercial tenant may have one Flag Sign per façade in addition to one Wall Sign.
	b. The combined area for a Wall Sign and a Flag Sign shall not exceed the Maximum Area per façade for all Attached Commercial Tenant Identification Signs, as defined in Section 62-289(b)7(b).
	c. Flag Signs mounted at the corner of a building shall count 50 percent of the sign area square footage toward the total square footage for each façade.
	d. Shall be constructed as shown in Figure 62.289.H.
	e. Shall not be constructed of cloth or other synthetic fabric material.

	10. Signs on Awning
	a. Signs on the sloped surface of awnings are considered Wall Signs and shall be governed by the standards set forth for in Section 62-289(b)7. (Example of an awning sign shown in Figure 62.289.I.)
	b. Signs on the valance of an awning (valance is defined as a vertical surface at the lower edge of an awning, not exceeding six inches in height) are exempt from regulation. (Example shown in Figure 62.289.I.)

	11. Secondary Business Identification Sign
	a. Each Commercial tenant may have a maximum of two additional secondary business identification signs selected from the following list:
	i. Secondary Blade sign: constructed and placed in accordance with Figure 62.289.J.
	ii. Secondary Wall Plaque sign: constructed and placed in accordance with Figure 62.289.K.

	b. The area of the Secondary Business Identification Signs shall not be included in the maximum allowable square footage per façade as defined in Section 62-289(b)7.b.

	12. Window Sign:
	13. Pole-Mounted Banners
	a. Shall only be of a Seasonal and Promotional type.
	b. Shall not contain any advertising or promotional messages for individual tenants.
	c. Shall be constructed as shown in Figure 62-289.L.

	14. Kiosks Sign
	a. Kiosk signs with way-finding and non-premises signage are exempt from permit.
	b. Shall be constructed as shown in Figure 62-289.M.
	c. Shall be placed as shown in Figure 62-289.A.


	E. Addison Circle
	1. Signs may project above the roof line, be placed perpendicular to the building, be placed on poles and in the city right of way in accordance with Figures 62-289.3.A.1, 62-289.3.A.2, 62-289.3.A.3, 62-289.3.A.4, and 62-289.3.A.5.
	2. Portable signs do not need a permit but shall comply with the following:
	a. Each commercial occupancy shall be allowed not more than one portable sign, which shall be located within the public sidewalk adjacent to the occupancy.
	b. A minimum of four feet of clear sidewalk shall be maintained at all times.
	c. Signs shall be constructed as shown in Figure 62-289.3.B.


	F. Addison Walk Shopping Center
	G. Inwood Quorum Village
	H. Dallas Parkway
	1. Monument signs for real property abutting Dallas Parkway may be constructed as follows: The sign with base shall not exceed eight feet in overall height above the natural grade, the actual sign face shall not exceed 72 square feet in area per side,...
	2. Real estate/leasing signs may be constructed as follows:
	a. Maximum 108 square feet in area.
	b. Maximum total square footage of the four allowed signs 144 square feet.
	c. Minimum setbacks from street curb as set forth in section 62-184 of the Code of Ordinances of the town. Signs exceeding 36 square feet shall be located within 50 feet of Dallas Parkway.
	d. Observe 35-foot visibility triangle.
	e. The permit shall be renewed every 12 months. Prior to the issuance of the permit and any renewal thereof the sign shall be subject to inspection and approval to insure compliance with all ordinances of the Town of Addison.

	3. Section 62-270 prohibiting luminaries of any type that outline the elements of a building facade, shall not apply to buildings that are six or more stories in height.

	I. Vitruvian Park
	1. Reference Ordinance
	2. Attached Commercial Tenant Identification Sign
	a. Each commercial tenant may have one sign per 50 lineal feet of building frontage, with a maximum of two signs spaced a minimum of 25 feet apart.
	b. The sign area is limited to one square foot of sign per lineal foot of building frontage up to a maximum of 200 square feet of total sign area with no individual sign exceeding 100 square feet in area.
	c. The sign may project more than 18 inches from the building facade.
	d. Signs projecting more than 18 inches from the building facade shall be located a minimum of eight feet above grade.
	e. Signs shall be placed on exterior facades common with the tenant space.
	f. Letters and logos below 36 feet above grade may have a maximum height of 26 inches.

	3. Attached Commercial Blade Signs
	a. Each commercial tenant may have a blade signs in addition to a tenant identification sign.
	b. Each commercial tenant may have one sign per 50 lineal feet of building frontage, with a maximum of two signs spaced a minimum of 25 feet apart.
	c. The maximum projection from the building facade shall not exceed four feet.
	d. The minimum height above the sidewalk shall not be less than eight feet.
	e. The maximum height above the sidewalk shall not exceed ten feet.
	f. The sign shall not exceed nine square feet in area.
	g. The signs shall be placed on exterior facades common with the tenant space.
	h. Letters and logos may have a maximum height of 26 inches.

	4. Portable Signs
	a. Each commercial tenant shall be allowed not more than one portable sign, which shall be located within the public sidewalk adjacent to the occupancy.
	b. A minimum of four feet of clear sidewalk shall be maintained at all times.
	c. Signs shall be constructed as shown in Figure 62-289.3B.

	5. Monument Signs
	a. Shall be constructed as shown in Figure 62-289.7, and Figure 62-289.7.B.
	b. Shall be placed as shown in Figure 62-289.8, and Figure 62-289.8.B.

	6. Pole Signs
	a. Shall be constructed as shown in Figure 62-289.9.
	b. Shall only be of a seasonal or decorative type.



	Village on the Parkway
	Addison Circle
	Addison Walk Shopping Center
	Inwood Quorum Village
	Vitruvian Park



	       ATT_Addison UDC - Administrative Procedures - Public Review

